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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN®R DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The consolidated net loss for the year of Freemen FinTech
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) was HK$2,153 million
(2018: profit of HK$303 million). The consolidated net assets of the
Group decreased from HK$5,011 million as at 31 March 2018 to
HK$3,126 million as at 31 March 2019. The consolidated net loss
was mainly attributable to (i) net realised loss and net unrealised loss
of investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$283 million
and HK$60 million, respectively; (ii) net provision for impairment loss
of loans receivable of HK$1,369 million as a result of extremely
challenging market conditions that affect the repayments from the
borrowers; (iii) net provision for impairment loss of accounts
receivable of HK$20 million; (iv) provision for impairment loss of
finance lease receivables of HK$89 million; (v) finance costs of
HK$374 million; and (vi) an one-off equity-settled share option
expense of HK$74 million.

Letter of Intent in relation to a possible investment

In February 2018, the Company entered into the Letter of Intent
with Meson. Pursuant to the Letter of Intent, Meson is considering
the Possible Investment in the Cayman Company. The Possible
Investment may be carried out by way of acquisition of the Cayman
Company’s shares indirectly held by the Company and/or
subscription of new shares to be issued by the Cayman Company
through capital injection. Upon completion of the Possible
Investment, Meson will own a majority stake in the Cayman
Company.

Pursuant to the Letter of Intent, Meson estimates that the valuation
of the Cayman Company is HK$3 billion and the final consideration
to be payable by Meson for the Possible Investment, if materialised,
will be further negotiated and determined with reference to the
valuation report to be issued by an independent valuer.

Meson is a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002647.5Z). Meson is
principally engaged in the provision of information services such as
information system integration, information technology consulting,
data processing, information storage, and other services. Meson also
operates industrial investments, asset management and other
businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Letter of Intent in relation to a possible investment (Continued)
As at the date of the Letter of Intent, Mr. Zhang Yongdong (“Mr.
Zhang"), a substantial shareholder of the Company who then held
approximately 24.36% of the issued share capital of the Company,
also then held approximately 20.50% of the issued share capital of
Meson.

In May 2018, the Company entered into the Termination Agreement
with Meson. Pursuant to the Termination Agreement, the Letter of
Intent ceased to have any effect and none of the parties to the
Letter of Intent will have any claim against the other for costs,
damages, compensation or otherwise.

Details in relation to the Letter of Intent, the termination of the
Letter of Intent and the capitalised terms in the above paragraphs
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 22
February 2018 and 18 May 2018.

Issue and conversion of secured convertible bonds under general
mandates

In June 2017, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with a subsidiary of China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (the
"First Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock
code: 2799) in relation to the subscription of the convertible bonds
of the Company under general mandate for 1,835,294,118
conversion shares at conversion price of HK$0.425 per conversion
share (the “First Subscription”). The gross proceeds from the First
Subscription amounted to HK$780 million. The convertible bonds in
the principal amount of US$100 million, carried interest at 4% per
annum and secured by 30% equity interest in Wins Finance Holdings
Inc. ("Wins Finance”, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) held by the Group were issued by the Company to the
First Subscriber in June 2017 (the “First Convertible Bonds”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN®R DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Issue and conversion of secured convertible bonds under general
mandates (Continued)

In August 2017, the Company entered into another subscription
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huarong Investment
Stock Corporation Limited (the “Second Subscriber”, whose shares
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2277) in relation to the subscription of the convertible bonds of the
Company under general mandate for 1,028,235,294 conversion
shares at conversion price of HK$0.425 per conversion share (the
“Second Subscription”). The gross proceeds from the Second
Subscription amounted to HK$437 million. The convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$437 million, carried interest at 4% per
annum and secured by 15% (which has been diluted to 12.17% of
the share capital in the Securities Company (as defined below)
during the year ended 31 March 2019) equity interest in the
Securities Company were issued by the Company to the Second
Subscriber in September 2017 (the “Second Convertible Bonds”).
The net proceeds of the First Subscription and the Second
Subscription of HK$779 million and HK$436 million respectively have
been utilised as intended for additional funding to Freeman
Securities Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company principally engaged in securities brokerage services, the
provision of placing, underwriting, margin financing, investment
holding and trading of securities) for business expansion, money
lending business and other general working capital of the Group.

In March 2018, US$1 million conversion rights attaching to the First
Convertible Bonds were exercised and 18,352,941 shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) were issued.

In May 2018, HK$7.8 million conversion rights attaching to the
Second Convertible Bonds were exercised and 18,360,000 Shares
were issued. As at 31 May 2018, the Company's total issued shares
were 15,681,761,881 Shares. As a result of the Share Consolidation
(as defined below) became effective on 12 November 2018, the
Company’s total issued shares have been adjusted to 1,568,176,188
Shares, the conversion price for the First Convertible Bonds and the
Second Convertible Bonds has been adjusted to HK$4.25 per Share
and the conversion shares attributable to the outstanding First
Convertible Bonds and the Second Convertible Bonds have been
adjusted to 181,694,117 Shares and 100,987,529 Shares
respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Issue and conversion of secured convertible bonds under general
mandates (Continued)

In September 2018, the Company entered into a deed of
undertaking and a supplemental deed (the “Deeds”) with the
Second Subscriber to amend certain terms and conditions of the
Second Convertible Bonds (the “Amendments on the Second
Convertible Bonds”). Pursuant to the Deeds, among other things,
the conversion price shall be adjusted to HK$0.065 per conversion
share (which has been adjusted to HK$0.65 per conversion share as
a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018) and the interest rate of the Second Convertible
Bonds shall be adjusted to 7% per annum on and after the date on
which the Amendments on the Second Convertible Bonds become
effective.

In October 2018, the Company entered into an undertaking and a
supplemental instrument (the “Instruments”) with the First
Subscriber to amend certain terms and conditions of the First
Convertible Bonds (the "Amendments on the First Convertible
Bonds”). Pursuant to the Instruments, among other things, the
conversion price shall be adjusted to HK$0.065 per conversion share
(which has been adjusted to HK$0.65 per conversion share as a
result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 12 November
2018).

In November 2018, the Company entered into a second
supplemental deed with the Second Subscriber and a supplemental
undertaking with the First Subscriber pursuant to which the
Company agreed to further amend certain terms and conditions of
the Second Convertible Bonds and First Convertible Bonds
respectively (collectively with the Amendments of the Second
Convertible Bonds and the Amendments of the First Convertible
Bonds referred to as the “Amendments”).

The Amendments were completed on 13 December 2018. The
conversion price for the First Convertible Bonds and the Second
Convertible Bonds has been adjusted to HK$0.65 per Share and the
conversion shares attributable to the outstanding First Convertible
Bonds and Second Convertible Bonds as at 31 March 2019 have
been adjusted to 1,188,000,000 Shares and 660,303,076 Shares
respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN®R DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Issue and conversion of secured convertible bonds under general
mandates (Continued)

On 10 April 2019, the Company received a demand letter from the
Second Subscriber (the “Demand Letter from the Second
Subscriber”) in relation to the event of default as mentioned in the
announcement of the Company dated 12 March 2019 constituted a
cross-default event (the “Cross-default Event”). In light of the Cross-
default Event, and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Second Convertible Bonds instrument, the Second Convertible Bonds
are and shall immediately become due and repayable together with
accrued but unpaid interest (if any), any default interest accrued but
unpaid and any other amounts due and payable under the relevant
transaction documents accrued but unpaid to the date of payment.

On 26 April 2019, the Company received a notice of event of
default from the First Subscriber (the “EOD Notice from the First
Subscriber”) in relation to the First Convertible Bonds. Pursuant to
the EOD Notice from the First Subscriber, the First Subscriber alleged,
inter alia, the event mentioned in the announcements of the
Company dated 12 March 2019 and 11 April 2019 in relation to a
demand letter received by the Company on 12 March 2019 and 10
April 2019 and the announcement of the Company dated 23 April
2019 in relation to a notice of event of default received by the
Company on 23 April 2019 constituted a cross-default and therefore
constituted an event of default under the terms and conditions of
the First Convertible Bonds instrument.

As of the date of this annual report, the outstanding principal
amounts in relation to the First Convertible Bonds and the Second
Convertible Bonds are US$99,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$776,516,400) and HK$429,197,000 respectively.

Details in relation to the issue of the First Convertible Bonds and the
Second Convertible Bonds, the Amendments, the Demand Letter
from the Second Subscriber, the Cross-default Event and the EOD
Notice from the First Subscriber in the above paragraphs were set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 6 June 2017, 15
June 2017, 24 August 2017, 12 September 2017, 28 September
2018, 18 October 2018, 9 November 2018, 15 November 2018, 13
December 2018, 11 April 2019 and 29 April 2019 and the circular of
the Company dated 27 November 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Grant and cancellation of share options

In July 2018, the Company granted share options to eligible grantees
under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 31
August 2012 to subscribe for a total of 1,266,815,134 ordinary
shares with par value of HK$0.001 each at an exercise price of
HK$0.101 per Share. These share options were subsequently
cancelled in July 2018.

In August 2018, the Company granted new share options to eligible
grantees under the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 31 August 2012 to subscribe for a total of 1,266,815,134
ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.001 each at an exercise price
of HK$0.102 per Share. As a result of the Share Consolidation
became effective on 12 November 2018, the exercise price of the
share options granted in August 2018 has been adjusted to HK$1.02
per Share and the ordinary shares attributable to the share options
granted on 6 August 2018 has been adjusted to 126,681,513
Shares. As at the date of this annual report, no share options were
exercised.

Details in relation to the grant and cancellation of share options in
the above paragraphs were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 20 July 2018, 31 July 2018 and 6 August 2018.

Issue of secured guaranteed convertible notes under general
mandate

In September 2018, the Company entered into a note purchase
agreement with an indirect wholly-owned special purpose vehicle of
CCB International (Holdings) Limited (the “Investor”) in relation to
the issue of the convertible notes of the Company under general
mandate for 2,111,902,494 conversion shares at conversion price of
HK$0.088 per conversion share. The convertible notes in the principal
amount of HK$185,847,419 carried interest at 7% per annum and
were secured by certain shares in the capital of an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, 7.26% equity interest of Wins
Finance and certain Shares held by Mr. Zhang and personal guarantee
given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse (the “CCBI Convertible Notes"”).
As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018, the conversion price for the CCBI Convertible Notes
has been adjusted to HK$0.88 per conversion share and the
conversion shares attributable to the outstanding CCBI Convertible
Notes as at 31 March 2019 have been adjusted to 211,190,249
Shares.

The net proceeds from the issue of the CCBI Convertible Notes of
HK$184,847,419 have been utilised as intended for repayment of
part of the principal amount of the secured guaranteed note of
principal amount of US$70,000,000 due 2020 issued by the
Company to the Investor on 29 March 2018 (the “Promissory Note
2020") in the amount equal to US$23,826,592.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWRE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Issue of secured guaranteed convertible notes under general
mandate (Continued)

On 12 March 2019, the Company received a demand letter from the
Investor (the “Demand Letter from the Investor”) in relation to the
secured guaranteed note of principal amount of US$30,000,000 due
2019 issued by the Company to the Investor on 29 March 2018 (the
“Promissory Note 2019"), the Promissory Note 2020 and the CCBI
Convertible Notes (collectively, the “Notes”). It is stated in the
Demand Letter from the Investor that, inter alia, an Event of Default
has occurred whereby the equity attributable to owners of the
Company is less than HK$3,500,000,000 (as determined by
reference to the Company’s most recently published annual or
interim financial statements for the period from 1 April 2018 to 30
September 2018) resulting in a breach of covenant under the
relevant condition of the respective Notes. The Investor served a
statutory demand on the Company on 20 March 2019.

On 10 May 2019, the Company received a petition from the Investor
(the "Petition”) in the matter of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) from the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “High Court”) that the Company be
wound up by the High Court on the ground that the Company is
insolvent and unable to pay its debts of aggregate sum of
US$111,629,994, being the alleged outstanding amount under the
Notes issued to the Investor. The winding up petition will be heard
before the High Court on 10 July 2019.

On 15 May 2019, the Company received a summons (the
“Summons”) for the appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators of the Company. The Summons indicates that it was fixed
for hearing before the High Court on 3 June 2019. The hearing of
the Summons has been subsequently adjourned to 18 June 2019 for
substantive argument. On 18 June 2019, the Investor withdrew the
Summons upon the Company’'s undertakings to, among other
things, appoint external monitoring accountants to review the
financial status, business and proposed restructuring of the Company
pending the disposal of the Petition.

On 6 June 2019, the Court of Hong Kong granted a validation order,
among other things, to the Company on the transfer of the shares
(the "Validation Order”). Upon the grant of the Validation Order,
notwithstanding the presentation of the Petition dated 10 May
2019, unless otherwise ordered by the Court, any transfer of shares
or alteration in the status of the members of the Company made on
or after 10 May 2019 shall not be void by virtue of Section 182 of
the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Issue of secured guaranteed convertible notes under general
mandate (Continued)

As of the date of this annual report, no conversion rights attaching
to the CCBI Convertible Notes were exercised and the outstanding
principal amounts in relation to the Promissory Note 2019, the
Promissory Note 2020 and the CCBI Convertible Notes are
US$30,000,000 (equivalent to HK$235,476,000), US$46,173,408
(equivalent to HK$362,424,314) and HK$185,847,419 respectively.

Details in relation to the issue of the CCBI Convertible Notes, Event
of Default and the Petition were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 4 September 2018, 24 October 2018, 12 March
2019, 14 May 2019, 16 May 2019, 20 May 2019, 3 June 2019, 6
June 2019 and 18 June 2019.

Share Consolidation and Change in Board Lot Size

In October 2018, the Company proposed to (i) implement a share
consolidation on the basis that every ten issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.001 each be consolidated into one consolidated share of
HK$0.01 each (the “Share Consolidation”) conditional upon, among
other things, the approval by the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company and (ii) change the board lot size for trading of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange from 20,000 Shares to 6,000 consolidated
shares after the Share Consolidation became effective.

With the approval by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 9 November 2018, the Share
Consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018.

Details in relation to the Share Consolidation and change in board
lot size in the above paragraphs were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 9 October 2018 and 9 November 2018 and
the circular of the Company dated 19 October 2018.

Investments in associates and a joint venture

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held investments in associates of
HK$365 million (31 March 2018: Nil), representing (i) 36.17%
shareholding interests in Imagination Holding Limited
(“Imagination”) with a carrying amount of HK$20 million, (ii)
36.17% shareholding interests in Jocasta Ventures Ltd (“Jocasta”)
with a carrying amount of HK$144 million, (iii) 15% shareholding
interests in Huiyue Financial Leasing (Ningbo) Co., Ltd.* (& A g &
B (=) AR AA) (“Huiyue”) with a carrying amount of HK$23
million and (iv) FreeOpt Holdings Limited (“FreeOpt”) with a carrying
amount of HK$178 million.

* for identification purpose only
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BEEEN®R DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Investments in associates and a joint venture (Continued)

In April 2018, the Group acquired 36.17% equity interest in
Imagination for a consideration of HK$145 million. Imagination is a
company incorporated in the Republic of the Marshall Islands and an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the provision of money lending service and investment holding.
Such investment was recorded as investments in associates as at 31
March 2019.

In July 2018, Imagination distributed its 36.17% equity investment in
Jocasta to the Group. Jocasta is a company incorporated in the
Republic of the Marshall Islands and an investment holding
Company. Its subsidiary is principally engaged in the provision of
money lending service. Such investment was recorded as investments
in associates as at 31 March 2019.

In October 2018, Wins Finance entered into an agreement with
Mercury International Financial Leasing (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.* (K £ B
BEME (KFE)BRAF) ("Mercury”) and Zhongtou Jinchuang
(China) Financial Holding Group Co., Limited (“Zhongtou
Jinchuang”) in relation to the investment in Huiyue pursuant to
which Wins Finance agreed to contribute capital of Renminbi
("RMB") 150 million (equivalent to HK$175 million) to Huiyue in the
form of cash. The registered capital of Huiyue shall be RMB1 billion,
which will be contributed as to RMB600 million, RMB250 million and
RMB150 million in the form of cash by Mercury, Zhongtou Jinchuang
and Wins Finance, respectively. As at 31 March 2019, Wins Finance
contributed HK$23 million to Huiyue, resulting in capital
commitments of HK$152 million contracted but not provided for the
capital contribution. Huiyue is a company established in the PRC in
2017 and has still been in preliminary stage. It is intended to be
engaged in finance leasing business, leasing business, acquisition of
assets for leasing both in the PRC and overseas, repair and disposal
of leased assets. Such investment was recorded as investments in
associates as at 31 March 2019. Details in relation to the investment
in Huiyue were set out in the announcement of the Company dated
26 October 2018.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had an investment in a joint
venture of HK$143 million, represented by 31.38% equity interest in
FreeOpt. Such investment in a joint venture was reclassified as
investments in associates in October 2018 pursuant to a termination
agreement entered with other joint venture parties to cease the joint
venture relationship without changing their respective shareholdings
in FreeOpt. Thereafter, the Group has significant influence over
FreeOpt in proportion to its voting rights in the shareholders’
meeting.

* for identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Other financial assets

As at 31 March 2019, the Group recorded non-current other
financial assets of HK$1,603 million (31 March 2018: HK$667
million), representing (i) an unlisted equity investment with 12.17%
(31 March 2018: 15%) equity interest in Shengang Securities
Company Limited (the "Securities Company”), a full-licensed
securities company in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone of the
Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China
and Hong Kong of HK$732 million (31 March 2018: HK$631 million)
(with an original investment cost of RMB525 million as at the end of
both reporting periods), representing 12.0% (31 March 2018: 7.3%)
of the total assets of the Group of HK$6,079 million (31 March
2018: HK$8,591 million); (ii) an unlisted equity investment with
19.06% equity interest in an investment holding company (”Entity
A") of HK$842 million (31 March 2018: Nil) (with an original
investment cost of HK$600 million as at the end of this reporting
period), representing 13.9% (31 March 2018: Nil) of the total assets
of the Group; and (iii) listed securities of The Philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc. (“PSE”, whose shares are listed on The Philippine
Stock Exchange, Inc., symbol: PSE) with a carrying amount of HK$29
million (31 March 2018: HK$36 million) (with an original investment
cost of Philippines Peso (“PHP"”) 252 million as at the end of both
reporting periods), representing 0.5% (31 March 2018: 0.4%) of the
total assets of the Group, representing 1.2% (31 March 2018: 1.2%)
of PSE’s total issued shares.

(i) Securities Company

The Securities Company is principally engaged in securities
broking, securities underwriting and sponsoring, securities
trading and securities asset management related businesses in
China. Based on the audited financial statements of the
Securities Company for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Securities Company recorded revenue of RMB197 million
(equivalent to HK$230 million) (2017: RMB327 million
(equivalent to HK$409 million)), loss for the year of RMB375
million (equivalent to HK$439 million) (2017: profit of RMB13
million (equivalent to HK$17 million)) and net assets of
RMB4,001 million (equivalent to HK$4,679 million) (2017:
RMB3,480 million (equivalent to HK$4,353 million)). As at the
date of this annual report, the Securities Company did not
have material impact on the earnings of the Group.
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EEENWRE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Other financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Entity A

Entity A is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability with subsidiaries principally engaged in
trading of securities, provision of finance and holding of
investment in financial securities industry. Based on the
unaudited management accounts for the year ended 31 March
2019, Entity A recorded revenue of HK$477 million, profit for
the year of HK$470 million and net assets of HK$4,416 million.
As at the date of this annual report, Entity A did not have
material impact on the earning of the Group.

PSE

PSE and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of trading, clearing, depository and information services for the
equity market in the Philippines. The stock price of the listed
securities of PSE as at 31 March 2019 amounted to PHP 198
(equivalent to HK$29) per share (31 March 2018: PHP238
(equivalent to HK$36) per share). Based on the annual report
of PSE for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, PSE and
its subsidiaries recorded revenue of PHP1,596 million
(equivalent to HK$238 million) (2017: PHP1,226 million
(equivalent to HK$184 million)), profit for the year of PHP727
million (equivalent to HK$108 million) (2017: PHP828 million
(equivalent to HK$125 million)) and net assets of PHP6,207
million (equivalent to HK$924 million) (2017: PHP3,332 million
(equivalent to HK$501 million)). As at the date of this annual
report, PSE did not have material impact on the earnings of the
Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group also recorded other financial assets
(classified under current assets), representing wealth management
products from financial institutions in the PRC which were not yet
due nor early redeemed as at the end of the reporting period of
HK$1,148 million (31 March 2018: HK$1,833 million), representing
18.9% (31 March 2018: 21.3%) of the total assets of the Group.
The original investment costs of wealth management products held
by the Group at 31 March 2019 amounted to RMB870 million
(equivalent to HK$1,017 million) (31 March 2018: RMB1,370 million
(equivalent to HK$1,833 million)).

This investment represented unlisted and non-marketable asset
management products issued by banks and financial institutions in
the PRC with original maturities of one year to five years (31 March
2018: one year to five years) that could be redeemed or were
transferrable at any time, and was classified as other financial assets
(31 March 2018: available-for-sale investments) under current assets.
It was managed by banks and financial institutions and invested in
fixed-income financial products that were permitted by the China
Securities Regulatory Commission, such as government bonds,
corporate bonds and central bank notes. The investment portfolios
of these products were not disclosed to the Group by the banks or
financial institutions. If the banks and financial institutions were
required to redeem these investments, they would redeem at a price
equal to the outstanding principal plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Interest from such investment varied from 5% to 9% (31 March
2018: 5% to 9%) annually, with deduction of management fee, and
was receivable quarterly, annually or upon maturity. During the year
ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded investment income from
such investment of HK$95.9 million (2018: HK$79.5 million).

The global stock markets are expected to remain challenging and
uncertain, especially in Hong Kong and the PRC. The proprietary
team of the Group always take attentive approach on making
diversified investments with various nature, return rate and risk
exposure and will continue to closely monitor the investment
portfolios of the Group, including other financial assets (represented
by investments in the Securities Company, listed securities of PSE and
wealth management products) and investments at fair value through
profit or loss (mainly represented by investments in listed securities
of Pak Wing (as defined below) as at 31 March 2019) for potential
dividend returns, fixed interest income returns and capital
appreciations to enhance values to the Shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

The Group considers trading of securities as one of its core
businesses and the Group has always taken attentive approach on its
future investments. The proprietary team of the Group has
monitored closely the Group’s investments at fair value through
profit or loss for potential dividend returns and capital appreciations
to enhance values to the Shareholders.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$24 million (31 March 2018: HK$409
million), representing 0.4% (31 March 2018: 4.7%) of the total
assets of the Group and 0.8% (31 March 2018: 8.2%) of the net
assets of the Group HK$3,126 million (31 March 2018: HK$5,011
million). The Group held a diversified portfolio of listed investments
throughout the year. As at 31 March 2019, the Group mainly held
listed securities of Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited (“Pak Wing",
whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
8316) with a carrying value of HK$23 million, representing 97.4% of
the investments at fair value through profit or loss held by the
Group, 0.4% of the total assets of the Group and 0.7% of the net
assets of the Group and 8.0% of Pak Wing's total issued shares. The
original investment cost of the listed securities of Pak Wing
amounted to HK$80 million. The stock price of the listed securities
of Pak Wing as at the date of purchase in June 2018 was HK$1.28
per share and the stock price of the listed securities of Pak Wing
decreased to HK$0.36 per share as at 31 March 2019. Based on the
unaudited third quarterly report of Pak Wing for the nine months
ended 31 December 2018, Pak Wing and its subsidiaries recorded
revenue of HK$71 million, net loss of HK$9 million for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 and net liabilities of HK$7 million
at 31 December 2018. Pak Wing and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the foundation works business as a subcontractor in
Hong Kong. The Group did not hold any listed securities of Pak Wing
as at 31 March 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

As at 31 March 2018, the Group mainly held listed securities of
China All Access (Holdings) Limited (“All Access”, whose shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 633)
with a carrying value of HK$407 million, representing 99.7% of the
investments at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group,
4.7% of the total assets of the Group and 8.1% of the net assets of
the Group and 8.1% of All Access's total issued shares. The original
investment cost of the listed securities of All Access amounted to
HK$451 million. The stock price of the listed securities of All Access
increased from HK$2.30 per share as at 1 April 2017 to HK$2.50 per
share as at 31 March 2018. Based on the annual report of All Access
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, All Access and its
subsidiaries recorded revenue of RMB2,688 million (equivalent to
HK$3,362 million), profit for the year of RMB232 million (equivalent
to HK$290 million) and net assets of RMB3,991 million (equivalent
to HK$4,992 million). All Access and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of communication application solutions and
services and investment activities.

Other listed investments are individually carrying at value less than
5% of the Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March
2018.

The Group recorded net unrealised loss of investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$60 million (2018: gain of HK$25
million) for the year, of which included net unrealised losses of
HK$57 million and HK$2 million (2018: Nil and gain of HK$31
million) for investments in listed securities of Pak Wing and All
Access, respectively for the year.

The Group would realise its investment in listed securities with
reference to the stock market volatility and general trading
sentiment. The proceeds from disposal would be applied towards
expansion of the Group's existing business lines and general working
capital purposes. The Group realised its investments in listed
securities with a carrying value of HK$405 million (31 March 2018:
HK$432 million) for aggregate gross proceeds of HK$121 million (31
March 2018: HK$491 million), resulting net realised losses of
investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$283 million (31
March 2018: gains of HK$58 million) for the current year, of which
included disposals of listed securities of All Access at gross proceeds
of HK$121 million and net realised losses of HK$283 million were
recorded for the year. The Group did not dispose of any listed
securities of Pak Wing during the year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group resulted a gross loss for the year of HK$93 million (2018:
profit of HK$490 million). It was mainly due to the net realised losses
from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss of
HK$283 million (2018: gains of HK$58 million). The Group had not
recorded dividend income from investments at fair value through profit
or loss for the current year as compared to HK$5 million in 2018.
Interest income from provision of finance significantly decreased by
67.1% to HK$74 million as compared to HK$225 million in 2018 as
the collectibility of certain loans receivable were considered not
probable and less interest income was recorded during the current
year. Insurance brokerage income significantly increased by
approximately 2 times to HK$17 million as compared to HK$8 million
in 2018 as the insurance brokerage segment increased its customers’
portfolio. There was no corporate finance advisory fee recorded for the
year (2018: HK$0.1 million) as a result of competitive market of the
industry. Income from securities and futures brokerage, placing,
underwriting and margin financing services was HK$67 million,
representing a decrease of 52.1% as compared to HK$140 million in
2018, as a result of less margin financing income from customers has
recorded during the year. Commission and fees from financial
guarantee services, factoring interest income and finance lease interest
income significantly decreased by 19.0% to HK$51 million as
compared to HK$63 million in 2018.

The Group recorded provision for impairment loss of loans receivable
of HK$1,369 million (2018: HK$320 million), provision for impairment
loss of accounts receivable of HK$20 million (2018: HK$135 million)
and provision for impairment loss of finance lease receivables of
HK$89 million (2018: Nil) as the Directors are of the view that the
collection of certain loans receivable, accounts receivable and finance
lease receivables were not probable. Such provision amounts were
based on the ageing of the overdue balances, borrowers’
creditworthiness and historical write-off experience, and represented
the allowance provided for the estimated loss arising from the inability
of third party borrowers to make required repayments to the Group as
at 31 March 2019. These third party borrowers are mainly individual
borrowers located in the PRC. In view of the economic turmoil in the
global stock markets and uncertainty of the trade frictions between
the PRC and the United States of America (the “US") since the second
quarter of 2018, the rate of repayments from these borrowers has
been severely affected. The money lending team has always focused
on the credit management of the borrowers in order to minimise the
credit risk. In order to mitigate the default risk and manage the
operating cash flow, the Group has regularly maintained adequate
internal policies in relation to making loans to borrowers and granting
trading limits to margin customers, which include financial
assessments of the borrowers and margin customers, regular review of
ageing analysis and tight control on any overdue balances. In addition,
follow-up measures including sending reminder letters to borrowers
for repayments, arranging meetings with borrowers to request for
immediate repayments are in place.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Out of the provision for impairment loss of loans receivable of
HK$1,369 million, (i) HK$670 million represented the allowance
provided for the estimated loss in relation to certain third party
borrowers that the Group has not received their repayments on
agreed schedules from such borrowers and writs of summons have
been served to commence legal proceedings against such borrowers;
(i) HK$602 million represented the allowance provided for the
estimated loss in relation to certain third party borrowers that the
Group has received repayments of some overdue interests and such
borrowers could provide assets proof to cover their overdue
balances; and (iii) HK$97 million represented the allowance provided
for the estimated loss in relation to certain third party borrowers
that the Group has received full repayment of overdue interest and
repayments of some overdue loan principals, and such borrowers
could provide assets proof to cover their overdue balances.

The provision for impairment loss of accounts receivable of HK$20
million represented the allowance provided for the estimated loss in
relation to a third party margin customer that the Group has not
received any repayments from such customer and writ of summons
have been served to commence legal proceedings against such
customer.

The provision for impairment loss of finance lease receivables of
HK$89 million represented the allowance provided for the estimated
loss in relation to certain third party lessees that the Group has not
received any repayment of the overdue finance lease receivables and
the Group has commenced legal proceedings against such lessees.

Other income and gains substantially decreased to HK$112 million
for the year (2018: HK$497 million). During 2018, there were net
gains on disposal of an associate and other financial assets of
HK$115 million and HK$267 million, respectively. No such gains
were recorded in 2019 but an investment income on other financial
assets of HK$96 million (2018: HK$80 million) was recognised in the
year. The Group recorded a net unrealised loss on investments at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$60 million for the year (2018:
gain on HK$25 million). The Group shared profits of HK$40 million
from associates and a joint venture for the year (2018: HK$161
million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (cContinued)

Cost saving is a continuous aim in monitoring daily operations by the
Group. This year, general and administrative expenses amounted to
HK$285 million, representing an increase of 52.4% as compared to
HK$187 million in 2018 which was mainly due to an increase in staff
costs and legal and professional fees. Total employee benefit
expenses (excluding directors’ remuneration) amounted to HK$67
million (2018: HK$46 million) which included an one-off equity-
settled share option expense of HK$20 million (2018: Nil) were
incurred for the year. Legal and professional fees amounted to
HK$27 million (2018: HK$12 million) were incurred for the year for
Lawsuits with details as stated under the paragraphs headed
“Contingent Liabilities” and for the legal proceedings against certain
borrowers and margin customers with overdue balances. Finance
costs increased to HK$374 million as compared to HK$207 million in
2018 was mainly due to additional interest expenses incurred during
the year for certain convertible instruments issued and external
borrowings obtained in March 2018 and current reporting period.
Income tax expense decreased to HK$3 million for the year (2018:
HK$21 million) which mainly represented the provision for the PRC
tax charged on financial services business in China for the year.

Net loss attributable to Shareholders for the year was HK$2,160
million (2018: net profit of HK$270 million). Basic loss per share was
HK$1.38 (2018: earning per share of HK$0.18 (as restated)) and
diluted loss per share was HK$1.38 (2018: earning per share of
HK$0.17 (as restated)).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) do not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019
(2018: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2019, net current assets of the Group amounted to
HK$45 million (31 March 2018: HK$5,865 million) with cash and
bank balances of HK$222 million (31 March 2018: HK$1,302 million)
and the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was 1.02 (31
March 2018: 7.1). The Group had secured borrowings of HK$1,326
million (31 March 2018: HK$1,908 million), unsecured borrowings of
HK$73 million (31 March 2018: HK$173 million) and convertible
instruments of HK$1,348 million (31 March 2018: HK$1,025
million). Gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible instruments divided by
the equity attributable to owners of the Company was 111.8% (31
March 2018: 72.2%). The borrowings of the Group carried floating
interest rates calculated by reference to the Hong Kong Dollar Prime
Rate or lender’s costs of funds were made in Hong Kong dollar and
US dollar. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Hong Kong
dollar and US dollar. As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar, the
foreign exchange risk exposures are considered limited. The Group
did not have any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitments of
HK$152 million (2018: Nil) contracted but not provided for the
capital contribution to an associate. The Directors have always
closely monitored the amount of liquid assets on hand and banking
facilities available to ensure the Group has sufficient financial
resources to meet its ongoing operational requirements. The Group's
assets portfolio is mainly financed by its shareholders’ funds. As at
31 March 2019, the Group had shareholders’ funds of HK$2,457
million (31 March 2018: HK$4,304 million).
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, bank borrowings of HK$24 million (equivalent
to RMB20 million) (31 March 2018: HK$146 million, equivalent to
RMB117 million) were secured by bank deposits of HK$23 million
(31 March 2018: HK$35 million) with a corporate guarantee given by
an independent third party. HK$702 million (equivalent to US$90
million) (31 March 2018: HK$702 million, equivalent to US$90
million) of other borrowings were secured by the shares in the
capital of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 20%
(31 March 2018: 10%) equity interest of Wins Finance held by the
Group, and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.
Other borrowings of HK$7 million (equivalent to RMB6 million) (31
March 2018: HK$50 million, equivalent to RMB40 million) were
secured by certain finance lease receivables with carrying amount of
HK$12 million (equivalent to RMB10 million) (31 March 2018:
HK$34 million, equivalent to RMB27 million).

As at 31 March 2019, the Notes (31 March 2018: the Promissory
Note 2019 and the Promissory Note 2020) were secured by certain
shares in the capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
7.26% equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group, certain
shares held by Mr. Zhang and personal guarantees given by Mr.
Zhang and his spouse.

As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the First Convertible
Bonds were secured by 30% equity interest of Wins Finance held by
the Group. At 31 March 2018, the Second Convertible Bonds were
secured by 15% (which was diluted to 12.17% as at 31 March
2019) equity interest of the Securities Company held by the Group.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 23 April 2019, the Company received a notice of event of
default (the “First EOD Notice from the Lender”) from Shinny
Solar Limited (the “Lender”) regarding a facility agreement
dated 14 March 2017 (the “Facility Agreement”) entered into
between, inter alia, the Company as the borrower and the
Lender in relation to a US$90,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$705,978,000) term loan facility (the “Facility”). Pursuant to
the First EOD Notice from the Lender, the Lender alleged, inter
alia, (i) a breach of change of control clause under the Facility
Agreement has occurred whereby Mr. Zhang ceased to
beneficially hold at least 20% of the issued voting share capital
of the Company; (ii) the Cross-default Event and therefore
constituted an event of default under the Facility Agreement;
and (iii) an event of default has occurred whereby the
consolidated total net debt exceeded 60% of the consolidated
tangible net worth of the Company with reference to the
Company's most recently published interim financial statements
for the six months ended 30 September 2018.

On 10 June 2019, the Company received a notice of event of
default and repayment (the “Second EOD Notice from the
Lender”) from the Lender regarding the Facility. Pursuant to the
Second EOD Notice from the Lender, the Lender declared that
all of the loan, together with accrued interest, and all other
amounts accrued or outstanding under the Facility shall be
immediately due and payable.

As of the date of the Second EOD Notice from the Lender, the
outstanding amount payable in relation to the Facility is
US$91,640,000 (equivalent to HK$718,842,000), including
US$90,000,000 (equivalent to HK$705,978,000) as principal
and US$1,640,000 (equivalent to HK$12,864,000) as accrued
interest up to the date of the Second EOD Notice from the
Lender.

On 20 May 2019, taking into consideration the recent financial
situation of the Company, the board of Directors (the “Board”)
adopted the restructuring strategies (the “Restructuring
Strategies”) with a view to facilitating a settlement with its
creditors and promoting the growth and development of the
Group’s businesses. The Restructuring Strategies are subject to
negotiations with the creditors of the Company and other
relevant stakeholders. As at the date of this annual report, save
for the MOU (as defined below), the Company has not entered
into any agreement or arrangement with any party with respect
to the restructuring of the debts of the Company.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continuead)

() On 20 May 2019, the Company and an independent third party
("Individual A") entered into a memorandum of understanding
(the “MOU"), pursuant to which, subject to entering into a
formal agreement, the Company will allot and issue and
Individual A and/or his designees will subscribe for the
subscription shares at a consideration of not more than
HK$300,000,000, subject to the terms and conditions of the
formal agreement (the "Possible Subscription”). Upon
completion of the Possible Subscription, Individual A and/or his
designees will hold not more than 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the subscription shares.
As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not
entered into any formal agreement with Individual A in relation
to the Possible Subscription.

(d)  On 9 June 2019, the Company and another independent third
party (“Individual B”) entered into an agreement (the
“Agreement”), pursuant to which, subject to the fulfillment of
certain conditions, the Company agreed to allot and issue and
Individual B agreed to subscribe 300,000,000 new Shares at
the subscription Price of HK$0.145 per Share under general
mandate. The 300,000,000 new Shares represent 19.13% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the
Agreement and 16.06% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
subscription shares. As at the date of this annual report, the
conditions precedent set out in the Agreement have not been
fulfilled.

Details in relation to the Restructuring Strategies, the MOU and the
Agreement in the above paragraphs were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 20 May 2019 and 9 June
2019.

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group had
no other significant events after the reporting period.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS

Details of material acquisitions/disposals during the year are set out
in the section “Business Review".

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitments of
HK$152 million (2018: Nil) contracted but not provided for the
capital contribution to an associate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Wins Finance and certain of its executive officers were named
as defendants in two civil securities lawsuits filed in two U.S.
District Courts (the “Lawsuit A" and the “Lawsuit B”,
collectively referred to as the “Lawsuits”) in April 2017. Both
Lawsuits were putative class action lawsuits where plaintiffs’
counsels sought to represent the entire class of shareholders
who acquired Wins Finance’s securities between 29 October
2015 and 29 March 2017. Both Lawsuits asserted the same
statutory violations under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act,
alleged, in sum and substance, that the defendants made false
and misleading statements, or failed to disclose material facts,
in Wins Finance’s prospectuses, press releases, and filings with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in
connection with its growth, business prospects and the
adequacy of its internal controls. The Lawsuits also alleged that
Wins Finance misrepresented the location of its principal
executive office in the SEC filings. The Lawsuits further alleged
that Wins Finance’s stock price fell when the alleged
misstatements or omissions became known to investors. The
plaintiffs sought unspecified monetary damages, including
interest, costs and attorney’s fees and other relief as the court
deemed just.

In July 2017, the plaintiff of Lawsuit A filed notice to the U.S.
District Court that Lawsuit A is voluntarily dismissed, without
prejudice and without costs to any party, and the court
subsequently terminate Lawsuit A. Accordingly, the directors of
Wins Finance considered no further contingent liabilities would
arise from Lawsuit A.
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EEENWRE DN

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(Continued)

In June 2017, the court issued an order appointing lead
plaintiffs and lead counsel for Lawsuit B. In August 2017, lead
plaintiffs of Lawsuit B filed an amended class action complaint.
The amended complaint alleged claims against Wins Finance
for securities fraud purportedly arising from alleged
misrepresentations concerning its principal executive offices
(which alleged misrepresentations resulted in Wins Finance
being added to, and then removed from, the Russell 2000
index). In October 2017, Wins Finance moved to dismiss the
amended complaint for failure to state a claim as against it. In
March 2018, the court issued an order to deny Wins Finance’s
motion to dismiss. Thus, Lawsuit B will proceed to the fact
gathering stage. In June 2018, counsel for the parties appeared
before the court for an initial scheduling conference and the
court entered an appropriate schedule for discovery and
additional motions. In July 2018, the plaintiffs filed with the
court proof of summons and amended complaint against
certain individual defendants and in August 2018, such
individual defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint
for failure to state a claim as against them. In September 2018,
the lead plaintiffs filed a motion seeking class certification. In
that motion, the lead plaintiffs have not specified the amount
of alleged class-wide damages, nor have they provided any
methodology for the calculation of the same. Wins Finance's
opposition to that motion was due in December 2018. In
October 2018, the court entered an order dismissing the action
against an individual defendant without prejudice, for the lead
plaintiffs’ failure to timely serve such individual defendant with
the summons and amended complaint.

As a result of a private mediation conducted in November
2018, Wins Finance has agreed in principle to settle the class
action, on behalf of all remaining defendant parties. The Court
granted preliminary approval of the settlement by order
entered in March 2019, and has scheduled a final settlement
approval hearing in November 2019.

The first hearing of the Petition is scheduled to be heard on 10
July 2019. At this stage, there is no information to suggest and
hence may be premature for the Group to predict the outcome
of this hearing as well as the potential loss (if any) that may be
caused.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group had no
other material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION POLICY AND

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed 117 staff members
including the Directors (2018: 128 staff). Staff costs incurred for the
year, including directors’ remuneration, were HK$129 million (2018:
HK$52 million). During the year ended 31 March 2019, staff costs
included an one-off equity settled share option expense of HK$74
million. It was the remuneration policy of the Group to reward its
employees with reference to their qualifications, experience and
work performance as well as market benchmarks. Remuneration
packages, include granting of share options, were structured to
motivate individual performance and contributions to the Group. The
Company has adopted a share option scheme and the Group
operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for its employees.

PROSPECTS

In view of the recent economic turmoil in the global stock markets
and uncertainty of the trade frictions between the PRC and the
United States of America during the year, the general economic
conditions are expected to be challenging and uncertain. The Group
will continue to (i) implement solid approach for collections of loans
and accounts receivables and maintain attentive but sensible
approach towards new investment opportunities in the financial
services industry in order to enhance values to the Shareholders; and
(ii) work closely with all creditors, including bondholders, and other
stakeholders to take appropriate measures to improve the liability
and solvency position of the Group as well as to achieve the best
possible consensual restructuring for all interested parties.

APPRECIATION

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its gratitude
and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners, banks,
professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By Order of the Board
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited

Ye Ye
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ye Ye (“Mr. Ye"”), aged 54, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and Chairman of the Board in January
2018. Mr. Ye currently also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Ye holds a Master's degree in Business
Administration from Peking University, and a Master's degree in
Industrial Economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law. Mr. Ye has extensive experience in financial service sector,
including securities and futures brokerage, underwriting, corporate
finance advisory, investment banking, assets management and funds
management.

Mr. Wong Xiang Hong, (with former name Wong, Kan Edmond)
("Mr. Wong"), aged 48, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in April 2019. Mr. Wong
holds an MBA degree with Dean’s Honor from the University of Texas
at Austin. Mr. Wong served as an Executive Director of e-Kong
Group Limited responsible for its equity investment business (Stock
Code: 524, currently renamed as Great Wall Belt and Road Holdings
Limited) which is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from July 2015 to July 2018. Prior to joining e-Kong Group
Limited, Mr. Wong worked in J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. ("J.P.
Morgan”) as a Managing Director and Head of China Corporate
Sales Team in the Credit & Rates Department. Mr. Wong joined J.P,
Morgan in 1998. During his stay in J.P. Morgan, Mr. Wong was
responsible for building and managing the sales teams for the
origination, advisory and execution of structured financing, risk
management, balance sheet management solutions for Greater
China corporate clients. In the past ten years, Mr. Wong has
successfully executed various innovative risk management and
structured financing transactions for corporates in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Mr. Wong has also worked in the Asia Debt Capital
Markets Team where he participated in many landmark capital
markets transactions raising over US$10 billion for clients in Asia
including the PRC, Malaysia and the Republic of the Philippines. Mr.
Wong has also worked in the Financial Advisory Unit in Hong Kong
advising clients in the telecom and power industry on debt
restructuring during the Asian financial crisis. Prior to relocating to
Hong Kong in 1999, he had been working with Global Mergers &
Acquisitions and Global Syndicated Finance Group with J.P. Morgan
in New York. He has worked on a number of domestic landmark
merger and acquisition transactions in the power and utility sector
totaling US$5 billion and leveraged financing transaction in various
industries in the US.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Pun Hong Hai (“Mr. Pun”), aged 41, was appointed as an
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer in July 2018. Mr. Pun
currently also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Pun holds a Master’s degree in China Business Studies
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor’s degree in
Commerce from The University of Auckland. Mr. Pun has over 16
years of experience in securities and futures, corporate finance and
other various financial services. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Pun
held important management positions in several securities
companies, including Haitong International Securities Group Limited
(Stock Code: 665), Bright Smart Securities & Commodities Group
Limited (Stock Code: 1428), Guoco Group Limited (Stock Code: 53)
and Mason Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 273). These
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (“Ms. Chow"), aged 43, joined the Company's
accounts and company secretarial department in December 2010
and was appointed as an Executive Director in February 2011. Ms.
Chow currently also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Ms. Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and holds a Bachelor
(Hons) degree in Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Ms. Chow was also appointed as Company
Secretary in March 2011. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Chow
has over 13 years of experience in accounting and auditing at an
international accounting firm and has extensive experience in
financial services, investment and property development.

Mr. Yang Haoying (“Mr. Yang"”), aged 40, joined the Company in
August 2016 and was appointed as an Executive Director in October
2016. Mr. Yang was re-designated as Chief Operating Officer in
January 2017 and re-designated from Chief Operating Officer to
Chief Executive Officer in July 2018. Mr. Yang resigned as Chief
Executive Officer in April 2019 and remains as an Executive Director.
Mr. Yang currently also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Yang holds a Master’s degree in IMBA (Financial)
from Shanghai Jiaotong University and a Bachelor’'s degree in
Mechanical Engineering and Automation from Jilin University in
China. Mr. Yang has over 12 years of experience in corporate finance,
asset management and private equity in Hong Kong and China.

Mr. Zhao Tong (“Mr. Zhao"), aged 36, joined the Company in
September 2016 and was appointed as an Executive Director in
October 2016 and re-designated as Chief Investment Officer in July
2018. Mr. Zhao currently also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Zhao holds a Bachelor’s degree in Finance from
the University of Manchester, United Kingdom. Mr. Zhao has over 10
years of experience in finance, investment, asset management and risk
management in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVEE DIRECTORS

Mr. An Dong (“Mr. An"), aged 48, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2017. Mr. An holds a Master's degree in Laws from the China
University of Political Science and Law, and has participated in the
Private Equity Investment Program of Peking University HSBC
Business School. Mr. An holds the Lawyer's License of People's
Republic of China, and the Professional Qualifications Certificate
(intermediate level) issued by the China General Chamber of
Commerce. Mr. An has extensive experience in legal affairs in
corporate and banking sector, and he is specialised in asset
restructuring, equity transfer, merger and acquisition, share issuance,
real estate operation and investment, private equity management,
and financial and economic litigation. Mr. An is a partner of a law
firm in China and also a general manager of an investment
management company in China.

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 52, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2013. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in auditing and
accounting fields. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Accountancy with
honours from City University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Fung Tze Wa (“Mr. Fung”), aged 62, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in January
2017. Mr. Fung is a certified public accountant and a director of an
accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has many years of
experience in auditing, taxation and company secretarial practice in
Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree in professional accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors.

Mr. Wu Keli (“Mr. Wu"), aged 51, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in October
2016. Mr. Wu holds a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from the Capital University of Economics and Business in
China. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in the regulation and
development of the financial services industry in China. Mr. Wu is a
general manager of a supply chain management company in China.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has always valued transparency and accountability as the
keys for achieving a high standard of corporate governance, earning
the confidence of the Shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) as its own code on corporate governance practices.
Save as disclosed below, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has compiled with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code and there have been no material deviations from the CG Code
during the year:

Code Provision A.6.7 — (i) One Independent Non-executive Director
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 5 September 2018; (ii) two Independent Non-executive
Directors were unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 9 November 2018; and (iii) three Independent
Non-executive Directors were unable to attend the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 13 December 2018, as
they had other engagements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout
the year, all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Board composition
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Ye, Mr. Wong Xiang Hong,
Mr. Pun Hong Hai, Ms. Chow Mun Yee, Mr. Yang Haoying and
Mr. Zhao Tong, and four Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. An Dong, Mr. Cheung Wing Ping, Mr. Fung Tze Wa
and Mr. Wu Keli. Director’s biographical details are set out in
the Biographical Details of Directors on pages 28 to 30.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

2. Change in Director’s information
Pursuant to the relevant requirement under the Listing Rules,
the changes in Director’s information since 1 April 2018 are set
out below:

- Mr. Wang Xiaodong resigned as Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 18 May 2018.

- Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited
(whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 851) with effect from 28 May
2018.

- With effect from 1 July 2018, the directors’ fees of Mr.
Cheung Wing Ping, Mr. An Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and
Mr. Wu Keli, the Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company, have been increased to HK$20,000 per
month.

- With effect from 1 January 2019, the monthly salary and
other benefits of Ms. Chow Mun Yee (“"Ms. Chow"),
Executive Director of the Company, has been increased to
HK$220,000. Ms. Chow has also been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Celebrate
International Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8212) with
effect from 31 August 2018.

- Mr. Yang Haoying, Executive Director of the Company, has
been re-designated from Chief Operating Officer to Chief
Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 10 July
2018 and was entitled to a director’s salary and
allowances of HK$3,220,000 per annum. Mr. Yang
resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the Company with
effect from 29 April 2019 and remains as an Executive
Director.

- Mr. Zhao Tong, Executive Director of the Company, has
been redesignated to Chief Investment Officer of the
Company with effect from 10 July 2018 and was entitled
to a director’s salary and allowances of HK$2,570,000 per
annum.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

3.

Attendance records of board meetings and other general
meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board convened a total
of 70 full board meetings. Attendance records of the board
meetings, other general meetings and the meetings of the
Board Committees during the year were set out below:
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3. EEXggEhHMRRASZHERLE

BE T NF=A=+T—RHILFE &
FERHARIOREZE2RER -FA
Exgen HMRRASREZZES
TR IHNFEBREINOT

Meetings Attended/Held
HE/BTEE
Annual  Extraordinary
General General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Board Meeting Meeting Committee Committee Committee
B2 RRBFAE RRKAIKE EREEE HHEEE REZEE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Ye Ye (Chairman) WELE (FE) 63/70 1N 2 - - -
Mr. Yang Haoying BEEREE
(Chief Executive Officer) (77H#3) 69/70 1N 0 - - -
Mr. Pun Hong Hai ARERE
(Chief Operating Officer) (8ELE)
(appointed on 10 July 2018)  (R=ZF—N\&
tATHEZE) 29/70 n W1, - - -
Ms. Chow Mun Yee e G 62/70 11 W1 - - -
Mr. Zhao Tong By EE 68/70 1N 22 - - -
Mr. Wang Xiaodong IRL%ESE
(resigned on 18 May 2018) (R=2-N\#&
BATNBEE) 270 - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. An Dong RREE 38/70 17 212 4/4 5/5 313
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping FETEE 61/70 i 112 44 305 33
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFERE 33/70 171 072 4/4 5/5 33
Mr. Wu Keli Bw itk 19/70 0/1 072 24 4/5 23

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as
overseeing internal control, financial performance, overall
management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies
and managing the daily business operations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

5.

Independence of Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Company has complied with the
requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed four
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least
one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence, and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ professional development

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house
training for Directors and provided the relevant materials to the
Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company.
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:

Name

HH

5.
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SR REEYBEEFTRAB -

BEUFATESCHREBLIMEELFE
MR MR LR A5 - ANAF]
NABBBIUFATESTAR/BILA
+o

EECEXRE
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BEEHWEZMB R ARBIRE

REFZHARAME - LR FREH
HHREF L o
EREFHEMARARERE ZEIE
g

BE T NF=-A=T—HLFE &
EZ28 T

Type of trainings
BIEE

Executive Directors
Mr. Ye Ye (Chairman)

Mr. Yang Haoying (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Pun Hong Hai (Chief Operating Officer) ERB L (EE

Ms. Chow Mun Yee AR /NA

Mr. Zhao Tong iz v

Independent Non-executive Directors BYHBITES

Mr. An Dong ZERAELE

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping sREETFEAE

Mr. Fung Tze Wa S FEE A

Mr. Wu Keli Mz 754

A: in-house training

B: attending seminars and/or forums and/or reading relevant
materials
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are segregated.
Mr. Ye Ye (“Mr. Ye") is the Chairman of the Company and provides
leadership for the Board. One of the major roles of Mr. Ye is to
ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibility properly. Mr. Ye also ensures that good corporate
governance practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Yang Haoying
performs the role of Chief Executive of the Company and is
responsible for implementing the Group’s investment strategies
within the authorities delegated by the Board and managing the
day-to-day business of the Group until he resigned as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (the "CEQ") with effect from 29
April 2019 and continues to hold the position of an Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong Xiang Hong was appointed as
the CEO with effect from 29 April 2019 and performs the role of
Chief Executive of the Company since his appointment.

BOARD COMMITTEES

1. Audit Committee
As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises four Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. An Dong, Mr. Fung Tze
Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. Each committee meeting was chaired by
an Independent Non-executive Director. The principal duties of
the Audit Committee include:

e monitoring the independence and objectivity with the
external auditors and maintaining the effectiveness of the
audit process;

° monitoring integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and reports;

e reviewing financial controls, risk management system and
internal controls; and

e reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Group's internal control, the interim report for
the six months ended 30 September 2018 and the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Audit Committee convened four meetings for the year.
Additional meetings will be held if the Audit Committee shall
so request. The individual attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is disclosed under the section headed
"Board of Directors” above.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

2.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. An
Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. The major roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management;

e to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

* to review and recommend the remuneration packages of
all Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and

* to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation
arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.

The Remuneration Committee has every right to access to
professional advice relating to remuneration proposal if
necessary. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to
independent professional advice if necessary. During the year,
the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
package for the Directors and senior management of the
Group and no Director was involved in deciding his/her
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee adopted the
approach under the CG Code to determine and review, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee convened five meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. An
Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. The major roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

° to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations for appointment of Directors/
Chairman/Chief Executive; and

e to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if necessary. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and considered the appointment of
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee convened three meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy setting out the
nomination procedures and criteria for selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship.

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board established a set of Board Diversity Policy setting out
the terms and approach to achieve diversity on the Board in
order to enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the high
standards of corporate governance. Board diversity has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, as well as the Company’s business nature and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to
be effective. Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit and contribution basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists of
diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

6. Corporate Governance Function
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference as below:

e to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

e to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s external auditor in respect of audit services and
non-audit services were as follows:

EFERE (o)
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EEGARNTEEEARY HEAR
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o R REEANRRBETIEAEIEMR
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FA BEFRCRAARANEEERK
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B £
REBEE-_Z-—NAF=ZA=+—RHBUIEE 2/
R ARRR SN BREN B R Bz RS M FEE %
Rz T :

Nature of services Amount
R E ot

HK$'000

BT T
Review of interim results EHPEHES 820
Audit services EZIRTE 3,200
Non-audit services for other engagements Eh =56 FEEAZ IR 12

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chow Mun Yee is the Company Secretary of the Company, who
is also an Executive Director of the Company. She supports the
Board, ensures good information flow within the Board and Board
policy and procedures are followed, advises the Board on governance
matters and arrange continuous professional development to the
Directors. Her biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, Ms. Chow has confirmed
that she has duly complied with the relevant requirement under the
Listing Rules and taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and risk
management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried
out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies
had been properly followed; books and records and documents were
properly maintained; and the investment was in compliance with
relevant legislations, regulations or/and other statutory requirements.

Management currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.

Investment in listed securities, equity investments and wealth
management products are the core of the Group’s investments
which were classified as investments at fair value through profit or
loss and other financial assets, respectively in the consolidated
statement of financial position and may expose to market price risk
and foreign exchange risk. The Board has continuously monitoring
these investments with an aim to reduce such risks.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1.  Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two Shareholders may request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by way of depositing a written
requisition at the registered office of the Company (Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands) specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionists.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

2.

Procedures for proposing a person for election as a
Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A Shareholder may propose a person (the “Person”) for
election as a Director by lodging the following documents at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned
of his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its full
name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence on
(and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company's share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. Other Shareholders’ enquiries
can be sent by mail to the Company's principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1
Garden Road, Hong Kong for the attention of Company
Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for their
handling.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

1.

The Company’s Constitutional Documents
There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

(Continued)

2. Communication with Investors
The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
available electronically and on a timely basis. This includes
extensive historical information about the Group’s performance
and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report, announcements
and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with Shareholders. All
Shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
Shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company's
website on a timely basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
setting out the principle to determine the declaration of dividends or
recommend such payment which shall be subject to all applicable
laws and regulations as well as the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association. The Board will take into account the
Company’s financial performance, current economic conditions,
future prospects and all relevant factors in determining the
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such payment. The
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness shall be reviewed on a regular
basis or as required.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and of its financial performance
and cash flows. The Directors ensure that the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. They will also ensure the publication of which be in a
timely manner.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG
report”) is prepared by Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries referred to as the
“Group”), highlighting its Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG") performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG
Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules™).

The Group is principally engaged in the financial services sector,
including the provision of securities and futures brokerage services,
the provision of placing, underwriting and margin financing services,
the provision of insurance brokerage and financial planning services,
the provision of corporate finance advisory services, the trading of
securities and futures, the provision of finance, the provision of
factoring, financial guarantee and finance leasing services, as well as
investment holding.

This ESG report covers the overall performance of the Group in two
subject areas, namely, environmental and social issues of the
business operations of head office in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") for the year ended 31 March 2019,
unless otherwise stated.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to
report in this ESG report, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved in regular
engagement sessions to discuss and review areas of attention which
enables the Group to understand the reasonable expectations and
interests of the stakeholders, as well as prepare for future
challenges.

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email at info@freeman279.com.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s business
operations of the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC were
office-based, such that emissions were mainly related to
electricity and paper consumption. Business trips by flights
were minimal, such that it is considered immaterial in this
report. During the reporting period, no material non-
compliance in relation to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharge into water and land, and the generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous was noted.

1. Emissions
(i) Air emissions
The business operations of the Group did not
involve any significant direct emissions in relation to
gaseous fuel consumption or vehicles, hence no
such information is presented in this report.

(iij) Greenhouse gas emissions

BR HEREREHE

BRIR
BE_ZT-NF=ZA=+—RHLEFE &
EENBERPEEBLEERNHAE
RUBEREESRENRARBER M=
BABRERD AU AREFRRSTE
2 -REHAR KIEINBRBEERIEER
B KRLHBES - AEREBEER
MHELENEMERNTARIBR

1. HEBW
(i) ERHAM
AEBEBEETNIREBRAR
BEMELE S EWmMERER
BEEN A ARFRERKET]
ZEE -

(i) BEREHK

Emission Total emission
(in tCO,e) (in percentage)
(Note (iii))
HHE BEEmE
Scope of greenhouse (WS tiREE (AoL)
gas emissions BERBHREE (B =Gy )
Scope 1 — Direct emission HE-EEHER
Offices in Hong Kong BERFPBEBAE N/A 7~ i A N/A 7~ ifE A
and the PRC
Scope 2 - Indirect emission HE2-BEEIELEN
from purchased electricity R (P EEC) )
(Note (i)
Office in Hong Kong BARRE 119.27
Offices in the PRC PR A E 39.40
Scope 2 total FE2HEET 158.67 94%
Scope 3 — Other indirect HES-ERAEREENEM
emission from paper waste  BI$EHERK
disposal
Office in Hong Kong N N 10.08
Offices in the PRC REHAE 0.12
Scope 3 total #F34E 5 10.20 6%
Total wat 168.87 100%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

Emissions (Continued)

1.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Greenhouse gas emissions (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Emission factors were made reference to Appendix
27 of the Listing Rules and their referred
documentation as set out by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), unless
stated otherwise.

(ii) Emission factors for calculation of emission from
purchased electricity in Hong Kong and the PRC
were made reference to the Sustainability Report
2018 of HK Electric Investments and the grid
emission factors for the Northern China respectively.

(iii)  tCO,e = tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

There were 168.87 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide,
methane and nitrous oxide) emitted from the
Group’s business operations during the reporting
period, with an intensity of 0.04 tCO,e/m?. 75% of
the total purchased electricity of the Group was
incurred in Hong Kong office for the business
operations of the Group.

Hazardous waste

The business operations of the Group did not
involve generation of any significant hazardous
wastes, hence no such information is presented in
this report.

Non-hazardous waste

Office paper was the major non-hazardous waste of
the Group for its business operations. 2.13 tonnes
of paper were consumed for daily office operation
such as document printing, contributing to
aggregate emission of 10.20 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent.

Measures to mitigate emissions

The business operations of the Group did not
involve any significant direct emissions in relation to
gaseous fuel consumption or vehicles, hence no
such information is presented in this report.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

A.

BRIR (4)
1. HMY ()
(i) BERBHH (F)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

B AT -

iy FEAEEFIN PFRRBTIE
2Z PRI E7REE
BEXZMARAR (B
T l) FIBE 82 E X HHE -

(iy FEEELRTEBEENE
SRR Hh2E
EEENRENAHEER
HE2018 R FE L BHEME

%( °
(i)  ME—EbhirE 2=M & i
28

AEEEBLERREBHAM
BEREHENE £168.878 —
faitixEs (E2E_Sth -
FREkEtDnR) BaEAEEF
FAKO.Q4ME —FLIRE £ - A&
BHEES HN75%RE B
RERAEBNEBRKELEE
Eo

EEEEY
AEBEBREN S RELE
MEBEBREETERERY B ARE
RAREZBIE-

HEERY

MAERREAEBEEBLE
MEIBREMEERY - AENAE
1% (N5 BN ) B #62.1308
A ELERYEN0.2008 — AL

EE-

L AE HE2X B R 7 e
AEBEBREEN LR BBR
BB BEWMANEMNEX
BRI A ARERRET
& BUE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

1. Emissions (Continued)

(vi) Wastes handling and reduction initiatives

The Group continues to practise paper saving
initiatives as employees are encouraged to print
paper on both sides and utilise recycled papers for
their draft works. Except for documents that contain
confidential information are securely destroyed with
paper shredder before disposal to landfill, waste
paper was collected by the property management
office for proper disposal. With continuous effort,
less waste paper is being consumed in the offices,
which accounted for 22% reduction of paper
compared to the last reporting period.

Office supplies were reused to minimise any
potential waste. Used printer cartridges were
returned to the supplier for proper recycling.
Reusable dishes and utensils are provided at pantry
for further waste reduction.

2. Use of resources

(i)

(ii)

Energy consumption

During the reporting period, the offices of the
Group consumed electricity of 204,347 kWh with an
intensity of 47.51 kWh/m?, representing total
emission of 158.67 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent.

Water consumption

Water supply and discharge of the Group were
managed by the building management office and
the cost of usage was included in the management
fees. The Group did not consume significant amount
of water through business activities and the water
consumption was considered minimal during the
reporting period.
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RE HERERES

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

Use of resources (Continued)

2.

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Energy use efficiency initiatives

Electricity was the most significant source of
emission in office settings of the Group that
employees are often reminded to switch off all the
lights, air conditioners, computers, monitors and
equipment before leaving work. Energy efficient
electrical appliances such as refrigerators with Grade
1 energy label under the Mandatory Energy
Efficiency Labelling Scheme by the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department were prioritised
during purchasing process. Damaged or waste
electrical and electronic equipment is sent to
recyclers for processing.

Water use efficiency initiatives

The business operations of the Group did not
involve any significant use of water. Hence, no such
information is presented in this report.

Packaging materials

The business operations of the Group did not
involve any use of packaging materials. Hence, no
such information is presented in this report.

The environment and natural resources

The business operations of the Group had no significant
impact on the environment. Nevertheless, the Group
commits to continue making effort to minimise the use of
resources and related impact to the natural environment,
as well as complying with relevant laws and regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BR HEREREHE

B. SOCIAL e
1. Employment and labour practices 1. EREREIER
(i) Employment (i) EE
The Group set out policies in relation to REBEHRASEE XKLL
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and EEHMENERE BERLRE
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal FIERE-RERME TE
opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination for e Z ool R R IEAR AR
the business operations of the Group. The Group AEEBREETHESRTEE
strictly complies with all applicable laws and RAfE A 25 T#ERNE P B E A
regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC regarding EERER RSN KEEE
employment and labour rights. During the reporting FHEBNERTERIBE
period, no material non-compliance in relation to
employment was noted.
As of 31 March 2019, the Group had 117 R-E-NAF=F=+—H XK
employees (2018: 128 employees) who were all in EEEBENMT7REEBE(ZZE—N
full time positions. The Group provides competitive F:128%EE) FTBEEEH
remuneration package to reward and retain the RER - AEEEEEFEHREFEN
employees. Employees are entitled to all public BEH AnBmRGEBEE &
holidays in Hong Kong or the PRC in addition to BEZEBBLAPBIFNERARRK
their paid annual leave, maternity leave, group HUREREGOTEINNE
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund and FRER EREERR 2
standard working hours as set out in their M RE S RARET(ERE <
employment contracts. Individual performance EERBEARFTERS A
appraisal system is established for better review on BifitigslE E TIEER &
employee’s work progress, their potential talent and THEERHEANEBRKBEENE
contribution towards the future goals of the Group. Bk
The Group is committed to developing and RERRIRBERRERIFHER
supporting equality and diversity in employment, on FERZENE  MFEK Bk
the basis of age, race, colour, nationality and any B €2 B EE 8% ) K GBI R E Y
other status protected by the legislations and Hfhmme
ordinances.
Workforce by age group Age 56
(in percentage) Age 18-25 Age 26-35 Age 36-45 Age 46-55 or above
BEREIMNWET (BDL) 18-255% 26-355% 36-455% 46-555% 56BN L
2019 5 47 33 13 2

—E-NF
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and labour practices (Continued)

1.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Employee health and safety

The Group is committed to complying with all
applicable laws and regulations of Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group sets out policies in relation to
providing safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. During the
reporting period, no non-compliance in relation to
health and safety laws and regulations was noted.

The Group has occupational health and safety
measures to ensure a healthy and safe working
environment for employees. Employees are covered
by group medical plan which are eligible to enjoy
various protections and benefits for medical care.
The Group is dedicated to maintaining a safe,
hygienic and productive workplace by minimising
the potential risk of work-related accidents and
injuries.

Development and training

The Group organises orientation training to new
employees to ensure that they understand their
rights, welfare and the human resources system of
the Group. Training programmes are developed
based on business needs and development goals of
employees. The Group will explore further training
opportunities to equip employees with knowledge
and skills needed to grow with the business.

Labour standards

During the reporting period, there was no child nor
forced labour in the business operations of the
Group. In terms of employment management, the
Human Resources Department conducts background
check for new employees to ensure compliance with
all applicable laws and regulations in the relevant
jurisdictions regarding child labour and labour
standard. The Group inspects all new employees’
identity documents or working visas in prevention of
illegal labour employment. During the reporting
period, no non-compliance in relation to labour
standards as required by related laws and
regulations was noted.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (continued)
2. Operating practices

(i)

(ii)

Supply chain management

The Group has standard procedures and policies on
engaging suppliers and contractors related to its
business operations. Suppliers were screened
carefully to ensure that their quality, price, capability
meets the expectations and standards of the Group.
For the year ended 31 March 2019, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to managing
environmental and social risk of the supply chain.

Product responsibility

For the year ended 31 March 2019, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to product
responsibility. During the reporting period, no non-
compliance in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided as required by
related laws and regulations was noted.

Product labelling and quality assurance

The Group provides a high standard of service to
satisfy the investment and financial needs of its
customers. It follows the internal policies and
regulatory requirements when delivering its services,
and regularly reviews the services quality and seeks
customer feedback to identify areas of
improvement. It explains to customers the
underlying risks derived from the financial products
to facilitate their financial decision-making process.
The Group ensures that the information and
marketing materials it provided do not contain any
misleading content, and perform preventive
measures, including implementation of “Know-
Your-Customers” procedures, to protect customers’
interests more effectively. Furthermore, the
respective subsidiaries performing relevant financial
services are licensed and regulated under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO"),
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong. Apart from
complying with the SFO in relation to custody of
customer assets, the Group protects its clients’
assets by adopting adequate controls such as
maintaining designated trust accounts to manage
customers’ funds, which are audited regularly by
independent accountants.
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

2.

Operating practices (Continued)
(ii) Product responsibility (Continued)

Customer data protection

The Group acknowledges the importance of
protecting privacy and confidentiality of its
customers’ information. The Group developed
internal policy to govern the collection, handling,
and disclosure of clients’ data. Pursuant to Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486 of the Laws
of Hong Kong, the Group prohibited the use of any
personal information of clients by other parties for
direct marketing purposes if unlawful or without
explicit and implicit consent of the client.

Department leaders safeguard the confidentiality of
customers’ information and prevent data breach and
information leakage. Only uses with authorised
access privileges can access the sensitive information
in the servers. The Information Technology
Department continuously monitors the use of server
and constantly updates the antivirus software.

(iii) Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to managing all businesses
without undue influence and has regarded honesty,
integrity, and fairness as its core values. The Group
complies with all applicable laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the PRC on prohibiting bribery and
corruption, which include Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
All directors of the Company and employees of the
Group are required to strictly follow the policy of
the Group to prevent potential bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. During the reporting
period, no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its
employees were noted.

3. Community investment

The Group cares for the development of the society and
encourages its employees to participate in charitable
events, and to make contributions by both financial and
non-financial means. The Group has not participated in
any community engagement activities in the reporting
period and will consider potential focus areas and
resources for community contribution in the coming

years.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the financial statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the year by
operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s business review and
prospects can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the
financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 70 to 73. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 252. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS, CONVERTIBLE
INSTRUMENTS

Details of the movements in the convertible instruments, share capital
and share options of the Company during the year are set out in notes
30, 32 and 33 to the financial statements respectively.

In May 2018, HK$7.8 million conversion rights attaching to the
Second Convertible Bonds were exercised and 18,360,000 Shares
were issued.

The Company entered into (i) the Deeds with the Second Subscriber
to amend certain terms and conditions of the Second Convertible
Bonds in September 2018; (ii) the Instruments with the First
Subscriber to amend certain terms and conditions of the First
Convertible Bonds in October 2018; and (iii) a second supplemental
deed with the Second Subscriber and a supplemental undertaking
with the First Subscriber to further amend certain terms and
conditions of the Second Convertible Bonds and First Convertible
Bonds respectively in November 2018. The Amendments were
approved by the Stock Exchange and the Shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting in December 2018.
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As a result of the Amendments and the Share Consolidation, the
conversion price of the First Convertible Bonds was adjusted to
HK$0.65 per convertible share and the outstanding First Convertible
Bonds will entitle holders to convert into 1,188,000,000 conversion
shares, and the conversion price of the Second Convertible Bonds
was adjusted to HK$0.65 per convertible share and the outstanding
Second Convertible Bonds will entitle holders to convert into
660,303,076 conversion shares. As at 31 March 2019, the First
Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of US$99,000,000 and
the Second Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of
HK$429,197,000 were outstanding.

Further details of the amendments of the First Convertible Bonds
and the Second Convertible Bonds were disclosed in the Business
Review under the paragraph headed “Issue and conversion of
secured convertible bonds under general mandates” of the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section and note 30 to the
financial statements.

During the year, the Company granted new share options to eligible
grantees under the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”). In July 2018, the
Company granted share options to eligible grantees under 2012
Scheme to subscribe for a total of 1,266,815,134 ordinary shares
with par value of HK$0.001 each at an exercise price of HK$0.101
per Share. These share options were subsequently cancelled in July
2018. In August 2018, the Company granted share options to
eligible grantees under 2012 Scheme to subscribe for a total of
1,266,815,134 ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.001 each at
an exercise price of HK$0.102 per Share.

As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018, the exercise price of the share options granted in
August 2018 has been adjusted to HK$1.02 per Share and the
ordinary shares attributable to the share options granted on 6
August 2018 has been adjusted to 126,681,513 Shares. As at 31
March 2019, no share options were exercised.

Further details of the grant of share option were disclosed in the
Business Review under the paragraph headed “Grant and
cancellation of share options” of the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section and note 33 to the financial statements.

During the year, the Company also issued convertible notes under
general mandate for 2,111,902,494 conversion shares at conversion
price of HK$0.088 per conversion share in the principal amount of
HK$185,847,419 to the Investor.
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As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018, the conversion price for the CCBI Convertible Notes
has been adjusted to HK$0.88 per conversion share and the
conversion shares attributable to the outstanding CCBI Convertible
Notes as at 31 March 2019 have been adjusted to 211,190,249
Shares. As at 31 March 2019, the Company's total issued shares
were 1,568,176,188 Shares. As at 31 March 2019, no conversion
rights attaching to the CCBI Convertible Notes were exercised.

Further details of the issue of convertible notes were disclosed in the
Business Review under the paragraph headed “Issue of secured
guaranteed convertible notes under general mandate” of the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section and note 30 to the
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the
Company.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 74 to 75 and note 47 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, convertible instruments equity reserve,
distributable reserve, shareholder’s contribution, share option
reserve, warrant reserve and accumulated losses, which in aggregate
amounted to HK$2,447,211,000 (2018: HK$3,571,610,000) at 31
March 2019.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made no charitable contributions (2018:
Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group's
five largest customers represents approximately 34.2% of the
Group’s total revenue (excluding the Group’s dividend income and
net losses from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or
loss) and the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer
was approximately 13.5% (excluding the Group’s dividend income
and net losses from the sale of investments at fair value through
profit or loss, net).

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers represent approximately 72.2% of the Group’s
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier were approximately 34.0% of the Group's total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which to the Directors’ knowledge own more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has any shareholding in
the suppliers referred to above as at 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ye Ye (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Xiang Hong (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 29 April 2019)

Mr. Pun Hong Hai (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. Chow Mun Yee

Mr. Yang Haoying

Mr. Zhao Tong

Mr. Wang Xiaodong (resigned on 18 May 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. An Dong

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

In accordance with Articles 95 and 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Wong Xiang Hong, Ms. Chow Mun Yee, Mr. Yang
Haoying, Mr. Zhao Tong and Mr. Cheung Wing Ping will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2019, based on the register kept by the Company, the
interests of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:
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RARBEBRZER:

Deemed
Number of interests

shares  in number of Approximate

and shares and percentage of

underlying underlying the issued

Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares Total share capital
RIERKRH R

FrERGOR  MEBEROZE HE#ITRAR

BENA g0 HEROHEE HEREER e BHABEDL

Mr. Ye Ye Beneficial owner - 15,681,761(L) 15,681,761(L) 0.99%(L)
- Ja 5 A4 EmEa A (Note 1)
(PFET)

Mr. Pun Hong Hai Beneficial owner - 15,681,761(L) 15,681,761(L) 0.99%(L)
ERELEE EmfE A (Note 1)
(PFEET)

Ms. Chow Mun Yee Beneficial owner 800(L) 15,000,000(L) 15,000,800(L) 0.95%(L)
78 Gl EmEA (Note 2)
(PF3E2)

Mr. Yang Haoying Beneficial owner - 15,681,761(L) 15,681,761(L) 0.99%(L)
B REAE EmEA (Note 1)
(PFEET)

Mr. Zhao Tong Beneficial owner - 15,681,761(L) 15,681,761(L) 0.99%(L)
Y g BB A (Note 1)
(PF3ET)

Mr. An Dong Beneficial owner - 1,568,176(L) 1,568,176(L) 0.09%(L)
LZEREE EmE A (Note 1)
(BF3ET)

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping Beneficial owner - 1,568,176(L) 1,568,176(L) 0.09%(L)
SR & F A EmEA (Note 1)
(BFEET)
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Deemed
Number of interests

shares  in number of Approximate

and shares and percentage of

underlying underlying the issued

Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares Total share capital
BAERRAD R

FRERGKR  HEROHEE HEBRITRA

EEuA 514 HHEA IR B hER R B3 BMOBEDL

Mr. Fung Tze Wa Beneficial owner - 1,568,176(L) 1,568,176(L) 0.09%(L)
HFERLE ERlEA A (Note 1)
(HET)

Mr. Wu Keli Beneficial owner - 1,568,176(L) 1,568,176(L) 0.09%(L)
NSCWib ERlEAA (Note 1)
(HET)

Note 1: These share options were granted on 6 August 2018 by the ~ MI&1: ZEBEEHARRAN =T \F/\AXHA

Company under the 2012 Scheme.
Note 2: 100,000,000 share options (which was adjusted to
10,000,000 share options as a result of the share
consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018)
were granted on 23 April 2015 and 50,000,000 share
options (which was adjusted to 5,000,000 share options as
a result of the share consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018) were granted on 6 August 2018 by the
Company under the 2012 Scheme.

(L):  Long Position

The interests stated above represent the Director’s interests in the
Shares. Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by
the Company, at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors, chief
executives nor their associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors, or
their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER FERRRAEMA TG RER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND BinziER

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2019, based on the register kept by the Company, the R-ZE—AFZA=Z+—H BAQRRAGFEZE
following persons have interests or short position in the shares and =2 ATELS] - EA R B FF A S AR AR B E 5
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the  REFEKHIEI36IETE 2B LMATRE AT
Company’s issued share capital, as known to the Company or A THAERARNRQGTMD MBBIKD 2 R %
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to B AAR A2 3EITRAS%E A

Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

percentage
of the issued
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Total share capital
HEBITRA
FERREBRE B g1 FER L SR
Mr. Zhang Yongdong (Note 1) Beneficial owner 102,280,281 (L) 6.52% (L)
SRR T4 (KEEET) EmAA 102,280,281 (S) 6.52% (S)
China Huarong Asset Management Interest in controlled corporation 1,851,788,370 (L) 118.08% (L)
Co., Ltd. (Note 2)
FREREEETERMAERAR (MF2) RIZHEZEMNEZ
CHINA HUARONG INTERNATIONAL Interest in controlled corporation 662,139,076 (L) 42.22% (L)
HOLDINGS LIMITED (Note 3)
PR ERE IR AR A F (MEE3) S4B B
CHINA HUARONG MACAU (HK) Interest in controlled corporation 1,189,649,294 (L) 75.86% (L)
INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED (Note 4)
FREERRM (FB)REERERAR RIEEFEZENER
(FI5E4)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 5) Interest in controlled corporation 301,190,249 (L) 19.20% (L)
FRIESKRERREMTEAR (MFES) RZESEE RS
(L):  Long Position L: T&
(S):  Short Position (S): #KAE

Note 1: These shares were held by Galaxy Strategic Investment Co. Ltd., a MEET © 2% 1) M Galaxy Strategic Investment Co.
company wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yongdong. Ltd. (SRKRAEEZEHBZ AR FE -
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Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

28/E

These shares would be allotted and issued upon conversion in full of
the convertible bonds subscribed by CHINA HUARONG MACAU (HK)
INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED ("HUARONG MACAU (HK)") and
Cheery Plus Limited (“Cheery Plus”). HUARONG MACAU (HK) is
wholly-owned by China Huarong (Macau) International Holdings
Limited* B EGCRP)EKE R H BMR A F (“China Huarong
(Macau)”) which is controlled by Huarong (HK) Industrial and
Financial Investment Limited (“Huarong (HK) Industrial”) as to
approximately 51%. Huarong (HK) Industrial is wholly-owned by
Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Real Estate”) which is
wholly-owned by China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd.
("China Huarong Asset”). Cheery Plus is wholly-owned by Diamond
Path International Investments Limited which is wholly-owned by
Diamond Path Investments Limited which is wholly-owned by
Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited which is controlled
by Right Select International Limited (“Right Select”) as to
approximately 50.99%. Right Select is wholly-owned by China
Huarong International Holdings Limited which is owned by Huarong
Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Zhiyuan")
and Huarong Real Estate as to approximately 11.90% and
approximately 88.10%. Both Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real
Estate are wholly owned by China Huarong Asset.

These shares would be allotted and issued upon conversion in full of
the convertible bonds subscribed by Cheery Plus. Cheery Plus is
wholly-owned by Diamond Path International Investments Limited
which is wholly-owned by Diamond Path Investments Limited which
is wholly-owned by Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited
which is controlled by Right Select as to approximately 50.99%.
Right Select is wholly-owned by China Huarong International
Holdings Limited which is owned by Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong
Real Estate as to approximately 11.90% and approximately 88.10%.
Both Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real Estate are wholly owned
by China Huarong Asset.

These shares would be allotted and issued upon conversion in full of
the convertible bonds subscribed by HUARONG MACAU (HK).
HUARONG MACAU (HK) is wholly-owned by China Huarong
(Macau) which is controlled by Huarong (HK) Industrial as to
approximately 51%. Huarong (HK) Industrial is wholly-owned by
Huarong Real Estate which is wholly-owned by China Huarong
Asset.

These shares would be allotted and issued upon conversion in full of
the convertible notes held by Prosper Talent Limited (“Prosper
Talent”). Prosper Talent is wholly-owned by CCBI Investments
Limited which is wholly-owned by CCB International (Holdings)
Limited which is wholly-owned by CCB Financial Holdings Limited
which is wholly-owned by CCB International Group Holdings Limited
which is wholly-owned by China Construction Bank Corporation
which is controlled by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. as to
approximately 57.11%.

*for identification purpose only
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Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company at 31 March 2019 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or subsisting during
the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board, who are
authorised by the Shareholders in the annual general meeting,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive, details of the
scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company's Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company during the year. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares is held by the public as at the date of
this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions (which did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) for the year
ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 40 to the financial
statements.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and reqgulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company values its employees and maintains competitive
remuneration packages to motivate its employees. Throughout the
year, the Group continued to maintain good relationships with its
employees, customers, suppliers, service providers and investors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in the section of the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 48 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly
corporation. The Group promotes environmental practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycled paper and
reducing energy consumption of lightings and air-conditioning.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report is set out on
pages 42 to 50 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

A report on the corporate governance practices of the Company is
set out in pages 31 to 41 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2016 were audited by Ernst & Young.

The Board appointed Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 28 April 2017 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young such that
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017 were audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA
Limited.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited changed its name to Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited with effect from 4 June 2018. The consolidated
financial statements for each of the two years ended 31 March 2018
and 2019 of the Group have been audited by Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited, who will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION - MULITPLE
UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

As disclosed in sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditors’ report
contained on pages 66 to 69 of this report, the auditors of the
Company, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe” and the "Auditor”),
did not express an audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 (the
“2019 Consolidated Financial Statements”). Due to the significance
of the multiple uncertainties relating to going concern of the Group
given the fact that the Company was demanded for immediate
repayment of outstanding borrowings and a winding-up petition was
served against the Company, Crowe has not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriated audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on the 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements (the “Audit
Qualification™).

The Directors are taking measures to improve the liquidity and
solvency position of the Group, including (i) negotiations with
potential strategic investors in respect of a possible equity
contribution to the Company; (ii) negotiations with the lenders and
other creditors to defer or roll over the bank and other borrowings
of the Company; (iii) speeding up the collection of receivables
process; and (iv) tightening the operating cash outflows through
cutting costs and capital expenditures.
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Taking into accounts the above considerations and the 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements still showed net current assets of
HK$45 million and net assets of HK$3,126 million, the Board was of
the view that the Group would be able to continue as a going
concern and it is appropriate to prepare the 2019 Consolidated
Financial Statements based on a going-concern basis. The Board
considered the views of Crowe that these measures were not
concluded and implemented by 28 June 2019, i.e. the date of the
2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, and the outcomes of these
measures are not within the control of the Board. The Board
understood the consideration of Crowe in arriving their view towards
the Audit Qualification. Should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements to write down the value of assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In the course of approving the 2019 Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Audit Committee had a meeting with Crowe (the
“AC Meeting”). During the AC Meeting, it was reported by Crowe
to the Audit Committee on the basis of the Audit Qualification. The
Audit Committee reviewed the findings and reports by Crowe, and
considered the information provided by the Directors in relation to
the measures taken to improve the liquidity and solvency position of
the Group and the 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements still
showed net current assets and net assets as at 31 March 2019, the
Audit Committee was of the view that the Group would be able to
continue as a going concern and it was appropriate to prepare the
2019 Consolidated Financial Statements based on a going-concern
basis. The Audit Committee understood the view of Crowe, i.e.
those measures were not concluded and implemented as at the date
of the AC Meeting, i.e. 28 June 2019, the date of the 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements, and the outcomes of these
measures are not within the control of the Board, in arriving their
view towards the Audit Qualification.

As announced by the Company on 20 May 2019 in relation to,
among other things, adoption of restructuring strategies (the
“Announcement”), the Board resolved to adopt the Restructuring
Strategies with a view to facilitating a settlement with its creditors
and promoting the growth and development of the Group’'s
business.
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The Restructuring Strategies include the following:

(1) the Board will use its best endeavours to introduce strategic
investors to the Company with the aim of raising not less than
HK$500 million and seeking their operational and financial
support;

(2) the Company will actively engage in dialogues with its creditors
with a view to reaching an amicable settlement;

(3)  the Group will use its best endeavours to procure the collection
of the receivables from the debtors in the money lending
business of the Group which are currently outstanding; and

(4) the Board will identify new viable business opportunities with a
view to diversifying the existing business portfolio of the Group
and income streams, thereby improving the profitability of the
Group.

The Restructuring Strategies are subject to negotiations with the
creditors of the Company and other relevant stakeholders.

As set out in the Announcement, the Company and Individual A
entered into the MOU in relation to the Possible Subscription. Upon
completion of the Possible Subscription, Individual A and/or his
designees will hold not more than 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the subscription shares. As at the date
of this annual report, the Company has not entered into any formal
agreement with Individual A in relation to the Possible Subscription.

As announced by the Company on 9 June 2019 in relation to a
subscription of new shares of the Company under general mandate,
the Company and Individual B) entered into the Agreement,
pursuant to which, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions,
the Company agreed to allot and issue and Individual B agreed to
subscribe 300,000,000 new Shares. The 300,000,000 new Shares
represent 19.13% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of the Agreement and 16.06% of the issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
subscription shares. As at the date of this annual report, the
conditions precedent set out in the Agreement have not been
fulfilled.
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The Board has been in active discussion with each of the creditors to
reach a settlement and an amicable disposal of the Petition and the
request of immediate repayment of outstanding borrowings from
each of them.

The money lending team of the Group has taken follow-up measures
including sending reminder letters to borrowers for repayments,
arranging meetings with borrowers to request for immediate
repayments, performing financial re-assessments of borrowers, and
requesting assets proof from borrowers to cover their overdue
balances. For borrowers who cannot make required repayments to
the Group and the money lending team of the Group cannot get
satisfactory results from follow-up measures with such borrowers,
writs of summons will be served to commence legal proceedings
against such borrowers.

The Board has taken measures to tighten the operating cash
outflows through cutting costs and capital expenditures. These
measures included (i) freezing headcount of the Group by pausing
recruitment of new employees and replacement of resigned
employees; (ii) reducing office rental expenses by relocating certain
subsidiaries previously operated in other office locations to the same
office of the Company and rearranging the usage of existing office
space for better office space utilisation and cutting off one whole
floor tenancy to save costs; (iii) slowing down settlement of
operating costs by fully utilising the credit period granted by
suppliers and service providers, and arranging interim payments of
smaller amounts instead of one-off payments of bulk amounts; and
(iv) slowing down capital expenditures on computer and network
system upgrades of the Group.
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Subject to the successful and favorable outcomes of the (R FEMARE KR EXFTlEESHIAEHEK
Restructuring Strategies and measures taken by the Board discussed ~— INIERBEBERME WER A AR REEZ
above, and based on the assumption that the Company has no other ZE-ZF=A=+—HIFERREETET
issues to arise during the year ending 31 March 2020 which may ZEE4ZESEANBSGNEMBENRR &
affect the view of Crowe to the contrary, the Board has discussed EH&DHREESRENHITER ERREBELS
with Crowe and confirmed that, subject to the results of their audit W N —EEREFZHK -

work, the Audit Qualification would be removed in the next year’s

report.

On behalf of the Board REEST

Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited RReHBEERERAA

Ye Ye TE

Chairman g

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019 BA ZE-AFARAZTNAR
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A\ Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 70 to 251, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

On 12 March 2019 and 10 April 2019, the Company received demand
letters from lenders for immediate repayment of borrowings in
outstanding principal amounts of HK$784 million and HK$429 million
respectively. On 26 April 2019, the Company received a notice of event
of default from another lender to reserve its right to demand
immediate repayment for borrowings with an outstanding principal
amount of HK$777 million at 31 March 2019. On 10 June 2019, the
Company received a notice of event of default and repayment from an
additional lender for immediate repayment of borrowings in an
outstanding principal, together with accrued interest amount of
HK$719 million. In addition, on 10 May 2019, the Company received a
petition from one of the above lenders in the matter of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) from the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) that the Company be
wound up by the High Court on the ground that the Company is
insolvent and unable to pay its debts. These conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
about the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.

As further explained in Note 2.1, the directors of the Company are
taking measures to improve the liquidity and solvency position of the
Group. These measures include (i) negotiations with potential strategic
investors in respect of a possible equity contribution to the Company;
(i) negotiations with the lenders and other creditors to defer or roll
over the bank and other borrowings of the Company, (iii) speeding up
the collection of receivables process and (iv) tightening the operating
cash outflows through cutting costs and capital expenditures.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, these
measures had not yet been concluded or implemented. The validity
of the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements are prepared is dependent on the successful and
favourable outcomes of the measures taken by the directors of the
Company as described above. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the assumption that the Group will continue
as a going concern and, therefore, do not include any adjustments
relating to the realisation and classification of non-current assets and
non-current liabilities that may be necessary if the Group is unable to
continue as a going concern. Should the going concern assumption
be inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to reflect the
situation that assets may need to be realised at amounts other than
those currently recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position. In addition, the Group may have to provide for further
liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liabilities to any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because of
the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion section
of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Wai Dune, Charles.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2019

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number P00712

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
GLEBE®R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

2019
—E-NF
Notes HK$'000
B BT T
REVENUE Wy & 5
Cost of sales & B
Gross profit/(loss) ER, (18)
Other income and gains H o A K g 5
Fair value gains/(losses) on investments i #8 18 25 LA A SF{E 51 BR
at fair value through profit or loss, ZREZ RNFERE,
net (B#E)FHE
General and administrative expenses — M RITBAX
Provision for impairment loss of loans  [BUE R Z R EE B R #H F 8
receivable, net 21
Provision for impairment loss of FEWER S 2 R EBEREFE
accounts receivable, net 20
Provision for impairment loss of finance [EUEVE R E B 2 REFE
lease receivables BE 18
Other expenses, net HiRZ F5E
Finance costs BE KA 7
Share of profits and losses of associates 2 {FHi& QA A & — & & Q8
and a joint venture 2 A R EE 14 & 15
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BB ATER (EE) 6
Income tax expense PTG M5 2 10
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REFEEF (EBE)
Attributable to: THA LR
Owners of the Company PAN/NETEF =N
Non-controlling interests R R
EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE ARAAEBRESE ARG
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BREF, (EE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 11
Basic R
Diluted #a

2018
—T-N\F
HK$'000
BETT

500,469
(10,028)

490,441
497,320
25,366
(187,154)
(320,000)
(135,417)
(207,079)

160,907

324,384

(21,362)

303,022

269,894
33,128

303,022

(Restated)
(weE5)

B IEHKS$0.187T

B HEHKS0.177T

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — BEMIMsE B ASEHBRERNH — 2D -

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REEZEBARRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BT T BT T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REEEF (FB) 303,022
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  HZEUW A~ (EiE)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to  BREERBHEEN S EEER
be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEMEEEA (EE)
subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments: AHEERE:
Change in fair values NEEZ (2,829)
Reclassification of cumulative BEBERIHIERE
losses to the consolidated HENENOBERE
statement of profit or loss Bax
upon disposal of available-
for-sale investments 1,497
Reclassification of cumulative ZEH AR —HBE AR
gains to the consolidated HERENHOERRE
statement of profit or loss Baxk
upon disposal of an associate (10,862)
Reclassification of exchange EHZER—HBEQA
difference to the consolidated HEREMHIBEEERE
statement of profit or loss upon Bamx
disposal of an associate 2,422
Exchange difference arising on BMEBINRBELEZER
translating foreign operations =¥ 191,491
Share of other comprehensive DI ERE 2
income/(loss) of associates HEa2mEml A (EE) 14 (6,918)
Other comprehensive income not to be T E&REEEHMETDEE
reclassified to profit or loss in BazEMEEBA
subsequent periods:
Equity investments at fair value iR E M2 E WA AR T
through other comprehensive B 2 IRERE —1RE
income — net movement in EhFHEEZEFE
investment revaluation reserve (e
(non-recycling) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEFEHMEEBA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (BR#H#2) 174,801
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEEZ2EBA (FB) 858
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 477,823
Attributable to: THA LR
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZ ZS DN 441,365
Non-controlling interests FEE R M 36,458
477,823

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  BEMIB T @R XSS MERN—2 D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GEMBERRKE

371 March 2019 =F—hF=A=+—H

2018
S
HK$'000
BT

2019
ZE-hF
Notes HK$'000
k=2 BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WEREE 12
Goodwill SRS 13
Investments in associates REERAIZIEE 14
Investment in a joint venture R—HEERFZRE 15
Intangible assets mvEE 16
Other financial assets Hth e mEE 17
Finance lease receivables FE Y & M E R 18
Prepayments and deposits FERNRIEREZS 19
Total non-current assets ERBEELE
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Accounts receivable JE AR SR 20
Other financial assets Hih SR &E 17
Loans receivable FEWE K 21
Factoring receivables JiE R R 32 3R 08 22
Finance lease receivables FE R E B E FIB 18
Note receivable fEWE 23

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Restricted bank deposits

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing borrowings
Convertible instruments

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

BAFOR - RE RE B RIR
BRBHRARFEIKZERE

R HERITER
B RRTEH

MENEERE

nRBEE
JE A AR X
Hip e RAEREER
HEEE
AR TR
& F2 R

mERERE

RBEEFE

REERABAE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

19
24

25
26

27

29
30

14,943
660,674
143,470

17,145
667,445
247,763

16,945

1,768,385

546,305
1,833,235
1,266,824

323,614

301,709

600,000

49,497
408,497

190,899
1,302,157

6,822,737

97,220
136,074
690,130

33,927

957,351

5,865,386

7,633,771




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SmEMBERRIKRE

31 March 2019 =F—hAF=HA=+—H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
Convertible instruments
Deferred tax liability

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt BET T BT T
FRBER
H b fE A FOE 28 202,800
HEEE 29 1,390,693
AR T A 30 1,025,423
EERIBEE 31 3,500
IRBEaERAE 2,622,416
EEFE 5,011,355
s
AABEE AEMLES
BEITR A 32 15,663
& 34 4,288,078
4,303,741
FERER 707,614
W EE 5,011,355

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the &EARREZEFER _T—ALF A=+ /\Bit

Company on 28 June 2019 and were signed on its behalf by: B RETE  AHATALIRREARFEES
BE:
Ye Ye Wong Xiang Hong
- 2N
Director Director
BF =

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.

BERIP FE AR S M ISR — 8D -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 =%

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAEE
Available-
Convertible forsale
Share  instruments Share Capital investment  Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium equity option  Warrant redemption Distributable ~ Special ~ Statutory revaluation fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital - account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
e
AARTA AREE  EARD  THAR RAERE HERD

BERA ROERE RERE BRERE Ei &l B HARE ATER & B REEH 48 FikEs  EENE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
AETn BMTR BMTn A%Tn RMTR ARTn AMTn BETR A%t ABTn BMTR AETn RMTR TR ABTn

At 1 April 2017 RZE-+tERA-H 14324 2,229,745 - 23,08 20,648 485 189,975 35,131 412 (10,778) 19846 942,892 3,465,762 - 3,465,762
Profit for the year KEEEF - - - - - - - - - - - 269894 269804 33128 303022
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year: ~ AFEEM2EKA/ (8
Available-for-sale investments: AREERE:
Change in fair values ATERY - - - - - - - - - (2,829) - - (289 - 289
Redlassfication of cumulative losses to the ZHERNTRLERALERERD
consolidated statement of profit or loss BERARER
upon disposal of available-
for-sale investments - - - - - - - - - 1497 - - 1497 - 1497
Reclassification of cumulative gains to the St hER-HRERALERENS
consolidated statement of profit or loss BEGABER
upon disposal of an associate - - - - - - - - - (10.862) - - (10,862) - (10,862)
Reclassification of exchange difference to the EXZER-FBELTHERER
consolidated statement of profit or loss upon AREFARRRK
disposal of an associate - - - - - - - - - - 241 - 242 - 2402
Exchange difference arising on translating BERNEREL R EE
foreign operations - - - - - - - - - - 188161 - 188161 3330 191491
Share of other comprehensive incomefloss) of A EBERTZLHZERN/
an associate, net (BR)E8 - - - - - - - - -0 (060) - 6919 - 6919
Total comprehensive income for the year KEERENALE - - - - - - - - - 7949 163522 269894 441365 36458 477,823
Issue of convertible bonds ERaakEs - - 28343 - - - - - - - - - 283439 - 283439
Lapse of warrants RREEEN - - - - 688 - - - - - - 68 - -
Issue of shares upon exercise of warrants RIEAREERRARG 1377 538232 - - (13,765 - - - - - - - 525844 - 525844
Shares repurchased and cancelled BEERTHRR (56)  (263%9) - - - - - - - - - - (26419 - (26419
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible BRI RREHEEFRE
bonds 18 8,484 (1,842) - - - - - - - - - 6,660 - 6,660
Share issue expenses RHEART - (15779) - - - - - - - - - - (15779 - (15779
Non-controlling interests arising from acquision ~ REMBLAEEMFERER
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - 671,15 671,156
Share of reserve of an associate AM-ABERATHE - - - - - - (371139 - - - - - (377139 - (377139
Transfer 2B - - - - - - - - 7,993 - - (7.993) - - -
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NEZA=1-A 15663 2,734327% 281597 23,082* - 485%  (187,164)%  35,131* 8,405% (2,829) 183.368* 1211,676* 4303741 707,614 5,011,355

74  FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERR#EK

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADAREARLE
Available-  Investment
Convertible forsale  revaluation Retained
Share instruments Share  Capital investment ~ reserve  Exchange profits/ Non-
Issued  premium equity option redemption Distributable  Special  Statutory revaluation (non-fluctuation ~(accumulated controlling Total
capital  account  reseve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve recycing)  reserve losses) Total  interests equity
THLE  REER
TERIE 5B ThAR REER 8% MERD REEH/

CRfRR ROERE RaRE BREGE e BfF  RUGE ERER @ (FE4) B (RiER) 4E FEREE  REME
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKS000  HKEO0D  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000
BT ERTR RRTR  BRTR AT RRTR BMTR ERTn  ARTR  EETR BRI ERTR ERTR ERTR AT

At31 March 2018 RB-NEZAZt-H
Impact on intal applicaton of HKRFS 9 EREREERRRLEERNTE
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 R-F-)\EmA-REERES
Profitloss) for the year KEEER/ (BE)
Other comprehensive incomefloss) for the year: ~~ AEEAM2ERA/ (BE):
Exchange difference arising on translating RESNERELZENEE
foregn operations

Share of other comprehensive income of assodates A EEEREZ KRB
Equity investments at fair value through other FREMRERANATEDE RERE
comprehensive income - net movement in -REEHRERDIE (TAK)

investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

Total comprehensive incomel{oss) for the year FERRENA/ (BB)4E

Issue of convertible notes EITEREE

Issue of equitysettled share options BNEREEERE

Issue of shares upon conversion of convertble bonds T AR E#EREZARG
Transfer &%

At 31 March 2019 RZE-NEZA=1-B

* As at 31 March 2019, these reserve accounts comprise the consolidated * RZTE-—NF=ZA=+—0 ZSHEBERIE
reserves of HK$2,441,028,000 (2018: HK$4,288,078,000) in the BABBRABRRPOESRBBE
consolidated statement of financial position. 2,441,028,000t (& — N\F: B

4,288,078,0007T ) °

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — BEMIMIsE R A ST HBHRRN — 2D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—hWF=H=+—HIFFE

Notes

i

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of profits and losses of
associates and a joint venture
Interest income
Depreciation
Fair value gains/(losses) on
investments at fair value through
profit or loss, net
Gain on disposal of an associate
Gain on deemed disposal of
an associate
Gain on deemed disposal of a
joint venture

Provision for impairment loss of loans

receivable, net

Provision for impairment loss of
accounts receivable, net

Provision for impairment loss of
finance lease receivables

Reversal of provision for impairment
loss of factoring receivables

Equity-settled share option expense

Modification gain on convertible
bonds

Loss on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of other financial
assets, net

Impairment loss of accounts
receivable recognised

Decrease/(increase) in accounts
receivable

Decrease/(increase) in factoring
receivables

Decrease/(increase) in finance lease
receivables

Increase in loans receivable

Decrease in notes receivable

EERBELEZRERE

BRE AR, (BR)
AT IEBELREE:
AR

SEBEARR-AEAT

i ) K B 18
B HA
e

BERBRURATFEIRZERE
ZAFERE (ER)FE

HE — RS Nz W

R — B AR 2 W
BIEHE A B AT K
P B B R E S R R E
B 7 LA HR R

fEMEEREFIEZRERR

B

JE U R 38 BRIR 2 R (BB 1R B

B
At s i H B 2 P X2
AR E S Z BT W

HEME BELREBEBZ

[ E]

HEHRMSREE 2 WSFR

EREREWRR R ERE

e R FOR A, (48 0)
JEYWAR T2 FRIBR 4 (18 00)

FEY R B R E RIBR L
(18 hn)

& 4 B R AE N

&M =R

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

14 & 15

12

14

14

15

21

20

18

22

30

2018
=N\
HK$'000
AT T

324,384
207,079
(160,907)

(440,227)
4,759

(25,366)

(114,958)

(9,954)

(2,447)

320,000

135,417

(267,201)

(29,415)
(354,277)

(10,159)

133,471

(1,311,174)
400,000



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZE -F—hF=A=+—HILFE

Notes

oY i

Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Decrease/(increase) in investments at
fair value through profit or loss

B HR RS R KRR
20

8 1B 25 A2 T (B 315
ZRER D/ (H)

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable & BRZRIE A0, (Bl )

Decrease in other payables
and accruals

Cash used in operations
Interest received

Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash flows used in operating
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and
equipment
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Acquisition of associates
Proceeds from disposal of an associate
Proceeds from notes receivable
Purchase of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of
other financial assets
Repayment of promissory notes
Decrease in restricted bank deposits
Repurchase of shares

Net cash flows generated from/
(used in) investing activities

Hh fE 5 A KB R B AR A

EEMBACRSE
B KA E
EFE
EEH

EELTYPMBAZREREFHE

RETHHMEEZRERE

NEWME BB L& E

12
IR &M B A A) 35
Uk BE B 2 ) 14
HE—MBERAF2MERE
FEWE T A8 3
EEHMERMEE
HEEMBEMEEZBHRE

BREARER
R HERTTF OB
& o A

REZBFEL(BH)
ZREREFH

GEeEBEERER

2019 2018
—ZE-AF —E—\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

(11,936)

(21,031)
74,946

(10,279)

(1,139,854)
181,492
(92,585)
(12,540)

(1,063,487)

(13,237)
130,548
200,000
800,000
(545,953)

445,304

(1,825,200)
14,139
(26,415)

(820,814)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z - %

—NFZA=+—HIFFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of convertible
instruments

Exercise of warrants

Drawdown of borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Net cash flows generated from/
(used in) financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt BET T BT T
METEEE2REERE
BEITAAR T B 2 Fris 08
1,215,760
TR HERE 510,069
REREE 1,153,290
EEEE (316,315)
BESEEBEL (BA)
ZHREREFTE 2,562,804
RERBESSEYILEM, CGED)
HEE 678,503
ERRE) 2 HEFH
8,736
FHzRERBEEEY
614,918
FRZESRBESEEY
26 1,302,157
ReRBSEEYMZERDIWN
BERIBITEER 1,302,157

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B B R R B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 —FE— N F = =

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at
38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
referred to as the "Group”) were principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
and futures brokerage services, the provision of placing,
underwriting and margin financing services, the provision of
insurance brokerage and financial planning services, the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, the trading of
securities and futures, the provision of finance, the provision of
factoring, financial guarantee and finance leasing services, as
well as investment holding.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

1.

LFIREEEH
RReRBBERERAR ([ARF]) A
—ERHEHEEMRATZER AT A&
RAIZEEEEMB NN EBLRE IR
iR KE38E -

FR ARABALEMBAR (SHA RS
BDIERFSRRGEE BRREHRES
REERLIRY RHEE  BHEETRR
BIRTS - R R L NI KRB R - 12
HEXBMERERRSE BEEEFLHAE R
HEE  REHEE BREEREBEHEER
BIA R BB

FRANRBARZEHR
ARREEMBRARZFBOT:

Place of Percentage of equity

incorporation Issued ordinary interest attributable Principal

Name and operation share capital to the Company activities

R AR EFE BRTEERE AAFARERER DL TEXK

Direct Indirect
B 3

Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands ~ United States Dollars - 100 Investment holding
(the "BVI")Hong Kong ~ ("US$") 20,000,000

EMERRA EERNHS 20,000,000 7T RERR
([RBRLES])/BE (I%7])

Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong Dollars - 100 Provision of management services
("HK$") 2

RIEERRF & AR([E%]);m REERRY

Freeman Commodities Limited Hong Kong HK$35,000,000 - 100 Provision of futures brokerage

services

RREEERAA F% 51350000007 REBELLRHE

Freeman Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of corporate finance

advisory services

RRGCXRERRAA Bk 75#200,0007T RECEREBERY

Freeman Corporation Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$38 - 100 Investment holding

Hong Kong
RRERARAA REHS/ B BET REZR

RBREMMRERERAA
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R R M =

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=F—NF=H=+—

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

LRESKEEH 2

(Continued)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation Issued ordinary interest attributable Principal
Name and operation share capital to the Company activities
£ AR R &R E ERTEBRA RRARERERD L IEXK
Direct Indirect
HE B
Freeman Financial Investment Cayman Islands/ HK$48,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Corporation Hong Kong
Freeman Finandial Investment FMeRs/ &%  15548,000,0007 REER
Corporation
Freeman Financial Services Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
RReBRBEERAF & 87110,000,0007 REZR
Freeman Prestige Wealth Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of insurance brokerage
Management Limited services, financial planning and
related services
RSB EERAERATA Bk 7 %200,0007 RERRELE RS 2H%ERA
Bk
Freeman Securities Limited Hong Kong  HK$1,900,000,000 - 100 Securities brokerage, placing,
underwriting, margin financing,
investment holding and trading of
securities
RREHERAA & A%1,900,000,0007 BHEE RE BE ARRE
REARREEES
Freeman Union Limited BVI/Hong Kong HK$846,717,951 - 100 Investment holding and trading of
securities
Freeman Union Limited ABRREB/EE  AHB46717,951T REERREEERS
Freeman United Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
Freeman United Investments Limited B BB REAER
Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong  HK$2,280,279,678 - 100 Provision of finance
B BERAT B 812,280,279,678T RUEE
Wins Finance Holdings Inc. Cayman Islands/ US$1,984 - 67.1 Investment holding
("Wins Finance") The People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC")
Wins Finance Holdings Inc. REHs/ 1,984 T RARR
(TWins Finance |) PEAREANE
(THE])

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



Notes to the Financial Statements

Mﬁ‘iﬁ%zﬁﬁ‘?

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — / 7 HIFFE
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 27 R&KHE éﬁ (4)
(Continued)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation Issued ordinary interest attributable Principal
Name and operation share capital to the Company activities
&8 aMELRE £ BRETEBRA RAREGRERD IEEHK
Direct Indirect
J=§:3 i
REFERBHSRBERAA The PRC U5$30,000,000 - 100 Provision of factoring service
thE 30,000,000 7T RRRERS
ERBBEARE (RI)BRAF The PRC US$40,000,000 - 100 Provision of finance leasing service
hE 40,000,000% 7T REBERSRE
* These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises * ZEBERBABRBHRENEEFMHINEEE
under the PRC laws. -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in LEREI2ARFIMB AR AEETRAY
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for REECAFERERERTEZEIBEBRA
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of EEEEFETZHEMBO 2MBAF -
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the EERR WHEMHBEAR 2HEBS
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive BYHERARITEK -
length.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z_-ZE—NF=H —H it

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for other financial
assets and investments at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except where otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1GHREBE »)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits/(accumulated
losses), as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Going concern basis

On 12 March 2019 and 10 April 2019, the Company received
demand letters from lenders for immediate repayment of
borrowings in outstanding principal amounts of approximately
HK$784 million and HK$429 million respectively. On 26 April
2019, the Company received a notice of event of default from
another lender to reserve its right to demand immediate
repayment for borrowings with an outstanding principal
amount of approximately HK$777 million at 31 March 2019.
On 10 June 2019, the Company received a notice of event of
default and repayment from an additional lender for immediate
repayment of borrowings in an outstanding principal, together
with accrued interest amount of approximately HK$719 million.
In addition, on 10 May 2019, the Company received a petition
from one of the above lenders (the “Petition”) in the matter of
the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) from the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “High Court”) that the Company be wound up by the
High Court on the ground that the Company is insolvent and
unable to pay its debts. These conditions indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
about the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company are taking measures to improve
the liquidity and solvency position of the Group. These
measures include (i) negotiations with potential strategic
investors in respect of a possible equity contribution to the
Company; (ii) negotiations with the lenders and other creditors
to defer or roll over the bank and other borrowings of the
Company, (iii) speeding up the collection of receivables process
and (iv) tightening the operating cash outflows through cutting
costs and capital expenditures.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, these
measures had not yet been concluded or implemented. The
validity of the going concern assumption on which the
consolidated financial statements are prepared is dependent on
the successful and favourable outcomes of the measures taken
by the directors of the Company as described above. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
assumption that the Group will continue as a going concern
and, therefore, do not include any adjustments relating to the
realisation and classification of non-current assets and non-
current liabilities that may be necessary if the Group is unable
to continue as a going concern. Should the going concern
assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may have to be
made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be
realised at amounts other than those currently recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In addition, the
Group may have to provide for further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group's consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions

and Advance Consideration

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &iZ2 —&F— H i F &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of HKFRS
9, the adoption of the above new and revised standards has
had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. It sets out the
requirements for recognising and measuring financial
assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or
sell non-financial items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items
that existed at 1 April 2018 in accordance with the
transition requirements. The Group has recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore,

22 EHBEREKE $1152ﬁ§11

PEaN
(72,

BRTXEEREBEREVHREELEI
SRER BN R BT R] R ERT R
HUSHMBEBRRABEAYHEE -

AEBYEEBNAGTHERRERLZ
R E R e i -

() BEMBEHRESENFIREHMIA
FEMBHREEYNEIRMRAE LS
FHERIE3S 2 A T A - #Ea8 Kat
E-HFJeRMEE 2RMAGBLRE
BIFTHER NN AN 2R N

EHE

AEEDEBAERTEH T —\F
WA—BHEEMIEB EBEBEEH
BRELEAFSR - AEEEBE X
ERAMRFERRRE T —\F
WA —AMBE=MARE AL

comparative information continues to be reported under R EREEZRE BT ERIE39
HKAS 39. SR e
The following table summarises the impact of transition TREMBEERE Hﬁkiﬁ%ﬁ%/ﬁu
to HKFRS 9 on retained profits and reserves and the OE T - N\FMOH—-BRE
related tax impact at 1 April 2018. B R (2 2 2 DA A8 Fﬁmﬁ%%’s
HK$'000
BT T
Retained profits REB & F|
Recognition of additional expected credit losses R =Z— \FMNA — BB KAt E
on financial assets measured at amortised cost WemEERREIIEHREEBERR
and decrease in retained profits at 1 April 2018 & 3% @ 12,243
Available-for-sale investment revaluation AHHEREEMFHE
reserve
Transferred to investment revaluation reserve RZZE-NFOA—HEAKESHEHE
(non-recycling) relating to equity securities now  (NEU) A B3R B3 1B E b 2 UL A A
measured at fair value through other ANEEINRFENRETBLFRAIHLEES
comprehensive income and increase in BEEAREELEM
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
at 1 April 2018 2,829
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 228 BIRREESEE
DISCLOSURES (continued) (#&)

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(A8

ZEE

(i) BFEMBRELENFIREMIA

HK$'000
BT T
Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) REE L FE (FEUK)
Recognition relating to financial assets recorded at AN S REERB A AEME2H
cost now measured at fair value through other WA AR FEY RER
comprehensive income 39,289
Transferred from available-for-sale investment HEARAHEEREEHREEBEEHARER
revaluation reserve relating to equity securities HEa2EBA AR FET R 28R
now measured at fair value through other 7 75
comprehensive income (2,829)
Net increase in investment revaluation reserve RZE-NFUNA—HWNIEEEHFHE
(non-recycling) at 1 April 2018 (T EY)EHFEE 36,460
Non-controlling interests FERER
Recognition of additional expected credit losses on RZZ— \FWMA —HHRIZBEKN A E
financial assets measured at amortised cost and M & @& ERRBEINEREEEBBLIE
decrease in non-controlling interests at 1 April 2% JC R 2R
2018 898
Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to FHISHBRESNME R EURBE

ERE— T HBEIIMT

previous accounting policies and the transition approach

are set out below:

(a)

Classification of financial assets and financial
liabilities

HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three
principal classification categories: measured at
amortised cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at fair value through
profit or loss. These supersede HKAS 39's categories
of held-to-maturity investments, loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss. The classification of financial assets under
HKFRS 9 is based on the business model under
which the financial asset is managed and its
contractual cash flow characteristics.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — H1FFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(a) Classification of financial assets and financial

liabilities (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts
where the host is a financial asset in the scope of
the standard are not separated from the host.
Instead, the hybrid instrument as a whole is
assessed for classification.

The following table shows the original measurement
categories for each class of the Group’s financial
assets under HKAS 39 and reconciles the carrying
amounts of those financial assets determined in

accordance with HKAS 39 to those determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

(%)

(i) &

2. ERMBRREKE $E2ﬁ§

B BBELERNFIRERMTA

THEERTHBERBH D E

(%)

RIBEB B 3RS 2R FE o5
BRATENAZERNGEERNE
EEEEE’JG%’JE’M AT ETE

I/El\lz’] 5 e AR /tbl:alﬂ%z
55 i 1 I

TRITAEBESHEESHEE
REBEEBSSFTERFI95M R
AEFERER UBZESREE
LRESSFENFIRETE
MEEmMERZBE ST B RE
ERERETEE YR

HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amount at amount at
31 March 2018 Reclassification Remeasurement 1 April 2018
RZZ-N\F RZZ-N\F
=R=1-H mA-A
ERETEL ERBERE
E39REREE EfOE EffitE REEOREKEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BT BETT
Financial assets carried at RE AR RN S
amortised cost EE
Accounts and other JE MR 3% R E A JE W 3K08
receivables 587,257 - (2,441) 584,816
Loans receivable FEWE R 1,266,824 - (6,334) 1,260,490
Factoring receivables eI {RI2FRIA 323,614 - (1,618) 321,996
Finance lease receivables U RMBTRENR
— non-current portion e 3L iE ) 247,763 - (1,239) 246,524
Finance lease receivables BB ENR
~ current portion — B E 2 301,709 - (1,509) 300,200
Restricted bank deposits XBRHRTER 190,899 - - 190,899
Note receivable EREE 600,000 - - 600,000
Cash and bank balances ReRRTEA 1,302,157 - - 1,302,157
4,820,223 - (13,141) 4,807,082
Financial assets measured ZEBEM2EBRANAF
at fair value through BIRNEREE
other comprehensive (FE )
income (non-recycling)
Equity securities (note (i)  FRZA#E % (M 3E()) - 667,445 39,289 706,734
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

()

22 BB RREESRZEE

DISCLOSURES (continued) (4&)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued) (i) EARUEREEAFIREMIA
(a) Classification of financial assets and financial (a) 2HEERLHBEENTHE
liabilities (Continued) (%&)
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amount at amount at
31 March 2018 Reclassification Remeasurement 1 April 2018
R-ZZ-N\F RZE-N\§
=A=+-H mA—H
EAEER BEBRNBERE
39 IREE Eiig] EFTE ERENIRAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Financial assets carried at  EBEFUQ FEFIRA
fair value through tREE
profit or loss
Investments at fair value FHBRUDTEETIR
through profit or loss ZRE (M)
(note (ii) 408,497 - - 408,497
Wealth management products BT E & B E 7
(note (iii)) (PR 2 i) ) - 1,833,235 - 1,833,235
408,497 1,833,235 - 2,241,732
Financial assets classified as HRI5E B EFTERIF395E
available-for-sale under ~ 2EATHRHLENSH
HKAS 39 (notes (i), (iii)) B2 (PG (i) 2,500,680 (2,500,680) - -

Notes:

@

(if)

(iii)

Under HKAS 39, equity securities not held for trading
were classified as available-for-sale financial assets. These
equity securities are classified as at fair value through
profit or loss under HKFRS 9, unless they are eligible for
and designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income by the Group. At 1 April 2018,
the Group designated these equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income (non-recycling), as
the investments are held for strategic purposes.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss were
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss under HKAS 39. These assets continue
to be measured at fair value through profit or loss
under HKFRS 9.

Under HKAS 39, wealth management products were
classified as available-for-sale financial assets. They
are classified as at fair value through profit or loss
under HKFRS 9, unless they are eligible for and
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income by the Group.
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22 BRI ERIERSE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification of financial assets and financial

liabilities (Continued)

For an explanation of how the Group classifies and
measures financial assets and recognises related
gains and losses under HKFRS 9, see the respective
accounting policy notes in notes 2.4(i), (j) and (n).

The measurement categories for all financial
liabilities remain the same, except for financial
guarantee contracts (see note 2.4(k)). The carrying
amounts for all financial liabilities (including
financial guarantee contracts) at 1 April 2018 have
not been impacted by the initial application of
HKFRS 9.

The Group did not designate or re-designate any
financial asset or financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss at 1 April 2018.

Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS
39 with the “expected credit loss” (“ECL") model.
The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of
credit risk associated with a financial asset and
therefore recognises ECLs earlier than under the
“incurred loss” accounting model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to the
following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including accounts and other receivables,
loans receivable, factoring receivables, finance
lease receivables, restricted bank deposits and
cash and bank balances); and

- financial guarantee contracts issued.

Further details on the Group's accounting policy for
credit losses are disclosed in note 2.4(j).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Credit losses (Continued)
The following table reconciles the closing loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKAS 39
as at 31 March 2018 with the opening loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9
as at 1 April 2018.

22 BB RREESRZEE

(A
(i) BRUBHREEAFEIREMIEA

,

425 )
-V,

i

B

(b) FEEE(E)
TRIFRRZ=ZFE-NF=ZA
=T BZRBESFEAE
3REEE W RE B A A ER
T N\FMA-BRREB
B R S OSRE E My BT

EERENEER-
HK$'000
BT
Loss allowance at 31 March 2018 under RZE—NEFE=ZA=+—HIRE
HKAS 39 BB ERFEIENEEREE 455,417
Additional credit loss recognised RZZE-NFNHNA—BRUATIEE BER
at 1 April 2018 on: HFEIMEEEE
— Accounts receivable — AR K 2,441
— Loans receivable —REKE R 6,334
— Factoring receivables — IR IR FRIR 1,618
— Finance lease receivables — R ERERIE 2,748
Loss allowance at 1 April 2018 under HKFRS 9 R —Z— \&F M A— AR E
ERYVBHREENEIOFNEIERE 468,558

(c) Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the
adoption of HKFRS 9 have been applied
retrospectively, except as described below:

- Information relating to comparative periods
has not been restated. Differences in the
carrying amounts of financial assets resulting
from the adoption of HKFRS 9 are recognised
in retained profits and reserves as at 1 April
2018. Accordingly, the information presented
for 2018 continues to be reported under HKAS
39 and thus may not be comparable with the
current period.

- The following assessments have been made on
the basis of the facts and circumstances that
existed at 1 April 2018 (the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 by the Group):

- the determination of the business model
within which a financial asset is held; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z=F—/

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(i

(i)

(iii)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(c) Transition (Continued)

- the designation of certain investments in
equity instruments not held for trading
to be classified as at fair value through
other comprehensive income (non-
recycling).

- If, at the date of initial application, the
assessment of whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition would have involved undue cost or
effort, a lifetime ECL has been recognised for
that financial instrument.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 Revenue, which
covered revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering
of services, and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, which
specified the accounting for construction contracts. The
adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any material impact
on the financial position and the financial result of the
Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

This interpretation provides guidance on determining “the
date of the transaction” for the purpose of determining
the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) arising
from a transaction in which an entity receives or pays
advance consideration in a foreign currency.

The interpretation clarifies that “the date of the
transaction” is the date on initial recognition of the non-
monetary asset or liability arising from the payment or
receipt of advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance of recognising the
related item, the date of the transaction for each
payment or receipt should be determined in this way. The
adoption of HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 does not have any material
impact on the financial position and the financial result of
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED
HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2019 and which have not been early adopted
in these financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 & Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®
Annual Improvements 2015-2017 ~ Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
Cycle HKAS 12 and HKAS 23!

Amendments to HKAS 1 & HKAS 8  Definition of Material?

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z=F—/

2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED 23 EH/HGERBE_S—NE=

HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments, new standards and
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has identified some aspects of
HKFRS 16 which may have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements. Further details of the
expected impacts are discussed below. While the assessment
has been substantially completed for HKFRS 16, the actual
impact upon the initial adoption of this standard may differ as
the assessment completed to date is based on the information
currently available to the Group, and further impacts may be
identified before the standard is initially applied in the Group’s
interim financial report for the six months ended 30 September
2019. The Group may also change its accounting policy
elections, including the transition options, until the standard is
initially applied in that financial report.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED

HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability
is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the
classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in
relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease payments
are presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be
presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% — & — = HIFFE

2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED

HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$32,296,000 (2018: HK$78,848,000)
as disclosed in note 39. A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$4,733,850 (2018: HK$9,308,000) as rights
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition
of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may be
adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above but will not have a material adverse impact on
the Group's financial performance in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Investments in a joint venture and associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term equity interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in a joint venture and associates
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of the associate and the
joint venture is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate or
its joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associate or the joint venture,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is
included as part of the Group’s investments in an
associate or a joint venture.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

24FERHBRCBE

(a)

R—EEERAARBELTZRE
BEQREASE-REFETIRN
20% AR R 2 KA - WAl H
HETEBAREN 2R ERFE
NEEBSERKREBR M RE
BRRARZEN BHBEERRY
BIEGIE S ESIE-

ERAE—BAEERE BRHE
ARZHIR TN BRILERER
ZEEFERAREN  KFREHE
MENBEY —BLHEMAEZE
# HAZEHEEEREDEREE
ZHIE AT ER —BRABZRE
BFE-

PN
B
=

~

il

R
G

e

7

AEER-—REERAMBERRZ
RENEDRGMEARASEEREE
FEMRERDREBRESR S M BR
MRRINEK AR TR EABERE
ETHBAEZER B

AEBEDEBERRIRAERFZI
BrEENMEME2EBADBIFT AL
EEaRLFAEMEERA L
S BEHBREERRBERRHEER
FEmER 2 BB AEBERER
D2 EMES (WEB) NG #
DB RER - NREEEYERA]
REBRAIRFAELE Z REBR W
REBUARERBEZEARHEGER
AlzHRERBREHE HERHABRER
BREBEBERTEREEE L BRRER
Sho N E RBIRAERAELLZ
BEGFAXTKERBERRREER
AZRE -



For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

24FERHBRZEBE (»)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Investments in a joint venture and associates
(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other
cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate
or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate or the joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for the control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its other financial assets and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_-F—NF=H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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(e)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% — & — F

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(e) Related parties (Continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

(f) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such part as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over is estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 15%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures 15%
and equipment
Computer equipment 333%

Motor vehicle 20% - 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Trading rights

Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and The Hong Kong Futures Exchange
Limited (the “Futures Exchange”) with indefinite useful
lives. They are carried at cost less any impairment losses.

Leases

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)

Finance leases

A finance lease is a lease that the Group as the lessor
uses to transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee.
At the commencement of the lease term, the Group
recognises the minimum lease amounts receivable by the
Group as a finance lease receivable and records the
unguaranteed residual value as an asset within the same
category. The difference between (a) the aggregate of the
minimum lease amounts and the unguaranteed residual
value and (b) their present value (presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as finance
lease receivables) is recognised as unearned finance
income. Minimum lease amounts are the payments over
the lease term that the lessee is or can be required to
make plus any residual value guaranteed to the lessor by
the lessee, or a party unrelated to the lessor.

Unearned finance income is allocated to each period
during the lease term using the effective interest method
that allocates each rental between finance income and
repayment of capital in each accounting period in such a
way that finance income is recognised as a constant
periodic rate of return (implicit effective interest rate) on
the lessor’s net investment in the lease. Lease agreements
for which the base rent is based on floating interest rates
are included in minimum lease payments based on the
floating interest rate existing at the commencement of
the lease; any increase or decrease in lease payments that
result from subsequent changes on floating interest rate
is recorded as an increase or a decrease in finance lease
income in the period of the interest rate change.

Initial direct costs, such as commissions, legal fees and
internal costs that are incremental and directly
attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease, are
included in the initial measurement of the finance lease
receivables and reduce the amount of income recognised
over the lease term.

See notes 2.4(i) and 2.4(j) for accounting policies for
derecognition and impairment of finance lease
receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Investments and other financial assets

(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2AFERHRECEE &)
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued) (i)

g

RERHMERMEE (£)
(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued) (a) BE=-ZE—NFHE—HBHEH

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=F—NF=H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

()

(a)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at
fair value through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated
from the host and accounted for as a separate
derivative if the economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to the host; a separate
instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative;
and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only
occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair
value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted
for separately. The financial asset host together with
the embedded derivative is required to be classified
in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial investments, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that
are attributable to the acquisition of the financial
assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends on these financial assets.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss are designated
at the date of initial recognition and only if the
criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — HIFFJE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are
accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded
at fair value if their economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not held for
trading or designated as at fair value through profit
or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out
of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in
other income and gains in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —-E—hWF=H=+—HI FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted
equity investments and debt securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those
which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Debt securities in this category are those which are
intended to be held for an indefinite period of time
and which may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in other income, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest
and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as
interest income and dividend income respectively
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the
variability in the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the
range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at
cost less any impairment losses.
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(c)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — 1E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
The Group evaluates whether the ability and
intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets
in the near term are still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold
the assets for the foreseeable future or until
maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-
for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at
the date of reclassification becomes its new
amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that
asset that has been recognised in equity is
amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the
maturity amount is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity
is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 and prior to
1 April 2018

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (that is, removed
from the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 and prior to
1 April 2018 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what
extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% — & — F

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of financial assets

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Company expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next
12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —-E—hWF=H=+—HI FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

()]

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

For financial assets, except for margin client
receivables, the Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due. The
Group considers these financial assets are in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

For margin client receivables, the Group considers
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when clients cannot meet margin call requirement
and uses the loan-to-collateral value (“LTV") to
make its assessment. The Group considers a margin
client receivable is in default when payments under
the margin call requirement are 30 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a margin client receivable to be in default
when there is a margin shortfall which indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, taking into account the
pledged securities held by the Group. A margin
client receivable is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they
are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
and finance lease receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — H it FJZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j)) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Stage 1- Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 2-

Stage 3- Financial assets that are credit impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component and
finance lease receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_-F—NF=H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()]

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that
a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (that
is, the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j)) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018
(Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

(Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity
instrument that is not carried at fair value because
its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’'s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=F—NF=H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()]

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the
Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that an
investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortisation) and its
current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, objective evidence would include
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
an investment below its cost. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the
fair value has been below its original cost. Where
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss,
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that investment previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as
available for sale are not reversed through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other
factors, the duration or extent to which the fair
value of an investment is less than its cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — 7 H 1 FJZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts (Policy applicable from

1 April 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set
out in “Impairment of financial assets (policy applicable
from 1 April 2018)"; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

()

(m)

(n)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Policy applicable prior

to 1 April 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (i) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are
not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Revenue recognition

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group's assets under leases in
the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_-F—NF=H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

(@) income from the sale of equity and debt securities,
on a trade-date basis;

(b) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established;

(¢) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset;

(d) insurance brokerage income, the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the
relevant insurance policy become effective in
accordance with the commission terms of the
underlying agreements entered into with insurance
policy issuers;

(e) corporate finance advisory income, the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the
customer has received the service from the Group.
The customer receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group when the relevant services
are rendered. The payment is generally due upon
the services are rendered;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

(f)

commission and brokerage income from securities
and futures dealings, the performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time when the customer has
received the service from the Group, generally when
the trades are executed. Commission and brokerage
income from securities and futures dealings are
generally due within two days after trade dates;

underwriting and placing commission income, the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the customer has received the service from
the Group. The customer receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group when the relevant
services are rendered;

commission income from guarantee services is
recognised when guarantee contracts have been
made whereby the related guarantee obligations
have been accepted, the economic benefits
associated with the guarantee contracts will
probably be realised, and the amount of revenue
associated with the guarantee contracts can be
measured reliably;

factoring income, the performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time when the customer has
received the service from the Group. The customer
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group when the relevant services are rendered; and

finance lease income, under finance lease is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss using the effective interest rate implicit in the
lease over the term of the lease. Contingent rent is
recognised as income in the period in which it is
earned.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_-F—NF=H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(r)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

Revenue was recognised when it was probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

income from the sale of equity and debt securities,
on a trade-date basis;

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment had been established;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset;

insurance brokerage income, on the inception of the
associated insurance policy;

corporate finance advisory income, when the
relevant services had been rendered;

commission and brokerage income from securities
and futures dealings, on a trade-date basis;

underwriting and placing commission income, when
the relevant services had been rendered;

commission income from financial guarantee
services was recognised when guarantee contracts
had been made whereby the related guarantee
obligations had been accepted, the economic
benefits associated with the guarantee contracts will
probably be realised, and the amount of revenue
associated with the guarantee contracts can be
measured reliably;

factoring income, when the relevant services had
been rendered; and

finance lease income, under finance lease is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss using the effective interest rate implicit in the
lease over the term of the lease. Contingent rent is
recognised as income in the period in which it is
earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and other
employees of the Group and of its investee entities, and
any consultant, advisor or agent engaged by or business
partners of any member of the Group or any investee
entity), who render services and/or contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Employees (including
directors) and advisors of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled
transactions, no account is taken of any performance
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of
the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. In this
case, the fair value of the share options is determined by
external valuers using a binomial option pricing model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z=-F—hF=H —HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of
an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards
include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employees/advisors as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Share-based payments” above.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, each
of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required to
participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised by
the local municipal government whereby the Group is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of its employees to the retirement benefit scheme.
Contributions made to the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z=-F—hF=H —HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (that is,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currency of certain PRC subsidiaries is
Renminbi ("RMB"”). As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollar at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of PRC subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % —Z— H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24FEE ..+rtsz%zm§
POLICIES (continued)

(w) Convertible instruments

TJ] ]H

(w) A#RETIA

Convertible instruments that contain an equity

component

Convertible instruments that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion and
the value of the consideration that would be received at
that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible instruments is measured at fair value based on
the present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The equity
component is initially recognised at the difference
between the fair value of the convertible instruments as a
whole and the fair value of the liability component.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of a compound
financial instrument are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible instruments equity reserve
until either the note is converted or redeemed.

If the convertible instrument is converted, the convertible
instruments equity reserve, together with the carrying
amount of the liability component at the time of
conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the
convertible instrument is redeemed, the convertible
instruments equity reserve is released directly to retained
profits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z —-ZE—/1F

3.

H=+—[ |FEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

(a) Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimates,
management has prepared the consolidated financial
statements on the assumption that the Group will be able
to operate as a going concern in the coming year, which
is a critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The assessment of the going concern assumption involves
making a judgement by the directors of the Company, at
a particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
directors of the Company consider that the Group has the
capability to continue as a going concern and the major
events or conditions, which may give rise to business
risks, that individually or collectively may cast significant
doubt upon the going concern assumption are set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. FEEHAERMGEAE &)
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Bt TREM (&)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets measured at

amortised cost

The Group reviews portfolios of financial assets measured
at amortised cost to assess whether any impairment
losses exist and the amount of impairment losses if there
is any indication of impairment. Objective evidence for
impairment includes observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows for financial assets measured at amortised cost. It
also includes observable data indicating adverse changes
in the repayment status of the debtors, or change in
national or local economic conditions that causes the
default in payment.

The impairment loss for financial assets measured at
amortised cost using the expected credit loss model is
subjected to a number of key parameters and assumptions,
including the identification of loss stages, estimates of
probability of default, loss given default, exposures at
default and discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking
information and other adjustment factors. The expected
credit losses for financial assets measured at amortised cost
are derived from estimates whereby management takes into
consideration historical data, the historical loss experience
and other adjustment factors. Historical loss experience is
adjusted on the basis of the relevant observable data that
reflect current economic conditions and the judgment based
on management’s historical experience. Management
reviews the selection of those parameters and the
application of the assumptions regularly to reduce any
difference between loss estimates and actual loss.

(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c) Provisions for guarantee losses

The Group makes reasonable estimate on costs required
to fulfil the relevant obligation of guarantee contracts
when the Group computes the provisions of guarantee
losses. Such estimation is made based on the available
information as at the balance sheet date and is
determined by the Group’s practical experience, taking
into consideration of industry information and market

data.

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. At 31 March 2019, other non-financial
assets of the Group include intangible assets, goodwill
and investments in associates and a joint venture.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Investments in associates and a joint venture are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value-in-use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate

the present value of those cash flows.

(e) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning

strategies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

4. EERWEH

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) trading of securities and futures segment engages in the
purchase and sale of securities and futures investments;

(b)  provision of finance segment engages in the provision of
financing services in Hong Kong;

(c) insurance brokerage business segment engages in
insurance brokerage business and the provision of
financial planning and related services;

(d) securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing segment engages in the provision
of securities and futures brokerage services, the provision
of placing, underwriting and margin financing;

(e) factoring, financial guarantee and finance leasing
segment engages in the provision of factoring, financial
guarantee and finance leasing services and related
activities;

(f)  investment holding segment engages in holding investments
for continuing strategic or long-term purposes, primarily for
dividend income and capital appreciation; and

(g) corporate finance advisory segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance advisory services and
related activities.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that bank and
other interest income (excluding interest income from the
provision of finance, margin financing, factoring and finance
leasing activities), finance costs as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to independent third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z_-F—NF=A=+—HIFFZ

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESHEH »)
(Continued)
No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating HE-_T-NEFRZZT—N\F=A=1—
segments was provided to the management for review during AEFE UERERSERRETGHM
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 for the purposes of EREEBREAERIREESHEEAINEE
resources allocation and performance assessment. LBESN AHESERN-
Year ended 31 March 2019/As at 31 March 2019 BE-_ZT-NWF=A=+—-BLEE R
—E-AE=ZB=+-—8H
Securities
and futures

brokerage, Factoring,
placing, financial

Trading of Insurance underwriting  guarantee Corporate
securities Provision  brokerage  and margin  and finance  Investment finance
and futures  of finance business  financing leasing holding advisory Total
5N
#ELL. RE
25k RREL RE BER REERR

HERE  RHRE ¥%  AREME  RMERE  REERR LRMERE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT ERTn BRTn BRTr BRI BETn BRTRn RETn

Segment revenue: PENE:

Sales to external customers  H5VBEP 7 HE

Intersegment sales HEREE

Reconciliation: HE:

Elimination of intersegment 2 BRI HEL #
sales

Total revenue haiE

Segment results: PEXE:

Reconciliation: HE:

Bank interest income RITFIEMA

Other interest income EfF SR

Investment income on other Rt BEEZRE
financial assets BA

Corporate and other RARAMAS KRS
unallocated expenses

Finance costs BERK

Loss before tax BHRAEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #EZ=F—hNF=HA=+—HIFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESRMEH »)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019/As at 31 March 2019 BE-Z-NE=B=+—HBLEE R
(Continued) —E-AFE=ZA=+—R8(£&)
Securities
and futures

brokerage,  Factoring,
placing, finandial

Trading of Insurance underwriting  guarantee Corporate
securities Provision  brokerage  and margin  and finance  Investment finance
and futures  of finance business  financing leasing holding advisory Total
%R
#EEL. RE-
&5 R REEL RE-BER REERR

HERE  RiRE ¥%  AREE  RMERE  RERR LXRERR 8%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT ERTn BRTn BRTR ERTx BETn ERTRn RETn

Other segment information: 465 B4#:

Share of profits of associates 7 {EEE 27 R
and a joint venture —~HAERAET

Provision for impairment loss R E 2 HERE
of loans receivable, net  BEFE

Provision for impairment loss EAREE 3T 2 HIEE B
of accounts receivable, et E&F B

Provision for impairment loss BB ER &AL
of finance lease receivables  HERERE

Depreciation ik
- operating seqment -BEA8
- unallocated -RARE

Investments in associates ~ NEEERTZRE
Other financial assets EhemEE

Capital expenditure EARY
- operating segment -@eni
- unallocated -RAE
* These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * ZESHERBEYE BEKREE-
equipment.

RBEEMBRERARAT 139

INTECH FREEMAN FINTECH rreeman riNTEch FREEMAN FINTE



140

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% —ZF —

4.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2018/As at 31 March 2018

4. BEESWEH &)

BE-ZE-—-N\E=A=+—-BLEE R
—E-NE=ZA=+—H

Securities
and futures
brokerage, Factoring,
placing, financial
Trading of Insurance  underwriting guarantee Corporate
securities Provision brokerage  and margin ~ and finance  Investment finance
and futures of finance business financing leasing holding advisory Total
E5 R
feag. 7B
EEY RefR KE 9HR BAERR
HREE  R{RE £%  AREE  RERE  RESR CF¥REAER g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ARTr  B%Tn BETR BETR RB%Tr E%fr BBTr BETx
Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to exteral customers  HSNIEF 2 & 63,738 225390 8378 139,522 63,321 - 120 500,469
Intersegment sales HEREE - - - 66 - - - 66
63738 22539 8378 139588 63,321 - 20 50053
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment 7 B #E 44
sales (66)
Total revenue fsnag 500,469
Segment results: FEXE: 73,057 (362,861) (4,972) (64,612) 41,481 788,803 (1372) 469,524
Reconciliation: R
Bank interest income RITHBRA 285
Other interest income HipH SR 123
Investment income on ARHERE CRERA
available-for-sale
investments 79,540
Corporate and other RARERKAERT
unallocated expenses (18,009)
Finance costs BERKK (207,079)
Profit before tax B aER 304,384
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M’"%’z%ﬁﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #{ 2 =F—NF=H=+—HIF)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2018/As at 31 March 2018

4. BESWEH &)

BE-_2—\E=A=+—HLEE R

(Continued) —E-NE=ZA=+—-RH(#&)
Securities
and futures
brokerage, Factoring,
placing, financial
Trading of Insurance  underwriting quarantee Corporate
securities Provision brokerage  and margin ~ and finance  Investment finance
and futures of finance business financing leasing holding advisory Total
Ak
EEEE RE
5k Regg EE 28k REERR
HEEE  RYRE £%  AREE  REEE  RESR CF¥REER h%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BgTr  B¥Tn BETR BETR B%Tr EEfr BBTr BETx
Other segment information: £ A& :
Share of profits of an assocate 216 —FEER TR
and a joint venture —AaE AR - - - - - 160,907 - 160,907
Provision for impairment loss EREF 2 HEFBRE
of loans receivable - (320,000) - - - - - (320,000)
Provision for impairment loss  FEREE 2 A EE B &
of accounts receivable - - - (135,417) - - - (135,417)
Depreciation ik
- operating segment ~RENE - - - (498) (2,096) - - (2,594)
- unallocated i (2,165)
(4,759)
Investment in a joint venture X —FAEREZRE - - - - - 143,470 - 143,470
Available-for-sale investments {4t & 1 & - - - - 183323 667,445 - 2,500,680
Capital expenditure BARX
- operating segment -BELE - - - 571 581 - - 1,152
- unallocated -RAE 12,085+
13,237
* These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * ZECHERBEME BWERFZE-
equipment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

4. EEHSWEEH »#)

Hong Kong BA
The PRC =8
Total @y

The geographic location of revenue from external
customers is based on the location of the customers at
which the services were rendered.

(b) Non-current assets

hE & B
(a) REIBEEZWE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
437,148
63,321
500,469

KEIMNBER 2 et 2 IR B TY R
R IRTS 2 b BE & 2 o

(b) FARBEE

Hong Kong BE
The PRC h
Total et

The geographic location of the non-current assets is
based on the location of the operations to which they are
allocated.

Information about major customers
Included in revenue arising from major customers which
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group's revenue for

2019 2018
—E-hE —ET-N\%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
191,267

661,910

853,177

FERBEEZMBUEENESR
EZREMEE D -

EHREXEREFMNEHR
BREEXRBIERPZWE &HAKH
REZWEFEBI0% :

the year:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Provision of finance RHEmRE
Customer A ZEA -
Customer B =FPB 69,141

142 FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED




Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt ¥5 AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about major customers (Continued)

The Group's dividend income and gains/(losses) from the sale
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are excluded
from total revenue for the purpose of identifying major
customers of the Group who accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents interest income earned from the provision
of finance; dividend income from investments at fair value
through profit or loss; net gains/(losses) from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit or loss; insurance
brokerage income; corporate finance advisory fee; commission
and brokerage income from securities and futures dealings;
commission from underwriting and placing services; interest
income on margin financing activities; commissions and fees
from financial guarantee services; factoring interest income and

4.

finance lease interest income during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

BEYHEEH »#)

EBEXEEFNER (&)
REEREBBIBFRUATEYEREZIRE
ZRBWA R (BIE) Tt AUk
moREUBEAEEZFERF  HIGAE
B BB 10% °

Wiz HAl A Rl i

W R FRIRHBRA G2 FIBRA B
BEFADTEFIEZ REZREWA
Hi R F B A D T EIR 2 1R E 2 Woas
/BB B8 RREERA CERE
BRE: B5RAEEEMAS RGEEA
BHRREREAS FRALEHZH
BUA BERRBHASREA: URR
R BWA KB EREF BN -

Yoak A A RS Z DT

2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
BET T

2018
—E—)N\F
HK$'000
BT T

Revenue
Interest income from provision of finance
Dividend income from investments at
fair value through profit or loss
Gains/(losses) from the sale of
investments at fair value through
profit or loss, net (note a)
Insurance brokerage income
Corporate finance advisory fee
Commission and brokerage income
from securities and futures dealings
Commission from underwriting
and placing services
Interest income on margin
financing activities
Commissions and fees from financial
guarantee services
Factoring interest income
Finance lease interest income

Uz
RRHBEEZFEWA
BRBmUAFEEIEZRE
Z B A
HEFSBEIZAXNFETEZ
BEZWE (BEB)FE
(MfsEa)
R LA
TERERDE
BEMHBHEEERES R
SN
BEMEEREHEE

FREEEHZHBRA
REERREESNLER

RIZF S HA
BMEBEENBBA

225,390
5,250
58,488
8,378
120
51,569
4,012
83,941
12,373

14,573
36,375

500,469

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. k HttkARIE &)

144

(Continued)
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Other income and gains H U A R Uk &
Bank interest income RITH S WA 285
Other interest income E bR B WA 123
Investment income on other HEthemEEZHRERA
financial assets 79,540
Dividend handling charge f& SRR B & H At b &
and other surcharges 2,375
Gain on disposal of other HEHMEFEE 2 W
financial assets, net FRE 267,201
Gain on disposal of an associate s — S QR 2 W 14 114,958
Gain on deemed disposal of RIEHE —MEERF 2 e
an associate 14 9,954
Gain on deemed disposal of RIELE—HEE2RF 2 Wa=
a joint venture 15 2,441
Modification gain on convertible AR E 75 2 & 7] Was
bonds 30 -
Foreign exchange differences, net HNE ZFBFRE 7,683
Others Hth 12,760
497,320
Note: B 5
(a)  The gross proceeds from the sale of investments at fair value (a) FAHEBBEZUQAFEINERZKRERN
through profit or loss for the year were approximately BRIERTEL BB 121,460,0007T (=

HK$121,460,000 (2018: HK$490,603,000).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

T — )\ 4 : 5%490,603,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. RBRMAET (HHR)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBBRBAER, (BE)BEHR,
(crediting): (5FA)
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T BT T
Depreciation e 12 4,759
Employee benefit expenses (excluding {EE@FF X
directors’ remuneration): (TEREEMS) :
Salaries and allowances e KRR 44,615
Retirement benefit scheme RIRAR R GBI R
contributions (defined contribution (EEHEHGTE) (Mika)
scheme) (note a) 1,052
Equity-settled share option expense N EERE X -
45,667
Auditor’s remuneration % 2R B & 2,800
Equity-settled share option expense NREREEBERE R
(note b) (FizEb) -
Minimum lease payments under REFLEHD s REBEHKE
operating leases 33,954
Deemed gains on changes in R—EBEAFAR—HEER
shareholding interests in an associate &) 2 B & &) 7 R IEUN
and a joint venture (note c) (Ffi5Ec) 5 (12,395)
Gain on disposal of an associate s — S QR 2 W
(note c) (FfF7EC) 5 (114,958)
Gain on disposal of other financial HEEMSBERE 2 W= FRE
assets, net (note ¢) (KfsEc) 5 (267,201)
Modification gain on convertible bonds ] # i% & % 2 & 5T U 25
(note ¢) (F5Ec) 30 -
Provision for impairment loss of FEUW S 2 R B B R B F R
loans receivable, net 21 320,000
Provision for impairment loss of FEUWBR R 2 B E B BT 5
accounts receivable, net 20 135,417
Provision for impairment loss of FE R E R EFIE
finance lease receivables 2R EEEEE 18 -
Reversal of provision for impairment & UK (R IR 3018 7 5 B k5 1B B 15
loss of factoring receivables (note d)  #[E (FfzEd) 22 -
Impairment loss of accounts receivable & % RJEU BR 3 2 B E 18
recognised (note d) (Kt3Ed) -
Loss on disposal of items of property, H&EWHE HENKZRFEEE
plant and equipment (note d) 2 EE (MisEd) 12 -
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B R R M =

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued)

6.

6. BRBRAAT (BKR) =

g

Notes: B 5

(@ At 31 March 2019, the Group had no material forfeited (@ RZE-—NF=ZA=+—H0 KAEEIE
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the BRZWHR A AR D ERREF 2R
retirement benefit scheme in future years (2018: Nil). REFGFEEF(ZE-NF &) -

(b)  Amount included approximately HK$20,348,000 classified as (b) ZeEBEIHEAEERIBINLEL
employee benefit expenses and approximately HK$45,296,000 20,348,000t K DB AE SIS MWAEB
classified as directors’ remuneration. 45,296,0007T °

() These gains are included in “Other income and gains” for the (0 ZEWHRFABZ-_Z-—NF=A=1+—
years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 in the A=) \E=ZA=+—HILEEHA
consolidated statement of profit or loss. BaikP [HMBRARKE]R-

(d)  These items are included in “Other expenses, net” for the year (d) ZEBHFABZ-_Z-—AF=A=+—
ended 31 March 2019 in the consolidated statement of profit or HitFEHFReERT 2 [HMA F8]
loss. 1A o

FINANCE COSTS 7. MERE

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Interests on borrowings BEZHE 123,305 82,872

Interests on convertible instruments AR T A2 F B (FFE30)

(note 30) 211,336 124,207

Other finance costs H 50 & B 39,544 -

374,185 207,079

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFXMi&

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

TMIRBREBEEEBAXZMERARES
ETREA BB R FEPIZE383(1)() - (b)
OBOBEAR AR (BBEESHmER) R
PIE2H B FRNETME
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B 3% R 3 Bt &
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EFEME »
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fees we 481
Other emoluments: HEiMe -
Salaries and other benefits e RHEAE R 5,934
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR Kk#& | 5T 2t 5%
(defined contribution scheme) (EREHNRETED 74
Equity-settled share option expense iRt EERE AT -
6,008
6,489
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRNENBUIFNTEST 2SN
during the year were as follows: I
2019 2018
—E-hFE ZE—)N\#F
Equity-
settled
share
option
Fees expense Total Fees
LR EE
B
e ZBX HEE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Mr. An Dong ZREE 210 960 78
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping REEF LA 210 960 120
Mr. Fung Tze Wa mFESE 210 960 120
Mr. Wu Keli Rz hkHsE 210 960 120
Mr. Xu Zhiguang (note (i) &% %4 (MREG)) - - 43
840 3,840 481
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRANEENBIIEMITER ZEM
independent non-executive directors during the year e (ZTE—N\F:H8E) -
(2018: Nil).
Note: B &
(i)  Appointed on 25 January 2017 and resigned on 8 August () RZIE—tF—AZ1+HREZE
2017 ERZZE—tFNAN\BEE

RBREMMRERERAA
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MR 3Rk M et
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—hWF=H=+—HIFFE
8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EFM& »)
(b) Executive directors (b) HITES
Retirement Equity-
Salaries benefit settled
and other scheme  share option Total
Fee benefits  contributions expense remuneration
HeR BIGER  MRERE
we AR TEMRS BRECHX Hemsm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BETT BETT BETT
2019 ZB-hE
Mr. Ye Ye HELE
Mr. Pun Hong Hai (note (i) BRELE (F30)
Ms. Chow Mun Yee PR
Mr. Yang Haoying BEREE
Mr. Zhao Tong BYEE

Mr. Wang Xiaodong (note (ii)) TRAEE (M)

2018 20\

Mr. Ye Ye B A - 215 2 - 217

Mr. Yang Haoying BEREE - 2,025 18 - 2,043

Ms. Chow Mun Yee gg2 - 934 18 - 952

Mr. Zhao Tong BYLE - 1275 18 - 1,293

Mr. Wang Xiaodong (note (ii) FELEAE (M) - 1,485 18 - 1,503
- 5,934 74 - 6,008

Notes: B &

() Appointed on 10 July 2018 (i) RZE—N\FLtATHEZET

(i) Resigned on 18 May 2018 iy R-Z—N\FRA+NBEE

There was no arrangement under which a director waived FRATEEAZEETNEXRBENER

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year MMEN LT (ZE—N\F &) -

(2018: Nil).
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B 75 3R 2R B =
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NWF=HA=1—HIFE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AfiEEFHESR
The five highest paid employees during the year included four FRAEUGEFHEERENG (ZE—N
(2018: two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set FRAL)EE EMEFBEER LXMW
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year 8o FRBM TNz (ZF—NF: =) I IE
of remaining one (2018: three) highest paid employee who is ARREZzRaFREEZHEFBEN
not a director of the Company is as follows: ™
2019 2018
ZE-NF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other benefits FokHAMmEN 1,585 6,166
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIHR 18 43
1,603 6,209
The emoluments of the five highest paid employees, excluding FRNRAUGERFEE (TEEER)OMe
directors, for the year fell within the following bands: BERA T &M :
Number of individuals
N -
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =2 #1,000,0007T = -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 781,000,001 7T % /& ¥1,500,0007T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 7T 2= &% 2,000,0007T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 752,000,001 7T £ 7% 2,500,000 = 2
1 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI and the
Cayman lIslands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI and the Cayman Islands respectively.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for
both years.

10.

BE_ZT-NF=A=+—BLEFE &
SEYEAAURSHFEEPEMALX
NEAME EREEMAREBEIRE
AR SR BB 00 82 - RAFRREREIE (=
T-N\FE)-

FriR MBS
AEEAREEELE S WRE A EEK
B 73 R M £ BT B A8 4 P TE )% I 10 5
BP9 Bt -

RIEEBRAHELASEENHRA A
B ASEHAGCRBRIEENMASE
SR ERMAEH -

EENEH RBE16.5% 5L M EFE R
ERELE ARG N FHER -

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. RS MBEAXZ =)

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Tax") and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

REFBELERAEN ([REMER])ER
EERMBBAERIGD  FEMHERRM
EFEHHREB25% e

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Current 7N Bf

Charge for the year REEZH
- Hong Kong —&8 12,226
— the PRC — 6,012
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEFEREEIR, GBERE) 2,869
Deferred (note 31) JEIE (BF5E31) 255
Total tax expense for the year AREEH BT AR 21,362

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss)
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax
charge at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows:

TN RIRE B ETE R H Z B A0S
/(BER)ER 2 HEMX BUARERER
MERFTHEZ A H 2 H 8k

2019 2018
—E-NE —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax BREADEF, (BE) 324,384
Tax charge/(credit) at the Hong Kong BREBEEME16.5%
statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2018:16.5%) (ZFE—N\F:16.5%)
HEZBESH (Ee) 53,523
Effect of different taxation rate used in HthaZEBREATRABED
other jurisdiction g (12,200)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of 55 AT BARE 2 BN EARY 1A 2 38 B
previous periods 2,869
Income not subject to tax BAERT 2 BA (76,152)
Expenses not deductible for tax A HNE 5 2 63,323
Temporary differences not recognised RIER 2 B =% (12,942)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B R B EE 2 R E A (1,787)
Tax losses not recognised AERZTRBER 31,278
Tax effect of share of results of associates DMEBE AR R —HEERREE
and a joint venture LGB (26,550)
Tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate EAEE 7 BEEH RAE 2 FH1E
X 21,362

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
The share of tax charge attributable to associates and a joint
venture amounting to HK$1,368,000 (2018: HK$1,282,000) is
included in “Share of profits and losses of associates and a
joint venture” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

11. EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

(@) Basic earning/(loss) per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company of HK$2,160,250,000 (2018: profit of
HK$269,894,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,567,995,103 (2018: 1,537,356,467,
as restated) in issue during the year. The weighted
average numbers of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic and diluted earning per share for the
year ended 31 March 2018 have been retrospectively
adjusted for the effect of share consolidation became
effective during the year ended 31 March 2019.

The calculation of weighted average number of ordinary
shares at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

11.

10. R38R (2)

DEBERT R —HAE AR ZHEALH
B 1,368,000 (ZE— NF B
1,282,00070) "fTABE-_ZT—NLF=A
S+ HALFEGABERT [DEHE
RAIR—EEERRZEHMEER] A -

FLAFIRBRESAARGS
R (5R)

(a) BEREARA(FE)
FRRERER IR AN G SRR
EAEHAFEE BB BE
2,160,250,0007T ( =& — /)\4F : jm Fll
75 #269,894,0007T) M RFRE %
7TE @B 2 mEF B &
1,567,995,103% (=T — \4F:
1,537,356,4670% (KL E%]) )5t & -
ARtEEE T \F=ZA=+—
AIEFEZBRERARBERR 2T
BIEINEFHHE BPTEE AR
BhAHREE-_Z—NLF=ZA
Tt HLEFEERZEE-

HEMREBRMNETFHEEEN

N

2019 2018
—E-hE —E—)N\F
(Restated)

(geE5)

Number of shares B ER

Issued ordinary shares at beginning of RE# 2 23T E @
year

Effect of warrants exercised

Effect of shares repurchased and

&

BETEREEECTE

N\

cancelled
Effect of conversion of the convertible BE#a[3a[% T B 7 5228
instruments

Effect of share consolidation
(note 32(e))

Weighted average number of ordinary 7 & & 7 & & % hkE F 159 &

shares at end of year

EREMEHERD ZFE

Betn & bt 2 8 (HFE32(e))

14,324,137,300
1,063,527,569

653,666

1,537,356,467

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

11. EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Diluted earning/(loss) per share
The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company of HK$2,160,250,000 (2018: profit of
HK$269,894,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,567,995,103 shares (2018:
1,566,094,985 shares, as restated), calculated as follows:

(b)

(i)  Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company (diluted)

M ETLAFTEBREREAEMNGS
BREF (BEB) »

EREERA(HE)

B E#EEE TR AR R R
EAEGHEAFE BB BEE
2,160,250,0007T ( =& — )\4F : jm Fl|
751269,894,0007T) - A R EBEIE 2
hn#E F 5 801,567,995,103 (==
— \% :1,566,094,985/% (K&
P )ETEWT

(i) FRAZEBREFEAEMLE
F(EE) (#F)

EAERER A ARG
wH (B
gk TARERY BERF

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary
equity holders
After tax effect of effective interest

on the liability component of the Z2BieTE (M)
convertible instruments (note)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary — Ei@EAAEREH AL

equity holders (diluted) wmAlL (R (#F)

(ii)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(diluted)

2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST I
269,894
B

269,894

(i) ZHERNEFGE (#E)
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
(Restated)
(& &E5)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic
earning/(loss) per share at 31 March

Effect of deemed issue of shares under
the Company’s share option scheme
(note)

Effect of issue of warrants

Effect of share consolidation
(note 32(e))

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of diluted
earning/(loss) per share at 31 March

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

BREEREARETF,
(BE)R=R=+—8x2
3 AR N4 19 #

BRAER B AR B BB I = &l
BITRD 2T E (W)

1,537,356,467

211,480,031
BIRBRERE 2 HE 75,905,149
& Bt 22 (HiE32(e))
(258,646,662)

ARtEeREERT,/
(BR)R=RA=+—B2

I3/ A% N 9 8L 1,566,094,985
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

M. EAFIREREZIEAELS
BREF (B8) o

11. EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Diluted earning/(loss) per share (Continued)
Note:

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2019 does not assume (i) the conversion of the
Company’s outstanding convertible instruments since it would
result an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share; and (ii)
the exercise of the Company's outstanding share options as it
had no dilutive effect on the basic loss per share. The calculation
of diluted earning per share for the year ended 31 March 2018
does not assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding
convertible bonds since its conversion would result an anti-
dilutive effect on basic earning per share.

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
31 March 2019

Leasehold
improvements
HENERE
HK$'000
BETT
At 1 April 2018; RZE-\$¥NA—-A:
Cost KR
Accumulated depreciation Z2itiE
Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 April 2018, net of RZE-\EWA—H:
accumulated depreciation NGB ZFTE
Additions NE
Depreciation provided during the year R 2 FER &
Disposaliwritten off &/ W
Exchange differences R A
At 31 March 2019, net of RZE-AE=A=T-H"
accumulated depreciation Nk Z5HE
At 31 March 2019: RIE-AFZA=1-H:
Cost %
Accumulated depreciation ZitE
Net carrying amount REFE

(b)

SREBERR (BB (&)
B :

HERE_Z-NAF=-A=t+-BLHFE
ZEHREEEER YARARROFRAR
AREBRAMEBT A REREBHTKR
AXBERAARBEZE RTEAR
A RITEERE REAZESYESRE
AEETEEIZE FHBAE TN
FZRA=+-ALFEZSREERT
I SR IRER B AR L B R (B8 P AE
5 RARZBABHEREARRNAS
R#ETE -

12.9% BERMRE
—E-hAE=A=+-8

Furniture,
fixtures and

equipment
B REB
e
HK$'000
BETR

Computer Motor
equipment vehicle Total

Ehkf it BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI AR BRI

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

13.

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. MR -BEREM =)
(Continued)
31 March 2018 —E-N\F=ZA=+—H
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Computer Motor
improvements equipment equipment vehicle Total
i %E
RENERE K& EMRE HE E |
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2017: RZZ—tFENA-B:
Cost KA - 1,992 2,991 - 4,983
Accumulated depreciation ZithE - (873) (1,869) - (2,742)
Net carrying amount KEFE - 1,119 1122 - 2,241
At 1 April 2017, net of RZE—tFNA-8"
accumulated depreciation kR E - 1,119 1122 - 2,241
Additions hE 8,857 1,124 3,219 37 13,237
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEH BT 760 479 157 2,604 4,000
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRZTEAE (1,644) (606) (1,329) (1,180) (4,759)
Exchange differences ELERE 21 46 9 148 224
At 31 March 2018, net of RZE-\$=A=T-8H"
accumulated depreciation B 2FTE 7,994 2,162 3,178 1,609 14,943
At 31 March 2018: RZE-\$=A=1—-H:
Cost AR 13,267 4,972 6,922 9,455 34,616
Accumulated depreciation 2HME (5273) (2,810) (3,744) (7,846) (19,673)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,994 2,162 3,178 1,609 14,943
GOODWILL 13. 58
2019 2018
—ZE-NF —ET-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cost and carrying amount AR REE
At beginning of year REH] 660,674 -
Acquisition of Wins Finance (note 35(i)) Y 88 Wins Finance ( i 5£35(i) ) = 659,169
Acquisition of People Securities Company WHEERFHFER A A
Limited (“People Securities”) (note 35(i))  ([ERFEH]) (M5E35(i) = 1,505
At end of year RER 660,674 660,674

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED




For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

13. GOODWILL (continued) 13. &8 =)

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to
the following cash generating units (“CGUs").

- Financial guarantee and finance leasing business in the
PRC ("CGU A")

- Insurance and securities brokerage business in Hong Kong
("CGU B")

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to these units are
as below:

Notes to the Financial Statements

B B R R B

BECAENABNSEE N IREE
EEM([ReEEEEM])-

- TEREEREBEEEERR (1R
SELBMAL

- EERBREBELFARRESK([BHLE
A BB )

PEEZFENNBENEREELDT

2019 2018

—E-RE T N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

CGU A WEEABMA 659,169 659,169
CGU B HEeEAFENB 1,505 1,505
At end of year RER 660,674 660,674

CGU A

The recoverable amount of the CGU A is determined based on
the value-in-use calculations, which are based on a business
valuation report on the CGU A prepared by an independent
qualified professional valuer, CHFT Advisory and Appraisal
Limited (2018: Brilliant Appraisal Limited). These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated
growth rate stated below which is by reference to the forecasts
based on the funds available for the Group’s provision of
financial guarantee and finance leasing business and does not
exceed the forecasts included in industry reports. The growth
rates used do not exceed the long-term average growth rates
for the business in which the CGU A operates. The cash flows
are discounted using the discount rate stated below. The
discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
to the relevant CGU A.

REEXENA
ReEEEUVANAKROSEENERE
BFfEEE ZABEN -—BBILEER
EXMEMETHEATHEARAA(ZF
—N\EF RBEFHERRA) AREELE
MARBMERHERS RSFHERRE
RERBHENRERFHREANMKEE
R eREN - BB FHENRSE
MER TR A IEREEE  2FERNAE
SHEHREERIBEHEXHAIRE
SELHNERN ETEBBTERERES
MR PRERNEREXTERRASES
BUAREMERBHRMFHERE -]
TR TR R KB IR - BT E M BL R
RRBEHMAMBRE RREMEBEREESL
BUABBOSERR -

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_-F—NF=A=1—HIFE

13. GOODWILL (continued)
CGU A (Continued)
Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculations are as

13. 88 (o)
REELENA (H)
EREEHEMERNEERERMT

follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —F—)\F
Growth rate R & 3% 3%
Gross margin EF = 96% 87%
Discount rate Bh I8 =& 9% 10%

The budgeted gross margin was determined based on past
performance and expectation for market development.

Any possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based was not expected to cause the
carrying amount of the CGU A to exceed its recoverable
amount.

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

BEENETENBERRALTSERED

BE-

A EERBEAAKENERERGEERN
28 ERASEYReELEMANER
BEEEEAREEHE-

14. BB LATIZIRSE
2019 2018
—B-NE  ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T 5T

Share of equity attributable to owners of DB & QA FEA AFE(R R

the associates

365,061

Particulars of the associates of the Group at 31 March 2019 are RZE-—NF=ZA=1+—H AKEKE
as follows: RNEZ BT
Percentage of
Particulars Place of ownership interest
of issued incorporation attributable
Name shares held and business to the Group Principal activity
KEERRL
A1 FEERTROFE ALK EEBE FEERZANL TEXK
FreeOpt Holdings Limited Ordinary share without Republic of Marshall 31.38 Investment holding
(“FreeOpt”) par value Islands/Hong Kong
FreeOpt Holdings Limited EHEsLER SHRRHSHNE /B 3138 REER
([FreeOpt])

Freewill Holdings Limited
("Freewill")

Freewill Holdings Limited
(Freewill | )

156

Ordinary share without
par value
BEEEBR

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

Republic of Marshall
Islands/Hong Kong
SRRNEANE /BE

Investment holding

REER
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

14 RBELXFRZRE -

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

1?%%%?

Percentage of

Particulars Place of ownership interest
of issued incorporation attributable
Name shares held and business to the Group Principal activity
KEERRE
£ e BTRO 1B ALK EEME FEERZANIL TEXEK
Huiyue Financial Leasing (Ningbo)  Ordinary share without PRC/PRC 6.78 Inactive
Co., Ltd ("Huiyue") par value
BARERE (ER)ERRR EEEZEEKR hE /P 678 EEEX
(1A
Imagination Holding Limited Ordinary share without Republic of the Marshall 36.17 Investment holding
(“Imagination”) par value Islands/Hong Kong
Imagination Holding Limited EEEZLAR SRRNESANE /BE 36.17 ALK

(TImagination | )
Jocasta Ventures Ltd (“Jocasta”) Ordinary share without
par value

Jocasta Ventures Ltd ([Jocasta]) EEE2 LERK

The above investments are indirectly held by the Company and
their financial results were accounted for using the equity
method.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Freewill repurchased all
shares held by one of the existing shareholders. After such
repurchase, the Group’s equity interest in Freewill increased
from 30.44% to 35.37%. The Group disposed of its entire
35.37% interest in Freewill at a consideration of
HK$200,000,000. A gain on deemed disposal of approximately
HK$9,954,000 resulting from the change in equity interest in
Freewill and a gain on disposal of Freewill of approximately
HK$114,958,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2018.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had an investment in a joint
venture of HK$143 million, represented by 31.38% equity
interest in FreeOpt. Such investment in a joint venture was
reclassified as investments in associates on 4 October 2018
pursuant to a termination agreement entered with other joint
venture parties to cease the joint venture relationship without
changing their respective shareholdings in FreeOpt. Thereafter,
the Group has significant influence over FreeOpt in proportion
to its voting rights in the shareholders’ meeting. FreeOpt and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding
and money lending business.

BVI/Hong Kong

KBERAEE/BE

36.17 Investment holding

36.17 HEERK

PR ERARAEEREG  HMBESA
EREmEEAR

HE-_Z—N\F=ZA=Z+—HLFE"
Freewill BBl —RIBEREFEHATE K
17 o Z BB 12 - K& B A Freewill B9 i AN 4
%5 H130.44%1% HN £35.37% - REB D H
E R FreewillH) 2 %835.37 % 25 « (K18 &%
ﬁ#%Yzoo 000,0007T ° A 7 Freewil | &9 B 7 ##
TEPHEEMBEIFLERTHBE
99540007E)§2ﬁ’$FreeW|IIE’3145Z KB
114,958,0007T - Fﬁi_;—)\i A
“t+t—HLEFEMNRABERPER

RZEBE-—NF=A=+—H0 FxEEER
—M&E AR ZIREEK143,000,0007T
A1 FreeOptH)31.38 %A% 7K 4 5 - 1R 15 £
HihEE A LRSS BERNRRTG
# (T EE S 8 R FreeOptAy A% 1) -
RZZE—N\FF+AEAB ZR—HEEA
RIZREEFHDEANBERRZIRE -
e AEBRRBRERRERGHRAE
Lt B ¥ FreeOptE B E R 52 & © FreeOpt 2
EffB AR ZNREREEREEES

7 o

RBREMMRERERAA
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14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In April 2018, the Group acquired 36.17% equity interest in
Imagination, at a consideration of HK$144,500,000 and it is
accounted for as an associate.

Imagination distributed its 36.17% equity investment in Jocasta
to the Group in July 2018, after which Jocasta was classified as
an associate. Jocasta and its subsidiary are principally engaged
in investment holding and money lending business.

In October 2018, the Group has subscribed for 15% of the
equity interest in Huiyue at a total consideration of
RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$175,395,000), of which RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,386,000) was paid up as at 31 March
2019, representing 6.78% of the total paid-up capital of
Huiyue as at 31 March 2019 and it is accounted for as an
associate. The Group is able to exercise significant influence
over Huiyue because it has the power to appoint one out of
three directors of that company under the Articles of
Association of that company. Huiyue has still been in
preliminary stage and intended to be engaged in finance
leasing business, leasing business, acquisition of assets for
leasing both in the PRC and overseas, repair and disposal of
leased assets.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has the outstanding capital
commitment to associates amounting RMB130,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$152,009,000).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

14.

PEREAFZRE &)

R - NFWMA - AEHKE
Imaginationf936.17 %k ANz - KB BB
#:144,500,0007T ' E{EAEE A Al AR

W Z=ZZ—N\F+t A Imaginationif £ %
Jocastaf36.17 % MRIEIRE DB T A S E -
It 1% Jocasta 8 A Bt & R 5] ° Jocastax E

MBARTERERERBRLREERR-

RZE-NF+A XEECREEAN
15% R AEZRE  BREAARE
150,000,000 (HE R 4B
175,395,0007T) * H A A R #20,000,000
7T (HHE R4 B 1#23,386,000C) R =&
—NEFE=ZA=+—HEHZ HEN-Z
—NFZA=ZT—HEANBHERAE
¥H6.78%  #Z A RMEREE RFIAR K
SERENEEREBEARE RAZ
BEZARMABERME AEEEH#
NEFZARZRBEEZHH—FZ 1B AN
BEREREVA BUEREREEK HE
¥ mBERNEERENE : HETED
EERE N EE-

RITE—AF=ZA=+—H NEHLHH
ERAMABITEARARERARE
130,000,000 (MAE R HBE
152,009,0007T) °
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14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 14. PBREBLFIZRE &)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the associates adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements:

FreeOpt

FreeOpt

2019

ZE-NF

HK$'000

BET T
Current assets MEBEE

Non-current assets EMEEE

Current liabilities MEBE
Net assets BEFE

Less: Non-controlling interests J : B & /X &) 9 FE 12 %
of the associates ¥

Reconciliation to the Group's EEREEREE QA2

interests in associates: T 2 ¥ B
Net assets, excluding BEFE(TEE
non-controlling interests IR

Proportion of the Group's REEHEA LA
ownership

Carrying amount of REREE
the investments

Revenue Wz

Profit/(loss) for the year REEHF, (EE)

Other comprehensive income E {1 2 E W A

Total comprehensive income  AFE 2 AR AREE
for the year

The following table illustrates the Group’s share of associates’
profits and losses and other comprehensive income/(loss):

TRIFBERR ZHBERBE (B3
G BR 2 ZERELAEL BEE PR
R ZREESR)

Huiyue Imagination Jocasta
¥ B Imagination Jocasta
2019 2019 2019

=F-hnEF ZE-F ZF-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BET T

TRINRAEE DB E QR ZmF R E
BARHEMEZEKA (EE) :

Share of profits of associates pai e RN

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) PGBt & A A HEMEEU A~

of associates (E518)

2019 2018
—E-nE T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
156,682

(6,918)
EReMNEERERA T
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_-F—NF=A=1—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

15. R—HSBLFZH/E

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Share of net assets DIhEEFE - 143,470

Particulars of the joint venture of the Group at 31 March 2018
are as follows:

R-B—N\E=A=+—H ALELE
AR ZHEDT

A

Percentage of

NTREZEDHL
Particulars of issued  Place of incorporation Ownership Voting Profit
Name shares held and business power sharing  Principal activity
FEC R AR R
R Ryt EXHE HERER REE BRAE TEXH
FreeOpt Ordinary share Republic of the Marshall 3333 31.38  Investment holding
without par value Islands/Hong Kong
FreeOpt aABZLER SARHSLNE/F RELR

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company and
has been accounted for using the equity method. FreeOpt and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding
and money lending business.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s shareholding interest in
FreeOpt was diluted to approximately 31.38% after further
allotments of new ordinary shares by FreeOpt. The gain of
approximately HK$2,441,000 resulting from the change in
shareholding interests in FreeOpt during the year was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2018.

Investment in a joint venture was reclassified as investments in
associates on 4 October 2018 pursuant to a termination
agreement entered with other joint venture parties to cease the
joint venture relationship without changing their respective
shareholdings in FreeOpt. Thereafter, the Group has significant
influence over FreeOpt in proportion to its voting rights in the
shareholders’ meeting.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

LR ERARREERE A WO FHE
AN - FreeOpt R EKIB AR E B =
BEERMIEEER-

{EFreeOptiE — HRLE L BARE RN_Z
—N\F=A=+—8 KEBERFreeOptH]
BEWBEEELN31.38% FRAER
FreeOptH R EEZ B E LN T HBEE
2,441,000 - REEZE - NF=A
T+ —HULEFENGEBREER

BIFHEMAEE R LHNRRE EBED
FEBR et (T EE K 5% B 1A FreeOpt iy I
) RZE-—N\FTANE R—HE=
RAlZBEEMDEARBERT 2
o lbig AEBRBEMBRERAEMHERR
L 5] ¥ FreeOpt BB BB AT £ -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

15. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of FreeOpt adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements:

15. R—HEeSEQAFRIZRE &)

T &S| RFreeOptz B ERME (Bt
FTBUR 2 ZERELABRTREA HIEHRE
FEREESER)

2019 2018
—E-h%E
HK$'000
BT T

—E-N\F
HK$'000
BT

Current assets MEEE

Current liabilities mEAE

Net assets EEFE

Included in the above assets: BRERENREE:
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED

Reconciliation to the Group's interest
in the joint venture:

Proportion of the Group's ownership & E B R
Carrying amount of the investment KERmE

Revenue U &=

Profit for the year F 2 i A

Included in the above profit: BERLELER
Income tax expense FrefiAx

The following table illustrates the Group’s share of FreeOpt's
profits and losses:

HEAKERAERR ZEEH K

462,385
(5,184)

457,201

7,249

31.38%
143,470

25,167
20,608

4,086

TRIRAEE D EFreeOpt 2 & M K &

18-

2019 2018
—E-nE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T

Share of profits of a joint venture pal it K= RN bl

4,225

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z _-F—NF=A=1—HIFZ
16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. LB E
Futures Stock
Exchange Exchange
trading trading Insurance
rights rights license Total
HEXRZ T 5 32 Pt
RS E REE REER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TT BETrT A¥TrTt BETET
Cost AR
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—LFMHHA—H 1,736 - - 1,736
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wk — I E AR - 14,500 909 15,409

At 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 R-ZE—N\E=A=+—H"
and 31 March 2019 “E-NFEA—HK
—E-AF=F=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145

Accumulated amortisation g 5
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 R=ZZ—+FMHA—H "

and 1 April 2018 —E-N\F=A=+—H
R=ZZF—-NFHA—H - - - -
Amortisation provided FREHEBEE

during the year - - - -

At 31 March 2019 R-ZF-AF=A=+—H - - - -
Net carrying amount REFE

At 31 March 2019 RZE-—NhF=A=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
At 31 March 2018 RZE-—N\F=A=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
The trading rights and insurance license have been considered REOERRBERERLSBEERERF
to have indefinite lives because they are expected to contribute H AREHHAEE FREKELE
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not JBR 7 45 BRI - A bk 7 A 5 o

amortised.
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

17. Ei MBI E
31 March
2019
—E-NF
=A=+-—H
HK$'000
BET T

Non-current
Investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
(non-recycling)
— Unlisted equity investment in
the PRC (notes a and e)
— Other unlisted equity
investment (note b)
— Listed equity investment in
the Philippines (notes c and e)

Available-for-sale investments
— Unlisted equity investment in

the PRC, at cost (notes a and e)

— Listed equity investment in
the Philippines, at fair value
(notes c and e)

Current
Investments carried at fair value
through profit or loss
— Unlisted wealth management
products (notes d and e)

Available-for-sale investments
— Unlisted wealth management
products, at fair value
(notes d and e)

FERE

BEREMEEBANRTFE
SRR IR E (AR

—HREFELTREERE
(Fiztake)
—HAIEETIRIERE
(FIsED)
—JFERBELTMRBERE
(HizEcKe)
AHEERE

—HhEIFE ETRRRE 1
A E (MiEake)
—FFERELMBRERE &

NFEFE
(FftzEcke)

e

FRBERARTETIERD

wE

—FLTHMEEEER

(FftzEdMe)

AHHERE

—FLMMEEEEM %

A E
(HizdRe)

1 April 31 March
2018 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
MA—H =HA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
670,969 -
35,765 -
706,734 -
- 631,680

- 35,765

- 667,445
1,833,235 -
- 1,833,235

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year e

nded 31 March 2019 #Z —-FE—hWF=H=+—HIFE

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Balance represented an equity interest in a full-licensed securities
company in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone (the
"Securities Company”) under the framework of the Closer
Economic Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China and
Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Securities Company issued and allotted new shares to its
shareholders. After such share allotments, the Group's equity
interest in the Securities Company decreased from 15% to
approximately 12.17%.

At 31 March 2018, the equity interest with a carrying amount of
HK$631,680,000 was stated at cost less impairment.

Balance represented equity interest in an investment holding
company (“Entity A”) which was acquired in April 2018 at a
consideration of HK$600,000,000. The equity interest acquired
was approximately 19.32% of the total issued share capital of
Entity A which was subsequently decreased to approximately
19.06% after new shares of Entity A were issued and allotted to
its shareholders.

The listed equity investment in the Philippines was stated at fair
value based on quoted market price in active markets as at the
end of each of the reporting periods.

Balance represented the Group’s investment in wealth
management products from financial institutions in the PRC
which were not yet due nor early redeemed as at the end of
each of the reporting periods. The fair values of such wealth
management products have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount
rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

Available-for-sale investments were reclassified to financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity securities
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(non-recycling) upon the initial application of HKFRS 9 at 1 April
2018 (see note 2.2(i)).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

17. HthEmMEE 2

W :

(a)

ZAEHRERE (N EFERENELER
BEBHERNTHE) ERTRPE(LE
BIEMESARRIBAE -—RE2MEES
RA([BHFRAADHRAER - BEZ
E-NFZA=Z+—HIEFE EFQA
A E AR R BT R BB # AL D - X B AR BC
BR-AEENRBSRANRAERH
15% N EEL12.17% °

RZZE-NF=A=+—0 EFEEEHEK
631,680,0007T A % 7N 4 2 1% A A8 2= 0L
BEARR-

ZEBER T \FEMNAUREEE
600,000,000 4 & #) — 1 1% & 12 iR A )
([EBA) 2B - TR R A
A EEBANS I BEITRAL19.32%
PEfe N EBAFTIR MO EEIT R A8 T EH
AR 1R & 4919.06% °

FFRELMRBRERATE (ENER
SHRFRTIGHTIZRE) IR

ZEREAEERTESREENNEE
EEMSNEE RERERRERIBR
RPED ZEVEEERERNATED
ERBBRBERDMERAREBRILE
EEPREZNBABBARRZSY

FEERBHMBRX-
RZZ-N\FOA-BEXREREEVH

HEERBR R AIHBEREEH D
BRERBHEIRATEFENEREER
FETE RE B E M 2 E AR FEFERE
BAES (PEYK) (RFE2.20)) -



18. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Financial Statements

B SRR M
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZE -F—hF=A=+—HILFE
1. Bk IHERE

Minimum Present value of
lease payments minimum lease
receivable payments receivable
ERHEBESRK EBREEEETRZEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF ZET-NF ZE-NEF —N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AETT BETR BETT
(note) (note)
(FfF=E) (P 3E)
Finance lease receivables FEU R EHERIERIE:
comprise:
Within one year —F R 301,709
In more than one year but not ~—F N EETHBBERF
more than two years 247,763
549,472
Less: Unearned finance W AR E RS R A
lease income _
549,472
Less: Provision for OB E R B EE
impairment loss -
Present value of minimum lease [EWSEBE K ZIRE
payments receivable 549,472
Analysed as: DA
2019 2018
—E-hEF — N\
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current finance lease receivables BV ER & s Bh & 7 & K18
(receivable within 12 months) (ZERN121E B R YA ) 301,709
Non-current finance lease receivables FE BN HP E Uk b & FH & SRR
(receivable after 12 months and within 24 (7B 1218 B 1% K248 A R UL EL)
months) 247,763
Finance lease receivables el p & HERIE 549,472

RBREMMRERERAA
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MR 3Rk M et

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

18. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 18.
Note:

As at the end of the reporting period, the minimum lease payments
receivable are presented using the prevailing rate quoted by the
People’s Bank of China (“PBC").

As at 31 March 2019, finance lease receivables with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$11,513,000
(2018: HK$33,947,000) were pledged to secure certain other
borrowings provided to the Group (note 37).

BHEHRBEARERE o)
i

RRERR BRKEEENRERTEAR
RIT ([FRIARRIT]) ABMOBITHRZS] -

RIE-—AFZA=Z+—H LEEEY
B #11,513,000 (22— NF:BE
33,947,0007T) Ky fE Y A & FH E RIA 2 K
BUAERRETFASEENE TEMEE
(FfF5£E37) »

2019 2018
—F-nE —2- N\

Effective interest rates B =
Finance lease receivables fEl B & B E IR

Interest rate of variable-rate finance lease receivable is reset
when there is a change of the prevailing PBC rate.

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019

An analysis of changes in the provision for impairment loss
under simplified approach is as follows:

5.46% - 11.00% 5.46% — 13.32%

R B FIE 5B R A A TR B R 2
e BARBITRITHES (LM B

T o

BE_Z-NF=A=+—HIIFERE
BRI E L RNFIH 2 A

BEBEREBZZHREBEZS TN
T

HK$'000

BT T
At beginning of year under HKAS 39 REVRBR B G HERE399E -
Effect arising from adoption of HKFRS 9 RNBBMBRELNFIRNTE 2,748
At beginning of year (restated) REF (KLE5) 2,748
Provision for impairment loss (note 6) WA E R (iEe) 89,198
At end of year RER 91,946
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19.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt ¥5 AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March 2018

Finance lease receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a number of diversified borrowers for
whom there was no recent history of default. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion
that no provision for impairment was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable as at 31 March 2018.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

1. Bk MEBFHERE =)

BE T N\FA=+—HIFERE

Bt ER 395 2 RE
AREMBERBEZEEBREREFRES
A TAERABRR ZEERALRAL E
R - RIBBELR ARREERA
BARZEFR/HRKELRERE REARE
EERUESAZE BZEHHBN_F
—NF=ZA=1T—BNHEE/ATHRK
[B] -

19. AIRR - ReRHEMEKRRR

2019 2018
—E-NF T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Non-current 3k BN HA
Prepayments and deposits TER FRIE RiES
Current B HA
Prepayments and deposits TR RIERES
Other receivables H fth f& U FRIE
— Commission receivables —-EkAe
— Other trading income — B HWA
- Others —Efh

The balance of other receivables is neither past due nor
impaired and no credit loss allowance has been provided for
other receivables as the related credit loss allowances were
immaterial.

16,945

8,545
3,742

30,895
6,315

49,497

HitERFIRNSREABRERFE A
AR EMEERBEELEEBERRE R
AEHBEEBERRETA-

RBREMMRERERAA
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Bt 35 R R M =

For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z_-ZE—NF=H —HIE

The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the
dealing in securities transactions are two days after the trade
date except for the balances with margin clients and cash
clients which are repayable on demand. The trading terms with
customers of the insurance brokerage business are mainly on
credit. The credit period for customers of insurance brokerage
business is generally 30 days, extended up to 90 days for major
customers. The settlement terms of accounts receivable
attributable to dealing in futures transactions and financial
guarantee business are repayable on demand and generally up
to 12 months, respectively.

20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 20. FE U AR #X
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accounts receivable arising from the RBEEBBREPES 2 BWARRK:
ordinary course of business of:
- Dealing in securities: —BHEE:
Margin clients FEREP 183,684 592,063
Clearing houses EEFRT 19,047 58,027
— Insurance brokerage business — R ERS 530 578
— Futures brokerage business —HIE KL ETE 4,738 6,622
— Financial guarantee business — R EERERS 23,741 24,432
231,740 681,722
Less: Provision for impairment loss R EEERE (157,973) (135,417)
73,767 546,305

BRAREPEREEP ZERARENRE
B BREBEBREZBRUEREE
HAXZAMEAMB - BRELLEBR
ﬁm ZIEREBAREREAET — R

REBELCEHEFPHNEEH /30
H ﬁEEEﬁWTLEE?y%E - HiE
BEEXBIRBERREGENGZEBYSRR
RERDRRBRBEREER —R&EZ12
BA -

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of AR5 HA R &Y E W AR 0 RSAPZER
the reporting period, based on the trade date, is as follows: BofmeT:

2019 2018

—B-nE  —TN\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within 90 days 90H 231,730 681,641

Between 91 to 180 days 91£180H 10 81

231,740 681,722

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z=F—/ =

20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (cContinued)
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period based on past due, and net of loss
allowance is as follows:

20. FEU AR (&)

R E R A E 2 BUKERK (H1k
iR E) ZREDTT

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Not past due 7k 180 Hf 60,289 546,020
Less than 1 month past due 1 BR{E A LAA - 165
1 to 3 months past due w1 E3E A 189 39
Over 3 months past due B BA3E A A = 13,289 81
73,767 546,305

As at 31 March 2019, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$183,684,000 (2018: HK$592,063,000), which were
secured by underlying equity securities amounted to
approximately HK$82,655,000 (2018: HK$5,764,275,000), the
Group did not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

Trading limits are set for margin customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

R-_E—HAhE=ZA=+—"H BBE
183,684,000 (=T — N\F: BHE
592,063,0007T) Z EWH B EFR S EL
5 #82,655,0000L (ZE— NF B
5,764,275,0007T ) 2 A8 8 i% 7K 75 5 E K 17
MmN REBEWERZELERTE EAK
9 6 3k H A5 A3 18 08 5 B o

FREFPXEBERBRG -AEEHHEH
HORU ] FEWAR R M s B R 2 Ba 42 A8
EERBRERE- EIEETHERAY
KEER e

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019

20. U R (2)

An analysis of changes in the provision for impairment loss is as

follows:

BE_Z-NF=A=+—HITFERE
E B MR E LRI F T 2 RE
BEBRBEEZZESHOTWT:

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
SRR EplEdE E3MR B EEiA7A ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT BETr BT B%Tx
At beginning of year under HKAS 39 R F IR K E 5 & 51 85395 - - 135,417 - 135,417
Effect arising from adoption of RNBE BB REERER
HKFRS 9 PE 2,283 - - 158 2,441
At beginning of year (restated) REF (LEF) 2,283 - 135,417 158 137,858
Additional provision for impairment & Z BN EE B E
loss for the year - - 22,284 - 22,284
Other remeasurement of BEAENEMENTE
loss allowance (2,153) - - (16) (2,169)
At end of year RER 130 - 157,701 142 157,973
Arising from: RATEEESE:
- Margin clients -FREP 130 - 157,701 - 157,831
— Other accounts receivables —H i EUEER - - - 142 142
130 - 157,701 142 157,973
ECL rate EHEEBEX
— Margin clients -FREP 05% NATER 100% N/A NEA 86%

No credit loss allowance has been provided for clearing house
receivables as the related credit loss allowances were

immaterial.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

AEEW A E P IAE L E S BIRRE -
RAZHEBEEBEBETK.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 —-ZF—7 / =

20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

21.

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March 2018

As at 31 March 2018, accounts receivable in relation to margin
clients of HK$135,417,000 was individually impaired and the
provision was made. This was related to a third party customer
for whom the directors are of the view that the collection of
this account receivable was not probable.

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired as at
31 March 2018 related to a number of independent clients that
have a good track record with the Group and were not
impaired. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company were of the opinion that no provision for impairment
was necessary in respect of these balances as there had not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
were still considered fully recoverable as at 31 March 2018.

20. B RS &)

HE-_Z—\F=ZA=+—HIEERE
BB ELEI99R 2 RE
R-ZE—-NFE=A=+—HB BBRHFREZE
F B JE U B 3% 78 5 135,417,0007T 18 31 3R
B BEHBE ZEBEZRSR—EE=
FRFE BERBUD 7B AT A
MERK e

RZE-N\FE=ZRA=+—HEBHEXR
BENEKRERSEZ2BAKERA R
FECHENBYEP REBELR A2
RAESARBANZSTERIELRER
B RAREEERYBERES B%F
BN T \F=ZA=+—RINERE
QESY G ek

LOANS RECEIVABLE 21. Bl &=
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Loans receivable A= &N 2,141,615 1,586,824
Less: Provision for impairment loss R E S e s (1,695,060) (320,000)
446,555 1,266,824

Loans receivable represented receivables arising from the
provision of finance business of the Group, and bear interest at
rates ranging from 8% to 18% per annum (2018: 12% to
24% per annum).

All the loans receivable as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March
2018 were unsecured.

EWEREAEBREREESTEE Y
JEWRFIE BN T S F8EZR18E 7 F| R
ZE-N\FE FENREFE24E 7 FR) T

/%\ °
R-E—NF=ZA=+—HBE-_Z—N\&F
ZAZ=Z+—8 FEERKEFIEER-

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

21. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

An ageing analysis of loans receivable, determined based on
the age of the loans receivable since the effective drawn down
date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

21. B &= (&)
RBEBMF HEKE XA ERERIZN
BHIHE ~ BR e 7 E 2 FE MR B 2R 5 9 A
—F:

Within 90 days

Between 91 to 180 days
Between 181 days to one year
Over one year

90H A
91E180H
181HE—F
—FE

An ageing analysis of the loans receivable as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due date, and net of

loss allowance is as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NF —E—-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
512,308

194,692

879,824

1,586,824

RBEHR RIMNARAAEZRKE
F(HBREBEEE) 2Rk T :

Not past due

Less than 1 month past due
1 to 3 months past due
Over 3 months past due

BEHEA AR
B Z=31E A
BE3ME A A £

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

2019 2018
—E-NF R ASE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T AT
1,027,730

100,000

139,094

1,266,824
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B 3% 1R 3k MY &
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =-F—NF=H=1—HIFE
21. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 21. BB R (#)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019 HE_ZE—_NEF_A=+—"HILFERE

BBMBHREERFIR ZRE

An analysis of changes in the provision for impairment loss is as WEBERE 2 ZHONET :

follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ENliEg=y E2ME R F3EER HEE

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT BRI ABTr BB TR

At beginning of year under RENRIEE R G5+ ER|

HKAS 39 %395 - 60,000 260,000 320,000
Effect arising from adoption of  £R4VE BB %R & R B 95k

HKFRS 9 Eob-A 6,334 - - 6,334
At beginning of year (restated) REH] (&KEF) 6,334 60,000 260,000 326,334
Transfer to stage 2 and 3 WA 2N EIEE (5,314) 451 4,863 -
Additional provision for RNEFFINREEEEE

impairment loss for the year - 107,051 1,320,451 1,427,502
Other remeasurement of EEEENEMENTE

loss allowance 1,224 (60,000) - (58,776)
At end of year RER 2,244 107,502 1,585,314 1,695,060
ECL rate TEHEEBEX 2% 48% 88% 79%
The significant changes in the loss allowance during the year FABEREANBEEHEERHMN:

are mainly due to:

-~ Transfer of loans receivable of approximately HK$222,091,000 - B4E#222,091,0007T K E L E KX
from stage 1 to stage 2 and approximately FREIMREERSE NB2MER A B
HK$1,469,042,000 from stage 1 to stage 3, resulting in an 1,469,042,000 K FE U B FA A 56 1 By
increase in loss allowance of approximately HK$107,051,000 EBREAEIRE SEBEES R
and HK$1,320,451,000 respectively. # N4 E#107,051,0007T & &

1,320,451,0007T °

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March 2018 HE T \F=ZA=+—BHItFERE
BB ERE39% 2 RE

As at 31 March 2018, loans receivable of HK$320,000,000 was RZZE—-NE=A=+—8 " EWERE

individually impaired and the provision was made. These were #:320,000,0007C{E BIE (B - B 1F L

related to a number of third party customers for whom the ZERUNERIRZEBE=ZFTEFP &5

directors are of the view that the collection of these loans REWOZERERBERAATEET K.

receivable were not probable.

Loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired REABERBEZERERES L TRIE
related to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there RABB ZEERANCRY BB R

was no recent history of default.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

22. FACTORING RECEIVABLES 22 B RERIEA
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Factoring receivables FE UL (R IE FRIE 323,614
Less: Provision for impairment loss AR EEEEE -
323,614

An ageing analysis of factoring receivables, determined based
on the age of the factoring receivables since the effective
drawn down date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

R|MEHR HEEKREFIES ERER
IRENA B 2 RR R B E 2 R MR B2 R IR BR
DT

2019 2018
—2-hE  —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET

Within 90 days 90H A
Between 91 to 180 days 91&180H
Between 181 days to one year 181HE—F
Over one year — LA

An ageing analysis of the factoring receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the payment due date, and net
of loss allowance is as follows:

213,660
62,474
22,490
24,990

323,614

RIS KR BN KA E 2 BRE
BIE (NREREE) 2Rk T T

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Not past due K AR

Factoring receivables bear interest at a rate of 5% (2018:
ranging from 5% to 12%) per annum.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

323,614

ERRBRIBRGFSRE(ZE-N\F:
FEEE12E) ZMRGHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 —FE— N F = =

22. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019

An analysis of changes in the provision for impairment loss is as

follows:

22 BUgRIBFHRIE (2)

BE T NF=A=+—HIFERE

BRI E LR FIT 2 ME

BEBREREEIZESHOMWT:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FE1ME R FE2ME R 3K ER HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT T ok aubiv
At beginning of year under RENRIBEE B 5 4R
HKAS 39 ZE395% - - - -
Effect arising from adoption of — ZR#V & & 81 75 3 &5 2 Al
HKFRS 9 FORNTE 1,618 - - 1,618
At beginning of year (restated) R EH (KLE5) 1,618 - - 1,618
Other remeasurement of EEREENHEMENTE
loss allowance (68) - - (68)
At end of year RER 1,550 - - 1,550
ECL rate EHEEEEX 0.5% N/ATEA NATER 0.5%

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March 2018

Factoring receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there
was no recent history of default. Based on past experience, the
directors of the Company were of the opinion that no provision
for impairment was necessary in respect of these balances as
there had not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances were still considered fully recoverable as at 31
March 2018.

BE_Z-N\F=A=F—HILFERE

Bt R 395 2 RE

REMBRBEZ EBERERARS Z A
FIERABR ZEBERATHLEAR
ir e RBBEER AAREFRA/BA
B FEBRELRERE RRAREEE
RUYEBBAZE ARFEHN TN
FZA=Z+—BOEERAEBKRE -

RBREMMRERERAA
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B 7% R 3 Bt &
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
23. NOTE RECEIVABLE 23. Bl R
2019 2018
—E-NF —N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok v
Note receivable EWEE - 600,000
Less: balances due within one year WETARBEER —F AR
included in current assets e - (600,000)
Non-current portion JEBNHAER & - -
As at 31 March 2018, balance represented a promissory note in R N\F=ZA=+—H #&iEEH

24.

relation to the disposal of an unlisted equity investment of the
Group. The promissory note was with principal amount of
HK$600,000,000 with zero coupon and repayable in August
2018. In April 2018, the Group entered into an agreement with
the issuer of the promissory note (the “Purchaser”) that the
Purchaser agreed to allot and issue new shares to the Group,
representing approximately 19.32% of the total issued share
capital of the Purchaser, at a consideration of HK$600,000,000
and the Group agreed to return the promissory note to the
Purchaser for cancellation of the promissory note. Details are
set out in note 17(b).

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

24.

HEREE —HIELFMRERENELE
¥ o 7¥<E;¥;Tﬁsﬁ$%§ﬁ%f§ﬁ%oo 000,000
T EEBCARZE-NAFNAEE-R
- = —/\Emﬁ RS E AN BB A
TTA (TEF DAL Hm EFREURE
75 #600,000,000 7T ) 7 £ [E fid 2% K 221737
B (HERF2HEEHTHRAEY
19.32% ) MAKERE B & HRHRRE

Listed equity investments,
at market value

The investments as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 were classified
as held for trading. As at 31 March 2019, no investments at
fair value through profit or loss were pledged. As at 31 March
2018, the Group's investments at fair value through profit or
loss with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$404,764,000 were pledged to a financial institution to
secure a bank loan provided to the Group (note 37).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

EHERERE  EWE

FE WAL SRR
17(b) °

SRARBLULFEHIIKRZERE

2019 2018

—E-hE — N\

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

23,531 408,497

R-B—NER-F—NE=A=+—8

ZREDBABIEEEAR -R-B—N

>

FZA=Z+—H TEEFEFBEZUAAQ
FEINEZHRE- R_ZTE—-—NF=ZA
—+—H FAEEZEBEZUAFEIE
Z1gE 7 RERELN R B 404,764,000
T BEEBT -EemEE  UERAEE
Bz —BRTER (KE37) -



25.

26.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

25.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

Balance represented bank deposits in the PRC required by
banks or related government regulations for the financial
guarantees provided to third parties by the Group, and for the
bank loans provided to the Group at the end of the reporting
period.

Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS 3R R B

SZRERITHER
ERIERE ARBT R BB AR A
EERETFE=ANRAFRRERTA
EEMBITERERYRERTER

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 26. Bl& R R ITRER
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTHE 222,143 1,302,157

As at 31 March 2019, except for the balances of
HK$4,025,000 (2018: HK$6,830,000) and HK$21,571,000
(2018: HK$24,061,000) which are denominated in RMB and
US$, respectively, all the cash and bank balances of the Group
were denominated in functional currencies.

Certain cash at banks of the Group earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts
of the cash and bank balances approximate their fair values.

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions
in respect of clients’ monies arising from the course of
securities brokerage, futures brokerage and insurance
brokerage businesses. As at 31 March 2019, HK$155,956,000
(2018: HK$151,950,000) was held by the Group on behalf of
the clients in the trust accounts. The client monies as at 31
March 2019 and 2018 were not included in the Group's cash
and bank balances.

As at 31 March 2019, bank deposits with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$23,387,000 (2018:
HK$35,214,000) were pledged to secure certain bank
borrowings provided to the Group (note 37).

RZE—NhLFEF=ZA=Z+—"8B KBREE
4,025,0007T (=Z— /\4F : #%6,830,000
JC) KB #21,571,0000T ( —ZF— N\ 4F 5
#524,061,00070) 2 & #H D RIAARE K
ELEHEIN REENFERS RIRITE
BRUATDRE EMETE ©

AEERRITZETREREFARTE
KA R FHKREFE - BERRITEH
ZEREEREE QA FERS -

AEBRERERBRITERE B
REBEHFEL PELLRRBRELERB
BPEAZEFRE-R-_Z—hhE=A
—t—H AEERREFPNIERFE
A #155,956,00000 ( —ZT— )\ 4F : B 5
151,950,00070) " R =ZZE—hLF R _F
—\FZA=Zt+—HNEFF AT ET A
AEFE RS MIBITER -

R-ZE-AhE=A=+—HB E@FEEEYD
A %23,387,000L (Z 2 — NF B
35,214,00070 ) MERITIF s E 8 - AEIR
RETFAEENE TRITEE (H:E37) °

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF

27. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
The balances as at 31 March 2019, based on the trade date,
were all aged within 90 days (2018: 90 days).

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. B RR
R-T-NF=ZA=+—H Bx 5B
H 2 BRI R0A (Z B — N\F:
90H ) -

28. HthEMRIE R E B A

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-current JEENHA
Promissory notes payable (note a) FEAS =R (FYsEa) 202,800
Current BN HA
Accrued expenses FEETF 10,559
Interest payables JE A B 7,584
Deferred income I E WA 1,291
Other payables E fth jE (4 08 32,155
Security deposits received (note b) BURZES (H7Eb) 84,485
136,074
Notes: BoaE -

(a)  Balance represented consideration payable in relation to the
acquisition of Wins Finance as set out in note 35(i).

(b)  Balance represented deposits received from customers as
collateral for loan facilities granted by the Group. Such deposits
are interest-free and will be returned to customers after the
relevant loan agreements expire.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

(a)  HERRIETLMIFE3S>)FTE U FE Wins Finance
FERTAME -

(b) REHRIERAEEERTHERBELTPU
BEREMENRE -ZERE/RE
BRERER BRERERRETES
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
29. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 29.ETE@EE
2019 2018
—E-hE “E-)\fF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
BRERE EREFE
(%) HEA BETT (%) %A BETTL
Current Bk
Bank borrowings RITEE
- secured (note (b)) —B A (b)) 456 2019 157,000
- secured (note (¢)) -BHA (MECQ) 5.46-5.75 2018 120,091
— unsecured (note (d)) —®EE () 866  2018-2019 15,000
- secured (note (e)) —~BHEA (M) 2528 2018 70,000
Other borrowings EifEE
- unsecured (note (f)) —EER (M) 18.26 2018 50,000
- secured (note (h)) —BHEA (HEN) - - -
- secured (note (i) —BHA (M) 6.00 2019 43,052
- secured (note (g)) -HEA (M) 7.12 2019 234,987
690,130
Non-current FFENE
Bank borrowings RITEE
- unsecured (note (d)) —EEE (W) 866  2020-2021 78,000
- secured (note (c)) ~BER (M) 5.46-5.75 2020 25,445
Other borrowings EhfsE
- secured (note (h)) —BHER (H3Hh) 8.20 2020 702,000
- secured (note (g)) -HER (Mikg) 7.12 2020 548,304
- secured (note (i) —~BER (F0) 6.00 2019 6,944
- unsecured (note () —mER (W3E() 4.97 2022 10,000
- unsecured (note (k) —EH A (MFK) 497 2023 20,000
1,390,693
ERSRBMEERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z_-ZE—NF=H —H it

29. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued) 29. 5 1B E &)
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed into: DA
Bank borrowings repayable on demand BIRERKRR—FANEEREZRIT
and within one year R 38,813 362,091
Bank borrowings repayable after two years ZERMFEE T FRNEE 2 R1T
but within five years gE 28,000 103,445
Other borrowings repayable on demand BIRERRR—FAEEZH M
and within one year BE 1,301,943 328,039
Other borrowings repayable after two ERMTRELFTFANEEZHM
years but within five years B 30,000 1,287,248
1,398,756 2,080,823

Notes:

(@)  Asat 31 March 2019, except for the secured other borrowings of
approximately HK$593,443,000 and HK$702,000,000 (2018:
HK$234,987,000, HK$702,000,000 and HK$548,304,000) which
were denominated in US$, all borrowings of the Group as at 31
March 2019 and 2018 were denominated in its functional
currencies.

(b) In January 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
HK$200,000,000 with interest bearing at the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 3.5% per annum,
repayable in February 2019, and secured by certain investments
at fair value through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$404,764,000 at 31 March 2018 and
personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhang Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang"),
a substantial shareholder of the Company. In January 2018, such
loan facility was renewed with interest rate revised to HIBOR plus
4.5% per annum and maturity date revised to January 2019. The
balance was fully settled during the year.

(c)  Bank borrowings of approximately RMB20,365,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,813,000) (2018: RMB116,478,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$145,536,000)) with interest
bearing at rates from 5.46% per above to 5.75% per annum and
repayable within three years by instalments were secured by
bank deposits of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,387,000) and a corporate guarantee given by a third
party. (2018: bank deposits of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$35,214,000) and a corporate guarantee given
by a third party) (note 37).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

B 5t

—NWFEZA=Z+—H8 BRAEEHL
fthf& & 478 %593,443,0000T & 7 1
702,000,000C (=& — )\F : B
234,987,0007T /%%02,000,00075&;‘%
#548,304,0007T) AETTEHEN  RZF
—NEFERZZE-N\F=ZA=+—H 4K&
EFAEBEANEEEE-

RZZB—+tF—F ARARBE—FEK
200,000,000t 2 E AL E I BB IRTT
BAEFRE ([EBERTRERS])NEF
35EFE - AR-ZTE-AE-_AEE MU
RZE-N\F=A=+—BHBETENS
¥404,764,000t A THEBEBEZAQF
B ZIRE RRKELE ([REHE]
BAQNBEEZRE)ELOEAERK

A-RZZB-NF-A ZEXBRESE
H FIRERRFERITRAXFSMEF
457 AMABIR-_T-NE-A-&%

BBRERFRATHES-

%’*u FEESA6EES. 7SENFERE
BRZFRDHEENBRTEEHARE
20,365,0007T (A& A 495 %23,813,000
L) (ZZE—N\F: AR%116,478,00070
(8% N #)781145,536,0007T) ) * AR
T1EF AR E20,000,0007T (HE K45
#23,387,00070) k—RE=HELHA
AER(ZE-—NFE RITIFRARE
30,000,0007T (8 & R 478 #35,214,000
L) R—BEZFEHMARER) K
(FF7E37)



For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

29. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

In February 2018, the Company obtained an unsecured banking
facility of HK$93,000,000 with interest bearing at Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate plus 3% per annum and repayable by
instalments in three years.

Bank borrowings of HK$70,000,000 with interest bearing at rates
ranging from 2.5% to 2.8% per annum and repayable within
one year were secured by charges over client’s pledged
securities. The balance was fully settled during the year.

In March 2018, the Company obtained an unsecured term loan
of HK$50,000,000 with interest bearing at 1.4% per month and
repayable within one year. The balance was fully settled during
the year.

In March 2018, the Company issued two notes payable with
principal amounts of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$234,987,000) (“Note A") and US$70,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$548,304,000) (“Note B” and
collectively with Note A referred to as the “Notes”). The Notes
bear interest at 7% per annum and were secured by certain
shares in the capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, approximately 7.26% equity interest of Wins Finance
held by the Group, certain shares of the Company held by Mr.
Zhang and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his
spouse. Note A was repayable in March 2019 and Note B was
repayable in March 2020. Note B with principal amount of
approximately US$23,827,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$185,847,000) was repaid during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants of the
notes payable were breached. The breach of the covenants
constituted events of default under the relevant agreements,
which may cause the relevant notes payable of US$76,173,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$593,443,000) becoming
immediately repayable. Accordingly, the Group classified the
outstanding balance of the notes payable as current liabilities as
at 31 March 2019.

Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS 3R R B

29. 5t BB 8H (#)
iR (4)

(d)

RZZ—N\FZR AABRE—FEIK
FHER 1T BB B 93,000,0007T © B HE &
BEMNENEFIEFE BR=ZFRHD
HEE-

iR 1712 &8 %70,000,0007T 2 N F F F
25EE28EMM KL AR —FRIE
B LEFMEERESEE -ZEHE
RERBELES-

RZZB—N\E=ZF ARAFREERKRA
HAE 308 #50,000,0007T I8 A1.4E
ATECAR—FAEE -ZEHRCRER
EEKETE -

RZZE—N\F=R  NABBITMHEN
=i A% E 5 A30,000,000% 5T (18
A48 %234,987,0007T) ([ZFEA])
70,000,000 7T (&R KB
548,304,0007T) ([FIEB | EEIEAR
BIER]) BERSFIEE  UEAR
Al —EE2ENEARRATETFRG A
£ E BB Wins Finance417.26% % 28 4
mRAEERBENETAARRN A KK
Sk RERBIELOEABRRER 2%
ABRZZE—NF=REE ZHEBAR=
E_EF-AEE-ZEBNALEYN
23,827,000 T (ME R KB
185,847,00070) ' ERFANEE -

HE-_Z-NFZA=+-—RHBLFE &
NEEOHETZHWER - BERZHER
B ETELNSH I ER
76,173,000 Tt (HE R KB
593,443,000 ) &) 48 8 FE (< 52 4% 78 7 A]
EBE-HE RZTE—-—hAhF=ZR=+—
B AEEBENZEENREEHRESE
AREBARE-

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
29. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(h)

In March 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)
with interest bearing at rates ranging from 7.5% to 8.0% per
annum payable annually in arrears, repayable in March 2020,
and secured by the shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, 20% (2018: 10%) equity interest of
Wins Finance held by the Group and personal guarantees given
by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants of the
borrowing were breached. The breach of the covenants
constituted events of default under the relevant agreement,
which may cause the relevant borrowing of HK$702,000,000
becoming immediately repayable. Accordingly, the Group
classified the outstanding balance of the borrowing as current
liabilities as at 31 March 2019.

Other borrowings of approximately RMB5,559,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,500,000) (2018: RMB40,015,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$49,996,000)) with interest
bearing at 6.0% per annum and repayable by instalments in
January and October 2019 were secured by certain finance lease
receivables with carrying amount of RMB9,846,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$11,513,000) (2018: RMB27,169,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$33,947,000)).

In June 2015, the Company issued an unsecured note with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to an independent third
party, bearing interest at 5% per annum payable annually in
arrears. The note is repayable in June 2022.

In May 2016, the Company issued two unsecured notes with a
total principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each to two
independent third parties, bearing interest at 5% per annum
payable annually in arrears. Both notes are repayable in May
2023.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

29.

B B 5% )
MiieE: ()

(h)

RZZE—tF=R AARE—$£5E
/90,000,000X% T (MHER LB
702,000,0007T) M EHRRLE « FIENFF
$7 SEZE80E EEFHAIMN -ZE
ARMEBNR-_Z_ZF=RAEE UAR
7%3%2%%% AR AR R, - A&
l?—rﬁE’JWms Finance #920% ( —Z— )\
S10% ) AR ROk kA R E LB IE
HjE’MIMEﬁEHEIﬂo

HE-Z—NF-A=Z+—HBLEFE &
BMETR#EEER - BERZHEKIEH
METELNSH TTEEEHBE
702,000,000 T &) #E A {8 78 7 BIEE -
At R=FT—NAF=A=+—H %&
EREENREEREIEARDAR:

REF6.0EMNFIRE A nEF
—ARTASHEENHEMEENARE
5,559,0007T (48 & 7 474 6,500,000
L) (ZZF—/\F: AR¥40,015,0005T
(HE R4 149,996,0007T) ) * ABRE
BEARK9,846,0007T (HHERLH B
11,513,000) (ZE—NF: ARM
27,169,0007T (8 E R 4975 %33,947,000
TL))ME TR E S REEE-

RZF—

RZZE—RFA ARAR—RBBULSE
= HETAS T AE10,000,0007T 2 &
WIS REFSENE  AREFFHE
T REBRBER S _FXAEE-

RZZE—XFRA AARAMEEILE
=HETASETEE S AB10,000,000
T EEAEE R AEFSE A
REFHAIN - MBEZEHER-Z
—ZFERAEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 —-ZF—7 / =

30. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS
As at 31 March 2019, the Company had three outstanding
convertible instruments with details set out as follows:

(a)

Convertible bonds issued on 14 June 2017 (the “First
Convertible Bonds”)

On 6 June 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with a subsidiary of China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (the “First
Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2799), in relation to the
issue of the First Convertible Bonds in the principal
amount of US$100,000,000 with conversion rights to
convert the principal amount thereof into the shares of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$4.25
(adjusted for share consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued shares consolidated into one share). Upon
conversion of the First Convertible Bonds, the principal
amount of the First Convertible Bonds shall be exchanged
to HK$ based on the fixed exchange rate of
US$1:HK$7.8. The conversion period shall begin six
months after the issue date and end on the fifth trading
day before the maturity date.

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
First Convertible Bonds. The First Convertible Bonds bore
interest at 4% per annum payable semi-annually in
arrears. The imputed interest on the First Convertible
Bonds was calculated using the effective interest rate at
18.10% per annum. The First Convertible Bonds shall
mature on the second anniversary of its issue date.

The First Convertible Bonds were secured by 30% equity
interest of Wins Finance held by the Group to the First
Subscriber as at the end of both reporting periods.

30. AI#@AR TR

R_F-NF=B=+—8 ARAH=
SRR TR T A - BRI T

(a)

R-ZE—tEARATHBERITHATER
BESF ([EHTRERES])
RZZE—+EFRANB  AAFEHFP
BEmEEEERMAERARTN—M
WEAR ([BRRBAI HBHOR
Bt PTER £ AR AR SR £ 2799)
FLEE 1T K £ %8 4100,000,0003 JT HY
B BRES (MEIREREEK
4257 (Bt EERET TREBETR
BEHE—RBRDRGE HIELT
) BEAR S EE B AR T D
ERE)IIL—DRBHE - R EM
AR E S SRS B AR E
EMAR S REBIRIETHBE7.87TH
& E [ & 5 R - R R 0 B
THEENE AR WHREEA A
AAZXSHEER-

BOEABHMABERESASEN
100% - BHL AT AR EH LT F4ERT
B -HNEAGHFHESF - a0
BEEFNEEN S TERERER
LI I10EFE -BH AT BRKESH 1
REITHEE —RFRH-

R ERESRR gt af R ESH
RN E BB B)Wins Finance 30%A%
AEFZERTFTEEREA

RBREMMRERERAA

183



184

Notes to the Financial Statements

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

30. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Convertible bonds issued on 14 June 2017 (the “First
Convertible Bonds") (Continued)

On 18 October 2018, the Company and the First
Subscriber entered into an amendment deed to amend
certain terms and conditions of the First Convertible
Bonds and pursuant to which the conversion price of the
convertible share was revised from HK$4.25 (adjusted for
share consolidation on the basis that every ten issued
shares consolidated into one share) to HK$0.65 each.
Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 18 October 2018 and 15 November
2018 and circular dated 13 December 2018 respectively.

On 15 November 2018, the Company entered into a
supplemental undertaking with the First Subscriber
pursuant to which the Company agreed to further amend
certain terms and conditions of the First Convertible
Bonds.

On 13 December 2018, the modification of the terms of
such convertible bond was approved by the shareholders
at the Company's extraordinary general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no conversion
rights attaching to the First Convertible Bonds were
exercised. The outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds as at 31 March 2019 amounted to
US$99,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$772,200,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants
of the convertible bonds were breached. The breach of
the covenants constituted events of default under the
convertible bonds instrument, which may cause the
relevant convertible bonds becoming immediately
repayable. Accordingly, the Group classified the
outstanding balance of the convertible bonds as current
liabilities as at 31 March 2019.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

30. MR IR (@)
(@) R-B—tEAATMARTHTR
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FER)EF] BEE0.65T i — F
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

30. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Convertible Bonds issued on 12 September 2017 (the
“Second Convertible Bonds")

On 24 August 2017, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (the
"Second Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2277), in relation
to the issue of the Second Convertible Bonds in the
principal amount of HK$437,000,000 with conversion
rights to convert the principal amount thereof into the
shares of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.425
(adjusted for share consolidation on the basis that every ten
issued shares consolidated into one share). The conversion
period shall begin six months after the issue date and end
on the fifth trading day before the maturity date.

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
Second Convertible Bonds. The Second Convertible Bonds
bore interest at 4% per annum payable semi-annually in
arrears. The imputed interest on the Second Convertible
Bonds was calculated using the effective interest rate at
17.93% per annum. The Second Convertible Bonds shall
mature on the second anniversary of its issue date.

As at 31 March 2018, the Second Convertible Bonds were
secured by 15% (which was diluted to approximately
12.17% as at 31 March 2019) equity interest of the
Securities Company, an other financial asset held by the
Group to the Second Subscriber.

On 7 May 2018, convertible bonds with principal amount
of HK$7,803,000 were converted into 18,360,000
ordinary shares. The outstanding principal amount of the
Second Convertible Bonds as at 31 March 2019
amounted to HK$429,197,000.

On 28 September 2018, the Company and the Second
Subscriber entered into a deed of undertaking and a
supplemental deed to amend the terms of the Second
Convertible Bonds and pursuant to which i) the
conversion price of the convertible share was revised from
HK$0.425 (adjusted for share consolidation on the basis
that every ten issued shares consolidated into one share)
to HK$0.65 each and ii) interest rate revised from 4% to
7% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears. Further
details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
18 October 2018 and circular dated 13 December 2018.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

30. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Convertible Bonds issued on 12 September 2017 (the
“Second Convertible Bonds”) (Continued)

On 9 November 2018, the Company entered into a
second supplemental deed with the Second Subscriber
pursuant to which the Company agreed to further amend
certain terms and conditions of the Second Convertible
Bonds.

On 13 December 2018, the modification of the terms of
such convertible bond was approved by the shareholders
at the Company's extraordinary general meeting. Upon
the modification of the terms, modification gain of
approximately HK$654,000 was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants
of the convertible bonds were breached. The breach of
the covenants constituted events of default under the
convertible bonds instrument, which may cause the
relevant convertible bonds becoming immediately
repayable. Accordingly, the Group classified the entire
outstanding balance of the convertible bonds as current
liabilities as at 31 March 2019.

Convertible Notes issued on 24 October 2018 (the
“Convertible Notes”)

On 4 September 2018, the Company entered into a note
purchase agreement with an indirect wholly-owned
special purpose vehicle of CCB International (Holdings)
Limited (the “Investor”, whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 939), in
relation to the issue of the Convertible Notes in the
principal amount of HK$185,847,419 with conversion
rights to convert the principal amount thereof into the
shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.88 (adjusted for share consolidation on the basis
that every ten issued shares consolidated into one share).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 —-ZF—7 / =

30. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Convertible Notes issued on 24 October 2018 (the
“Convertible Notes”) (Continued)

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes bore interest at
7% per annum payable semi-annually. The imputed
interest on the Convertible Notes was calculated using
the effective interest rate at 14.43% per annum. The
Convertible Notes shall mature on 29 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Notes were exercised.
The outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes
as at 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$185,847,419.

The Convertible Notes were secured by certain shares in
the capital of an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, 7.26% equity interest of Wins Finance, and
certain shares of the Company held by Mr. Zhang and
personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse to
the Investor.

The fair value of the liability components were estimated
at the issue date using equivalent market interest rates
for similar bonds without a conversion option. The
residual amounts are assigned as the equity components
and are included in equity. The fair values are determined
by the directors of the Company based on the valuation
by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, an independent
valuer.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants
of the convertible notes were breached. The breach of the
covenants constituted events of default under the note
purchase agreement, which may cause the relevant
convertible notes becoming immediately repayable.
Accordingly, the Group classified the outstanding balance
of the convertible notes as current liabilities as at 31
March 2019.

30. AR R (&)

(c)

R-ZE-NF+A-THBAETHA
BRREE(TARREE]) (&)
BOTBEATRBREEASED
100% - J MR BIBILZ T F7EFT B
AB¥FIF - RBREENEEF
BAOERERANEGFT1443E5
B BREEBER T _TF= A
—t+hBEH-

RE-T—AF=A=+—ALL#F
- B AR R RN A B R
TEeR=E-NF=A=+-R"
RETE PPN S PV
185,847,419t °

AMBEEEUAARARN—HEEE2E
B ARRAPETFTRML  Wins
Financef)7.26% f% A # 25 M ok 7t &£
BENARE A TRMOERLERE
P VEE F B A ERERTIREE -

BEISHAFETINETHBEA
T mERENRUESNRETS
MERMAE - BRI D EIESER
MOWE AR R FETRARRF
EEENBUHEMESEATEE
RABHEEREE -

BE_Z-NF=RA=+—HILF
E-AgREENE TREWRER -
ERTLHBREEREMZTENS
1 Al RE S BRRE A R RIR AL AD
ER-AW R-_T-AF=A
=t B AREHAIBREEENR
BEERBEOEARBEE
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Bt 75 ¥R 5k BT &
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=HA=+—HIFE
30. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. A[@EE TR (2
The convertible instruments recognised in the consolidated \,Z?r"éﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁwm—ﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬂﬁiu—lt
financial statements are calculated as follows: FAEE
2019
—E-hF
First Second
Convertible Convertible Convertible
Bonds Bonds Notes Total
EEiiA i
EIE:d EIE:d: g
E& EF E$i g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFTR BYETR BETx
Face value of convertible AR TERBEITHEG
instruments at the date H1E
of issuance
Equity component R

Liability component on initial RET RV SRR

recognition at the date BEHD

of issuance
Accumulated finance costs RETRE KA
Accumulated interest paid REEAFE
Accumulated conversion REF{TE R 2R

options exercised
Modification gain (note 5) &aTH s (FF3ES)
Liability component as at RZZE—-NF=H

31 March 2019 =t+t—HNBEEIHD
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B 75 R 2R M =
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_=—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
30. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. AfMEBE TR (&)
2018
—E-N\F
First Second
Convertible  Convertible
Bonds Bonds Total
=Ei £t
AT R Al AR
BEH BEH k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BEFRT BB
Face value of convertible ATl T AR BEITABNEE
instruments at the date of issuance 778,760 437,000 1,215,760
Equity component D (182,808)  (100,631)  (283,439)
Liability component on initial RETHBRYSHRARHNEENS
recognition at the date of issuance 595,952 336,369 932,321
Accumulated finance costs RETRE R A 90,197 34,010 124,207
Accumulated interest paid REEMAFE (15,729) (8,716) (24,445)
Conversion options exercised AT E (6,660) - (6,660)
Liability component as at RZE—NF=A=+T—HHNERE
31 March 2018 =i 663,760 361,663 1,025,423

RBREMMRERERAA
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R B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z _—ZFE—NF=HA=1+—HILFE

31. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liability) during the year
are as follows:

31.

iR 5E ¥ IR
BEEBBEEE, (BBE)RFAZEHI
T

Unrealised
fair value
gains of
investments
at fair value Provision Provision
through for for
profit or  impairment guarantee Intangible
loss loss losses assets Total
EBER
UATE
Gk RE
MARER REEE ERER
AFER G B1E BiE BREE ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT AETT
At 1 April 2017 RZFE—+EmA—H (68) - - - (68)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WBE B B A 7 - 1,660 (2,247) (2,542) (3,129)
Deferred tax charged to the NhREBGRABERNELT
consolidated statement of I (fi310)
profit or loss (note 10) - (255) - - (255)
Exchange difference R =S - 105 (153) - (48)
At 31 March 2018 and RZZE-NE=ZA=+—-H
1 April 2018 EZE-NFMA—H (68) 1,510 (2,400) (2,542) (3,500)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to &t A/ (BB )GREERE
the consolidated statement of ~ HYIERLAIIE (MF5E10)
profit or loss (note 10) - (97) 155 - 58
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+—H (68) 1,413 (2,245) (2,542) (3,442)

At 31 March 2019, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$3,134,688,000 (2018:
HK$1,715,917,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong
Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised at the end of the reporting period in
respect of these losses as they have arisen in companies that
have been loss-making for some time or due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of those companies,
and accordingly, it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

R-E-AhE=A=+—B A&EEESE
BEEZTIBEIELAE3,134,688,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 3% 1R a3k MY &
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NWF=HA=1—HIFE
DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31.BEMIA ()
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable BERBECEMGERE AP REMEAR
for dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the AIBZZEENFE—A— BRI s AT
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 awards. Deferred FIRAI AR BN TEIFL o WML 4R & B 75
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated WERP AN E QR 2 RETFERT R A
financial statements in respect of temporary differences FEAL K B Z 588 #606,371,000T (=F
attributable to the accumulated taxable profits of the PRC — J\ % : 5 ¥5578,780,0007C ) HE R R 18
subsidiaries amounting to HK$606,371,000 (2018: JR B 2 AN 55 [ 2 10 ] 8¢ (o) B By = R A
HK$578,780,000) as the Group is able to control the timing - B7EA] B &9 5 R AR A gE T~ & % 0] ) i
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is ERho
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
SHARE CAPITAL 32. B &
2019 2018
—E-F —E-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Authorised: ERE
500,000,000,000 (2018: 5,000,000,000,000) 500,000,000,000f% ( =& — )\ F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 5,000,000,000,0000% ) & % Ml B 7%
(2018: HK$0.001) each #0.01t (ZF— \F : E%0.001
7T) 2 E Bk 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER:
1,568,176,188 (2018: 15,663,401,881) 1,568,176,188 (—ZZ& — )\ F:
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 15,663,401,881% ) T I A B &
(2018: HK$0.001) each 0.017C (ZZ— \F : j#%0.0017T)
2 BB 15,682 15,663
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 32.B8%&F (&)
A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital RRRBEBITRARKRG HEBR 2 EEHE
and share premium account is as follows: T -
Share
No. of premium
shares Issued account
in issue capital (note a) Total
R aER
ERTRAEE BRITRE R B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEFT BETL
At 1 April 2017 R_E—tENA—-H 14,324,137,300 14,324 2,222,353 2,236,677
Issue of shares upon exercise of warrants RAFERRERRETRN (M)
(note a) 1,376,551,640 1,377 538,232 539,609
Share issue expenses (note a) RO ETRSY (MiEa) - - (15,775) (15,775)
Shares repurchased and cancelled (note b) ~ 2BEE R FHRD (Fb) (55,640,000) (56) (26,359) (26,415)
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible 78 # ] # [k (& 58475 (MzEc)
bonds (note ¢) 18,352,941 18 8,484 8,502
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R-E-)\FZA=+-HR
“E-\¥EA-H 15,663,401,881 15,663 2,726,935 2,742,598
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible AT AR EHEHTRN (Mid)
bonds (note d) 18,360,000 19 8,357 8,376
Effect of share consolidation (note e) R A Gz F2 (Hite) (14,113,585,693) - - -
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=R=+—-H 1,568,176,188 15,682 2,735,292 2,750,974

Notes:

(@  In June 2017, the Company issued 1,376,551,640 new shares
with a par value of HK$0.001 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.382 each upon exercise of warrants for a total cash
consideration of HK$539,609,000 (before subscription expenses
of HK$15,775,000).

As at 31 March 2018 and 2019, the Company had no outstanding
warrants after all the remaining warrants were expired.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

W

RZE—+tFRNA RARRRREE
TEREABETRRNBERE0382TE
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

32. 18 %&E (&)
Max: (&)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company (b)

repurchased its own shares on the Stock Exchange with details
set out as follows:

B RS 3R R B

HE-T-/\F=A=T—HBLEFE K
RAIPRBZ R B &G BN
T

No. of Highest price  Lowest price
shares paid per paid per Aggregate
Month/year F,/ A repurchased share share amount paid
BE ZNHNER  XEONEk B
M &R B ER HIEER HmE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
B B BETT
December 2017 “E—+F+-A 55,640,000 0.500 0.435 26,415
In January 2018, all 55,640,000 shares repurchased were WZZ—)\F—H - FH55,640,0000% &
cancelled and accordingly the issued share capital of the RS ANARE EITIRAMAEER
Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The LPRERMOEE SELOENEED
premium payable on repurchase was charged against the share HERR A7 s B AR HIBR ©
premium account.
In March 2018, the Company issued 18,352,941 new shares with 0 RZZE-—NF=ZA EXxX2EAR
a par value of HK$0.001 each at a conversion price of HK$0.425 1,000,0003 7t (#HE R 4975 % 7,800,000
each upon conversion of convertible bonds with principal TL) B AR IR E S I TR AR E LS
amount of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HE SN B#0.4257087718,352,941%
HK$7,800,000). FHREEREEE0.0017T HHT AR ©
In May 2018, the Company issued 18,360,000 new shares with a (d RZZE-—N\FHA RRAREKEERE
par value of HK$0.001 each at a conversion price of HK$0.425 #7,803,0007T /) A #A AR 18 5 18 #8 #L s -
each upon conversion of convertible bonds with principal LNEBREGRE®0.425T % 17
amount of HK$7,803,000 (note 30(b)). 18,360,0000% & i% [ {& 7 #50.001 7T &9 ¥
Petn (HiEE30(b)) -
In October 2018, the Company proposed to implement a share (&) MZZT—N\FTA KARREHREHERHD

consolidation on the basis that every ten issued and unissued
shares of HK$0.001 each be consolidated into one consolidated
share of HK$0.01 each. The proposed ordinary resolution to
approve the share consolidation was duly passed by the
shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 9 November 2018. The share
consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018.

O HEERKESTREREEREE
0.001TZ EETRAEITRHEH B —
MG R EEEE0.01TTZ A BHIRD iR
ENHERDAHZEBREREN_-F
—NF+—ANBRITHREFERI RS L
EARRRRARERRFTNERBS -
BihaHR —_ZT—-—N\F+—-—A+-A&
o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z_-ZE—NF=H —H |FFJE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) with a term of
ten years commencing from 31 August 2012.

The primary purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme were disclosed in
the Company’s circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2012 Scheme are
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers to the Group whom the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company. Share options granted may be exercised during the
period as notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making the offer and shall be at any time from the date of
grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cContinued) 33.lBRRERE )

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed 10% of the
total number of the Company's ordinary shares in issue on
respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in respect
of which share options may be granted to each of the
participants (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2012 Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the
Company'’s ordinary shares in issue. The Company may renew
the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior
shareholders’ approval in general meeting and the Stock
Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in the
Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2012 Scheme shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be
less than the greatest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date on which a share option is
granted; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date on which a share option is granted; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 1,568,176,188
shares with par value of HK$0.001 each upon the approval of
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on 5
September 2018. The total number of shares available for issue
under the 2012 Scheme was further adjusted upon the
completion of share consolidation in November 2018 to
156,817,618 shares with par value of HK$0.01 each.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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MR Rk et
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z_-F—NF=A=+—HIFFZ
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. MRSt ® o)
The following share options were outstanding under the 2012 FANZT-_FEBETRITER 2 BRE
Scheme during the year: R
Number of share options**
BlER A
Date of Exercise Exercise
At Granted  Cancelled ~ Adjustment ~ Exercised At grant of period price of
1 April during during  for share during 31 March share of share share
2018 the year the year  consolidation the year 2019 options* options options**
—2-)\§ #RH ZE-nE BiE BiRE BiE
mA-B  ERRE  FAEE ABEE ERAR ZA=T-A Rt A E s REEe
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000 HKS$ per share
T Th T T T Th BRAE
Directors 2
In aggregate &:f 2342015 23:4-2015 10 22-4-2025 4970
Z5-RFMA-tZR  ZE-REMA-T=A
ETECREMACTCR
In aggregate 43t 20-7-2018 20-7-2018 t0 19-7-2028 0.101
ZE-\ECAZTH ZE-\£tAZ1H
EZZ-N\FtATAB
In aggregate &3 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1,02%%x*
“Z-N\5/\ARE ZE-NENARE
EZZ2)\§/\ARA
Total £

Weighted average exercise price

nEFIAER
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B 7% 3 2 B &L
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. MRt ® o)
The following share options were outstanding under the 2012 FANZT-—ZFFEBTRITHE WA
Scheme during the year: (Continued) T ()
Number of share options**
BlvEs A
Date of Exercise Exercise
At Granted  Cancelled ~ Adjustment ~ Exercised At grant of period price of
1 April during during  for share during 31 March share of share share
2018 the year the year  consolidation the year 2019 options* options options**
—2-)\§ HRH ZI-NE BiE BRE BiE
mA-B  ERRE  FAEE  AHEE ERAR ZA=T-A Rt A E ksH  REe
'000 '000 '000 ‘000 '000 '000 HKS$ per share
Th T T T T T BRAR
(Continued) ( #& )
Employees E&
In aggregate &3t 2072018 20-7-2018 t0 19-7-2028 0.101
“3-\Ecfz1A “E-\5cA1H
EZRZN\EtATAE
In aggregate 43T 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1.02%xx*
Z2-\EN\RRA ZZ-\§NARA
EZZC)\E/\ALB
Total 3

Weighted average exercise price

IETHTRE
Non-employees #(EE
In aggregate 43t 2342015 23-4-2015 10 22-4-2025 4.9%**
“E-RFMA-tZR —E-REMA-T=A
ETE-REMACTCA
In aggregate 43 2072018 20-7-2018 to 19-7-2028 0.101
ZE-NECAZTE ZE-\ELACTE
EZRI\ELATAR
In aggregate 231 682018 68201810 5-8-2028 10205
“Z-\5/\ARA ZE-\EN\AREE
ZZZN\ENALR
Total B8

Weighted average exercise price
ETEEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —Z—/

=7

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the 2012
Scheme during the year: (Continued)

Number of share options**

33. B HERTE (4
FR-T— - FHBBTRITEZ BRE
mT ()

e

BREs A
Date of Exercise Exercise
At Granted  Cancelled ~ Adjustment  Exercised At grant of period price of
1 April during during  for share during 31 March share of share share
2017 the year the year  consolidation the year 2018 options* options  options**
ZEtE iR ZE-\E B B B
mA-B  EARY  FAER  AMEE  ERAE ZA=T-H RiLEH s TEEe
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000 HKS$ per share
Tk TR T TH TR TH BRAE
Director %
In aggregate 43t 100,000 - - - - 100,000 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 t0 22-4-2025 049
“E-RFMAZTZR ZZ-REMA-t+=A
E-ECREMACTCA
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.49 - - - - HK$0.49
ETHAEE B4 %0497
Non-employees #(E&
In aggreqate 43 588,276 - - - - 588,276 23-4-2015  23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 049
ZZ-RERA-tZR  -E-REMA-TZA
F-RCIEMACTCR
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.49 - - - - HK$0.49
EFTEE AB049T %0497

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

* The vesting period of the share options was from the date
of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

**  The exercise price and the number of the share options
are subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus
issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

*** At the date of grant, the exercise price of the share
options was HK$0.490 per share. The exercise price was
adjusted to HK$4.9 per share following the share
consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018
(note 32).

***%% At the date of grant, the exercise price of the share
options was HK$0.102 per share. The exercise price was
adjusted to HK$1.02 per share following the share
consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018
(note 32).

On 23 April 2015, 200,000,000 and 488,275,820 share
options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.49 each were
granted by the Company to directors of the Company and non-
employees of the Group, respectively, under the 2012 Scheme.
During the year ended 31 March 2017, 100,000,000 share
options were transferred from share options granted to director
to share options granted to non-employee upon the resignation
of a director.

In July 2018, 1,266,815,134 share options to subscribe for the
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.101 each were granted by the Company to
certain eligible persons, including directors of the Company
and employees of the Group under the 2012 Scheme and were
fully cancelled on 31 July 2018.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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MR MR (=)
USRI 2 5 e B B AR
ETEMBBAL -

o METTHASRAL IR I T AR E
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

In August 2018, 1,266,815,134 share options to subscribe for
the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an
exercise price of HK$0.102 each were granted by the Company
to certain eligible persons, including directors of the Company
and employees of the Group under the 2012 Scheme. As a
result of the share consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018, the exercise price of the share options
granted in August 2018 has been adjusted to HK$1.02 each
and the number of ordinary shares attributable to the share
options granted on 6 August 2018 has been adjusted to
126,681,513 shares. As at 31 March 2019, no share options
exercised.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year ended 31 March 2019 was estimated as at the date of
grant by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer, using the binomial option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The values of share options
calculated using the binomial option pricing model were
subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the
subjective nature of and uncertainty relating to a number of
assumptions of the expected future performance input to the
model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself. The
value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used to
estimate the fair value of share options granted but not
cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2019:

Contractual life of options (years) 10

Exercise price (HK$ per share) 1.02 (adjusted)
Historical volatility (%) 94.69

Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.13

Exercise multiple 2.2-2.8

The aggregate fair value of the share options granted was
approximately HK$74,268,000 and was recognised as share
option expense in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2019.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had 195,509,095
(adjusted) (2018: 688,275,820) shares issuable under
outstanding options granted under 2012 Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
195,509,095 (adjusted) (2018: 688,275,820) additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
approximately HK$1,955,000 (2018: HK$688,000) and share
premium of approximately HK$464,515,000 (2018:
HK$336,567,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Company had 195,509,095 shares issuable
under options outstanding under the 2012 Scheme, which
represented approximately 12.5% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

RESERVES

(@) The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in share premium account are
distributable to shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(if)  Convertible instruments equity reserve
The convertible instruments equity reserve
represents the value of the unexercised equity
component of convertible instruments issued by the
Company. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with accounting policies set out in note 2.4(w).
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34. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to eligible participants that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments in note
2.4(s).

Warrant reserve

The warrant reserve represents the aggregate
consideration for the issue of 1,376,551,640 First
Warrants and 688,275,820 Second Warrants, both
of which were issued at HK$0.01 each on 26 June
2015. The First warrants and Second Warrants
entitled the holders to subscribe for 1,376,551,640
and 688,275,820 ordinary shares at subscription
prices of HK$0.43 (adjusted: HK$0.382) and
HK$0.55 (adjusted: HK$0.489) each, respectively
during the period of two years commencing from
the date of issue. During the year ended 31 March
2018, 1,376,551,460 warrants were exercised and
the remaining warrants expired. The Company had
no outstanding warrants after all the remaining
warrants expired in 2018.

Capital redemption reserve

In prior years, the Company repurchased its own
ordinary shares and those repurchased shares were
cancelled. The premium payable on repurchase was
charged against the share premium account and
transferred to the capital redemption reserve.
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34. RESERVES (continued)

(b)
(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Distributable reserve

The distributable reserve arose from prior years
including:

(a) the Company effected a capital reorganisation
which involved (i) consolidation of shares; (ii)
capital reduction; and (iii) the application of
the credit arising from such reduction towards
the distributable reserve of the Company;

deemed disposals of partial interests in
subsidiaries to non-controlling interests;

acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries
from non-controlling interests;

a transfer from distributable reserve towards
the retained profits of the Company; and

(d)

(e) share of reserve of associates.

Special reserve

The special reserve represents the difference
between the aggregate amount of the share capital
and share premium account of a company which
was the former holding company of the Group and
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
transfer part of their profit after tax to the statutory
surplus reserve, which are non-distributable, before
profit distributions are made. The amounts of the
transfers are subject to the approval of the board of
directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.
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34. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

Available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
Prior to 1 April 2018, this reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets held at the end of the
reporting period in accordance with HKAS 39. This
amount has been reclassified to retained profits
upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 9 at 1 April
2018 (see note 2.2).

Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

The investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income under HKFRS
9 that is held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 2.4(i)).

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from translating
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2.4(v).
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(i)

Acquisition of Wins Finance

On 13 December 2016, the Group entered into a share
purchase agreement (the “SPA") with the sellers to
acquire 67.1% equity interest in Wins Finance. The shares
of Wins Finance are listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market
LLC. Wins Finance and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Wins Finance Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of financial guarantee and finance leasing
services in the PRC. The Group acquired Wins Finance
Group to extend its financial services business in the PRC.

Pursuant to the SPA, the consideration amounted to
US$260 million would be settled by promissory notes with
different maturity dates. The first tranche of promissory
notes of US$58 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$452 million) would be issued within six months after
signing the SPA and will mature within 12 months from
the date of issue. The second tranche of promissory notes
of US$70 million (equivalent to approximately HK$546
million) would be issued within five business days after
the closing of the acquisition and will mature within 12
months from the date of issue. The third tranche of
promissory notes of US$132 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,030 million) would be issued within
six months after the closing of the acquisition and will
mature within 36 months from the date of issue. The
acquisition of Wins Finance was completed on 3 August
2017. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
settled the first and second tranches of promissory notes
in aggregate of US$128 million by cash. The Group also
partly settled the third tranche of promissory notes of
US$106 million by cash during the year ended 31 March
2018 with an aggregate remaining unsettled balance of
US$26 million as at 31 March 2018.
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)
(i) Acquisition of Wins Finance (Continued)
The following table summaries the consideration paid for
the acquisition of Wins Finance, the fair value of the

35. KB EB AT (2)
(i) YWEEWins Finance (&)
TR Al 5t U BB Wins FinancesZ {1 #9
RE FIRBEERAEEBERK

assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition ERAHNATE.
date.
HK$'000
BT T
Consideration: RME:

Promissory notes LR 2,028,000
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired P U B8 & & N &£ B BRI B B8

and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date NEERAT:

were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment ME R N ERE 3,828

Available-for-sale investments HHEKRE 1,478,926

Finance lease receivables JE Wt & 7H & A 591,095

Accounts receivable JE 5 BR 3K 11,832

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B A - a N E i FE Y IE 42,182

Deferred tax assets EEFIBE E 1,660

Restricted bank deposits ZIRH BT EZ 191,083

Cash and bank balances Re RRITEE 145,954

Interest-bearing borrowings TEREE (294,290)

Other payables and accruals EmENZENESTER (107,945)

Tax payable JE 1~ 15 18 (22,091)

Deferred tax liabilities EEFIREE (2,247)

2,039,987
Less: Non-controlling interests (note i) B FEERR R (PR EED) (671,156)

1,368,831
Cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEEECHEERA:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired IR S RIS ZEY 145,954
Consideration KRB 2,028,000
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired g : FRUEE A BB FEE A FE (1,368,831)
Goodwill arising from the acquisition (note ii) EWEEEERNEE (i) 659,169
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(i)

Acquisition of Wins Finance (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The non-controlling interests (32.9%) in Wins Finance
Group was recognised at the date of acquisition and was
measured at its proportion of the net assets of Wins
Finance Group amounted to approximately
HK$2,039,987,000.

(i) The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Wins Finance
is attributable to the future growth and profitability in
relation to the financial guarantee and finance leasing
services business in the PRC. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

During the period from the date of acquisition to 31
March 2018, Wins Finance Group contributed
HK$47,591,000 to the revenue of the Group and a profit
of HK$100,694,000 to the profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2018. Had the acquisition occurred
on 1 April 2017, the revenue and profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2018 would have been
HK$514,414,000 and HK$352,074,000, respectively. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operation of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2017, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

Acquisition related costs amounting to HK$4,794,000 have
been excluded from the consideration and have been
recognised as administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The fair value and gross contractual amounts of finance
lease receivables, accounts receivable and other
receivables at the date of acquisition approximated their
carrying amounts and were expected to be fully recovered
in the future.
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(i)

Acquisition of People Securities

On 1 September 2016, the Group entered into a
conditional agreement with an independent third party
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase the
entire issued share capital of People Securities Company
Limited (“People Securities”), a Hong Kong private limited
company which is a licensed corporation carrying out
businesses in Type 1 (dealing in securities), 4 (advising on
securities) and 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")
and also a member of Professional Insurance Brokers
Association of Hong Kong (the “Acquisition of People
Securities”) at a total consideration of HK$25 million
aiming to create a one-stop financial conglomerate to
provide a comprehensive range of financial services. The
Acquisition of People Securities was completed on 1
November 2017.
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Acquisition of People Securities (Continued)
The following table summarises the consideration paid for
the Acquisition of People Securities, the fair value of the

(ii)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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35. KB B A B (

(i) WBBRESR(£)
TERB I ES
B -FTREBEENRAAERGERIKE

B RS 3R R B

HIr+/R

REFEOR

assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition AHEIM A FE
date.
HK$'000
BT T
Consideration: RE:
At acquisition date R UEE A B
Cash and bank balances e RIBITES 25,000
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired FrUt & E & A& E A ERWE B 85
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date NEFERAT:
were as follows:
Property, plant and equipment M BB kEE 172
Intangible assets mILEE 15,409
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE - e R E e Y kI8 901
Brokers commission receivables e L Be 2
Amount due from a shareholders JE W A% B R IB 28
Cash and bank balances Re RRITEE 9,594
Brokers commission payables JEfTEE a2 ie (2)
Deferred tax liability EEHIEEE (2,542)
Other payables and accruals E fh T SRIE R fEET B A (67)
23,495
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: ISR EE AR IR 07 SRR
Cash consideration paid BENEERE (25,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FTER e RIS EED 9,594
(15,406)
Consideration KRB 25,000
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired &l : A7 g BE 7] 3% B )% & & A (B (23,495)
Goodwill arising on acquisition HWEEERHE 1,505
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(ii)

Acquisition of People Securities (Continued)

During the period from the date of acquisition to 31
March 2018, People Securities contributed HK$25,000 to
the revenue of the Group and a loss of HK$4,102,000 to
the profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2018. Had the acquisition occurred on 1 April 2017, the
revenue and profit of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2018 would have been HK$500,614,000 and
HK$296,538,000 respectively. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of the operation of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had
acquisition been completed on 1 April 2017, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

Acquisition related costs amounted to HK$60,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as administrative expenses in the current
year in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value and gross contractual amounts of other
receivables, brokers commission receivables and an
amount due from a shareholder at the date of acquisition
approximated their carrying amounts and were expected
to be fully recovered in the future.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
completed the acquisition of Wins Finance at a
consideration of US$260,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,028,000,000). The consideration was
settled by promissory notes with different maturity dates.
The details are set out in note 35.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, an associate of
the Group distributed a dividend in specie of its
investments of approximately HK$360,999,000 to the
Group. Such investment was classified as available-for-
sale investment at fair value until it was disposed in
February 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
disposed of an available-for-sale investment of the Group
at a consideration of HK$750,000,000. The consideration
was settled by cash of HK$150,000,000 and a promissory
note with principal amount of HK$600,000,000, which
was repayable in August 2018. The details are set out in
note 23.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group
acquired 36.17% equity interest in Imagination for a
consideration of HK$144,500,000. The consideration was
settled by cash of HK$100,000,000 and a promissory
note with principal amount of HK$44,500,000, which
was repayable upon completion date. Such promissory
note was fully repaid in June 2018. The details are set out
in note 14.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group entered
into an agreement with Entity A, pursuant to which Entity
A agreed to allot and issue its consideration shares,
representing approximately 19.32% of the total issued
share capital of Entity A at a consideration of
HK$600,000,000 and the Group agreed to return a
promissory note with principal amount of
HK$600,000,000 to Entity A for cancellation. The
transaction was completed in April 2018. The details are
set out in note 17(b).

36. EEHFBREXH

(a)
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37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2018, bank borrowings of HK$157,000,000
were secured by certain investments at fair value through profit
or loss held by the Group with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$404,764,000 and the personal guarantee
given by Mr. Zhang.

As at 31 March 2019, bank borrowings of approximately
RMB20,365,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,813,000)
(2018: RMB116,478,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$145,536,000)) and HK$Nil (2018: HK$70,000,000) were
secured by bank deposits of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,387,000) (2018: RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$35,214,000)) and with a
corporate guarantee given by an independent third party and
charges over client’s pledged securities, respectively.
US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)
(2018: US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$702,000,000)) of other borrowings were secured by the
shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, 20% (2018: 10%) equity interest of Wins Finance
held by the Group and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang
and his spouse.

Other borrowings of approximately RMB5,559,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,500,000) (2018: RMB40,015,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$49,996,000)) were secured by
certain finance lease receivables with carrying amount of
approximately RMB9,846,000 (equivalent to HK$11,513,000)
(2018: RMB27,169,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$33,947,000)).

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the First Convertible Bonds
were secured by 30% equity interest of Wins Finance held by
the Group, the Second Convertible Bonds were secured by
15% (which was diluted to approximately 12.17% as at 31
March 2019) equity interest of the Securities Company held by
the Group and the Notes were secured by certain shares in the
capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
approximately 7.26% equity interest of Wins Finance held by
the Group, certain shares of the Company held by Mr. Zhang
and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =%

37.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Convertible Notes were secured by
certain shares in the capital of an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, 7.26% equity interest of Wins
Finance, and certain shares of the Company held by Mr. Zhang
and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group provides loan guarantee services to enterprises and
individuals in the PRC. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had
contracts in relation to loan guarantee business of
approximately HK$296,054,000 (2018: HK$546,419,000) in
which approximately HK$2,884,000 (2018: HK$5,464,000) was
recognised as guarantee compensation provision in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leases staff quarters and office premises under
operating lease arrangements. The leases for the properties are
negotiated for terms of ranging from one to three years (2018:
one to three years).

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under the
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2019 2018

—E-NF —ZT-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BET T

Within one year —FR 16,001 35,274
In the second year to fifth year, inclusive S -FEZFRF (BREERFE) 16,295 43,574
32,296 78,848
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. AEH X H
(a) Saved as the transactions and arrangements disclosed () BEZEUBRERHEMIBOFIHEEZR
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had SREHIN AEERBEZZT— N1
no other material transactions with related parties during FRZE-NF=A=1+T—RHIEFE
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. HEAEFTREMERRS -
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (b) AEHREXEEEABZHM:
2019 2018
—®B-hE  —TNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Short-term employee benefits WHIE B2 T 16,584 6,415
Post-employment payments R AKAE T 89 74
Equity-settled share option expense NEREEEREZFX 45,296 -
Total compensation paid to key EmMFEFEEEAB I Z R
management personnel 61,969 6,489
Further details of directors’ remuneration are included in ESTMWE—PHBERNZEYBHRE
note 8 to these financial statements. MIFES ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. BENES &I R
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REERR SEF BT AZKREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as wn
follows:
2019
—E-hE
Financial assets
SREE
Financial
assets
Financial at fair value
assets through other
at fair value comprehensive
through income
profit or loss FEBBERN
EBHMEERA AT ETIR
UATEIEZERER ZEREE
Financial
assets
Held for Equity  at amortised
trading Others  investments cost Total
REBHERE
1]
HEEE Hity RERE LtHER ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BETT BETT BETT BETR

Other financial assets HthemEE
Accounts receivable JEWUBR 3
Factoring receivables FEW R IR
Loans receivable EWER

Finance lease receivables EUmERERE
Financial assets included in BERERFE Re kA
prepayments, deposits tENRE SREE

and other receivables
Investments at fair value BRBENATFEIERZ

through profit or loss RE
Restricted bank deposits ZRHFETER
Cash and bank balances Be RfTER
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE_-F—ANF=A=1+—HIFZF
41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. RENBI Sz &M T H »#)
(Continued)
2019 (Continued)
—E-hE(£)
Financial liabilities
SREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
% $ 88 BRAR
HIRZ
SRAaE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable JE AR 3R
Financial liabilities included in other payables BEREMENFEREAERA CSRAE
and accruals
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE
Convertible instruments AR T A
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z_=—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. BB B P& IR (&)
(Continued)
2018
—E-)N\F
Financial assets
TREE
Financial
assets at fair
Available-  value through
for-sale profit or
financial loss-held Loans and
assets for trading receivables Total
FERBEEN
NSRRI
AHEE CepEE 5k
EREE —HEER JE WK IE BEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT ABTRT ABTT BT

Available-for-sale investments AfHERE 2,500,680 - - 2,500,680
Accounts receivable e Lz BR 3R - - 546,305 546,305
Note receivable e - - 600,000 600,000
Factoring receivables FE W AR 32 SR IE - - 323,614 323,614
Loans receivable &Y B 5K - - 1,266,824 1,266,824
Finance lease receivables fEM R E R E IR - - 549,472 549,472
Financial assets included in prepayments, &35 FE R FIE 24 & H A
deposits and other receivables A FIEs S REE - - 58,848 58,848
Investments at fair value BRBEUATENERZ
through profit or loss "E - 408,497 - 408,497
Restricted bank deposits ZBRHRITER - - 190,899 190,899
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHES - - 1,302,157 1,302,157
2,500,680 408,497 4,838,119 7,747,296

Financial liabilities

TRAE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Ze@mARE
HK$'000
BETT

Accounts payable & BRX 97,220
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals BEREMENFEREFER SR EE 329,046
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 2,080,823
Convertible bonds AR ES 1,025,423

3,532,512
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value
Measurement”. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs,
that is, observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

The Group uses an independent valuer to perform valuations of
financial instruments which are categorised into Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. Valuation reports with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement are prepared by the independent
valuer and are reviewed and approved by the management.
Discussion of the valuation process and results with the
management is held to coincide with the reporting dates.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 2. EMTRAZAFERLAFEE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) W’ (=)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ATFEEBR(F)
Assets measured at fair value: BAFEFENEE:

Fair value measurement using

EAUNTREZAFETE

Quoted

prices  Significant  Significant

in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EE O BARIUBE EATATEE

mERE WA HE WA HIE
(%—18) (%=18) (%=18) R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BB T BETT BT T

As at 31 March 2019: R-E-AE=A=+—H:
Other financial assets HiepEE

Investments at fair value through ~ BEBBZUARAFETIRZKE
profit or loss

As at 31 March 2018: RZE-NF=ZA=1+—H:
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE 35,765 1,833,235 - 1,869,000
Investments at fair value through ~ BEBEFZAAFEIEZKE

profit or loss 408,497 - - 408,497

444,262 1,833,235 - 2,277,497
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair RZZB-NAFRZF-/\F=A E+j
value as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. B AEEYETMZEAFEFENS A
afFE-

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there were no transfers BE_T-NF=-A=+t—HLFE &
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and MEENRABNE -EEEF_E2HQT
no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and EFf8YEER TYEBAXELE=
liabilities (2018: Nil). B(ZZ—\F &)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
Unlisted equity investment is measured using valuation
techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the
markets in addition to unobservable inputs such as company
specific financial information.

The Group uses the key inputs of market comparable
companies, which include the valuation multiple and recent
transaction price, to determine the fair value of the unlisted
equity investment as at 31 March 2019. The unobservable
inputs are valuation multiple, marketability discount and
minority discount. Valuation multiple represents price-to-book
ratio. The higher the valuation multiple, the lower the
discounts for lack of marketability or minority, the higher the
fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in
the relevant unobservable data as the management considers
that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

The movements during the period in the balance of the Level 3
fair value measurement are as follows:

2. eMTAZLAFERLAFER

® ()
AFEBR (4)
E=EAVENEZER

I bR RN S LT RE RN E
B AR A TSRS AN S TR
TR BRI

AEBEEATSAIELRARN@REA
g (BRGHERBIENZS5ER)EE
FETRERER_TE-NF=ZA=+—
Azt E - TABEEEABBRAMGER
8 MR BIETTE R D B TE - (5 E
BRUEMRE - AEREES  RZT5R
BB ERE R FERR -

WEABBETAIBREBBRESINTERE
BREIMN RAREEERRZRARY
AEBEMELTEK-

E=EATHEIBEBZBARDOT

Unlisted equity investment ELMRERE 2019 2018

—E-NF —F-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 April MEA—H - -
Initial application of HKFRS 9 (note) BRIEREBY B R EEREFEIR

(FFaE) 670,969 -

Additions NE 600,000 -
Net unrealised gains or losses recognised in 4F 7 H fth & T 4 A #E 2R B K 238

other comprehensive income W sk B 18 %58
during the year 302,524 -
At 31 March R=H=+—H 1,573,493 -
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
(Continued)

Note:

Before adoption of HKFRS 9, the unlisted equity investment was
measured at cost less impairment losses. As permitted by HKFRS 9, the
Group has designated the investment at the date of initial application
as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. As a
result, the unlisted equity investment was reclassified from available-
for-sale financial assets to financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (non-recycling) with fair value of
HK$670,969,000 at 1 April 2018.

From 1 April 2018, any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of
the Group's unlisted equity investment held for strategic purposes are
recognised in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) in
other comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the equity investment,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is transferred
directly to retained profits. Prior to 1 April 2018, any gain or loss
arising from the disposal of the unlisted equity investments were
presented in profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at
cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their values as
at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

42ﬁmIEZ“$E ?EE

ﬁ\///t%f/
NFEEER (&)
F=EEBATLETFEZER (&)

GEE

FRNE B IS RS LA F R AT IE ETARIER
BRRANBREREBEFE - REBSUBHRE
HRIFFEAFA AEBER BXER A
ZREEEREREMEEBRANRFEEYER
FrECEL FLMRERECHAMLE SR
BESFOBEABEBREMEEEKANRFEED
RetEvemEE (TER) R=ZZT—/\FHO
A—HA®RFEAE%670,969,0007T

B-ZE-NFHA—- A BAREEFERR
REMELTRERESHAEEENEMK
B EE REMEERAPREEGRHE (T
B4 BB - SRR AR REMB2ERA
RAMEEEREARBEN - RZZ—N\F
MA—BA HEFELETREREEENEM
WaEBENERZ -

—NERZE-NF=ZA=+—H K
SERRAREEKAARN SR T ANKE
EREBETESEAER-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE-F—hWF=A=+—HIFFE

43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

At 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FWMA—H

Proceeds from issue of BRI T A 2B RIE
convertible instruments

Drawdown of borrowings RIUEE

Repayment of borrowings EHEEE

Total charges from financing cash ARNEEZE AR & h X H A%
flows for the year

Other changes: H b E) -

Finance costs A& KA

Interest paid R E

Classified as equity component DERERISD
Conversion option exercised FRITRHERE

during the year
Modification gain on convertible A2 (EH 2 (&7 W=

bonds
Exchange adjustment VE 5, o B
At 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=HA=+—H

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

43. B EHFRELEHARBIE

TRALAEEREZYFELENAES
B OERERFREEY -RMEITHME
ENEEEAEEGARERERTRS
REBESERAARAKRBECRELDER
BREEBMEEANR S RMAaE-

Interest-

Convertible bearing
instruments borrowings Total
@RI A AREEE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T BT T




43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% —

43@&33%&5%%&%

ﬂﬁﬁ%%?

A I EJE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued) (%)
Interest-
Convertible bearing
bonds borrowings Total
AIMRES HEEE k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT I BT T
At 1 April 2017 R-ZZE—+FMA—H - 932,000 932,000
Proceeds from issue of convertible Z¥7TA[# (&% 2 FT15 3R IE
bonds 1,215,760 - 1,215,760
Drawdown of borrowings REEE - 1,153,290 1,153,290
Repayment of borrowings EBEEE - (316,315) (316,315)
Total charges from financing cash AFEREHE LR E L H
flows for the year 4858 1,215,760 836,975 2,052,735
Other changes: H b &g -
Finance costs BE KA 124,207 - 124,207
Interest paid AR (24,445) - (24,445)
Classified as equity component DEAEERI S (283,439) - (283,439)
Conversion option exercised during 4 7T {8 &Y 2 #a 1
the year (6,660) - (6,660)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EE M B A7) - 294,290 294,290
Exchange adjustment TE 5 o2 - 17,558 17,558
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H 1,025,423 2,080,823 3,106,246
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B R R M &

For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z=-F—hF=H —HILFE

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION

(a)

Wins Finance and certain of its executive officers were
named as defendants in two civil securities lawsuits filed
in two U.S. District Courts (the “Lawsuit A” and the
“Lawsuit B”, collectively referred to as the “Lawsuits”) in
April 2017. Both Lawsuits were putative class action
lawsuits where plaintiffs’ counsels sought to represent the
entire class of shareholders who acquired Wins Finance's
securities between 29 October 2015 and 29 March 2017.
Both Lawsuits asserted the same statutory violations
under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act, alleged, in sum
and substance, that the defendants made false and
misleading statements, or failed to disclose material facts,
in Wins Finance's prospectuses, press releases, and filings
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC") in connection with its growth, business prospects
and the adequacy of its internal controls. The Lawsuits
also alleged that Wins Finance misrepresented the
location of its principal executive office in the SEC filings.
The Lawsuits further alleged that Wins Finance's stock
price fell when the alleged misstatements or omissions
became known to investors. The plaintiffs sought
unspecified monetary damages, including interest, costs
and attorney’s fees and other relief as the court deemed
just.

In July 2017, the plaintiff of Lawsuit A filed notice to the
U.S. District Court that Lawsuit A is voluntarily dismissed,
without prejudice and without costs to any party, and the
court subsequently terminate Lawsuit A. Accordingly, the
directors of Wins Finance considered no further
contingent liabilities would arise from Lawsuit A.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

44, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION
(Continued)

(a)

In June 2017, the court issued an order appointing lead
plaintiffs and lead counsel for Lawsuit B. In August 2017,
lead plaintiffs of Lawsuit B filed an amended class action
complaint. The amended complaint alleged claims against
Wins Finance for securities fraud purportedly arising from
alleged misrepresentations concerning its principal
executive offices (which alleged misrepresentations
resulted in Wins Finance being added to, and then
removed from, the Russell 2000 index). In October 2017,
Wins Finance moved to dismiss the amended complaint
for failure to state a claim as against it. In March 2018,
the court issued an order to deny Wins Finance’s motion
to dismiss. Thus, Lawsuit B will proceed to the fact
gathering stage. In June 2018, counsel for the parties
appeared before the court for an initial scheduling
conference and the court entered an appropriate schedule
for discovery and additional motions. In July 2018, the
plaintiffs filed with the court proof of summons and
amended complaint against certain individual defendants
and in August 2018, such individual defendants moved to
dismiss the amended complaint for failure to state a claim
as against them. In September 2018, the lead plaintiffs
filed a motion seeking class certification. In that motion,
the lead plaintiffs have not specified the amount of
alleged class-wide damages, nor have they provided any
methodology for the calculation of the same. Wins
Finance's opposition to that motion was due in December
2018. In October 2018, the court entered an order
dismissing the action against an individual defendant
without prejudice, for the lead plaintiffs’ failure to timely
serve such individual defendant with the summons and
amended complaint.

As a result of a private mediation conducted in November
2018, Wins Finance has agreed in principle to settle the
class action, on behalf of all remaining defendant parties.
The Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement
by order entered in March 2019, and has scheduled a
final settlement approval hearing in November 2019.

The first hearing of the Petition is scheduled to be heard
on 10 July 2019. At this stage, there is no information to
suggest and hence may be premature for the Group to
predict the outcome of this hearing as well as the
potential loss (if any) that may be caused.
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B R R M &

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. KRB EHEEEHBEEK

226

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing borrowings, convertible instruments and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as finance lease
receivables, accounts receivable, loans receivable, factoring
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, investments at fair value through profit
or loss, other financial assets, accounts payable and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, which mainly
arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk
and currency risk. Management reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group exposes to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to its interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly bank
deposits primarily at floating interest rates which are
mostly short-term in nature whereas financial liabilities
are certain other borrowings at floating interest rates. The
Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rate available.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to loans receivable, factoring receivables, certain
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible instruments.
Management considers the Group's exposure to fair value
interest rate risk is not significant due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
and bank balances, finance lease receivables and interest-
bearing borrowings.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. HEREEERIEREE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued) (a) FxEK (&)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEEL
The following table details the interest rate profile TRAMBEPREEREE
of the Group's assets and liabilities at the end of the LBEOFEBRL:

reporting period:

2019 2018
—EBE-hEF —ZE—\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fixed interest rate [& & R Z&
Financial assets TREE
Loans receivable JE U B 3R 1,266,824
Factoring receivables JFE U (R FE FR IR 323,614
Note receivable JE U =R 600,000
2,190,438
Financial liabilities ERBE
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 1,830,823
Convertible instruments A T A 1,025,423
2,856,246
Net fixed interest rate financial BlTHEEp T EFE
instruments (665,808)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—hWF=H=+—HIFFE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate profile (Continued)

(a) R=EmEk (&)

(i)

Variable interest rate
Financial assets
Finance lease receivables
(non-current portion)
Finance lease receivables
(current portion)
Cash at bank
Restricted bank deposits

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings

Net variable interest rate financial

instruments

Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage EEFMEREE(HAEENE S L

of total borrowings

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

AR R
e B & T E IR
(FERDEIRE Y )
FE Y & TH & 3R
(BDEREE )
RITRE
X IR HISRITIF R

SWAME
s
TEFELBIAFE

P EER (&)

2019
—2-nE
HK$'000
BT

45. R EEAERBEE &)

2018

—E-N\F

HK$'000
AT

247,763

301,709
1,302,157
190,899
2,042,528

250,000

1,792,528

88%
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. HERBETHEAEREER &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued) (a) FxEK (&)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BEESN
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from AEENMNERBREZRBE
interest-bearing borrowings. Interest-bearing BEE -FEEESAKERART
borrowings with variable rates expose the Group to Re =R -

cash flow interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRIVTAEERB AR R
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all (B8 (EXEBEZRE
other variables held constant, of the Group's profit/ T ) BAREE 2 R R 2T
(loss) before tax (through the impact on floating BEAIEEE T HRE  EPER
rate interest-bearing borrowings) and the Group's FTE H A BB i N8 o
equity.
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
g,/ MRELATE 18 G,
CRA)  mD (i) ORA) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2019 -
Hong Kong dollar ok
Hong Kong dollar e
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
=2hgm B 54 A 4 A Rz,
() wmd (&) OB *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2018 —T-N\F
Hong Kong dollar ok 25 625 -
Hong Kong dollar ok (25) (625) -
* Excluding retained profits/accumulated losses * TEERBHEFBiEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The
directors consider the Group's exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk of bank deposits is not significant.

Credit risk

The Group’s major exposure to credit risk relates to
accounts receivable, loans receivable, finance lease
receivables, factoring receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and cash
and bank balances from default of the counterparties,
with @ maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts
of these instruments.

The Group's accounts receivable, loans receivable, finance
lease receivables and factoring receivables (“loan
business”) arise from the ordinary course of business of
the Group and are closely monitored by the management
on an ongoing basis.

(i) Credit risk arising from loan business

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group manages
credit risk at every stage of the risk management
system, including pre-approval, review and credit
approval and post-transaction monitoring processes.
The Group conducts customer acceptance and due
diligence by business department and risk
management department during the pre-approval
process. A transaction may be subject to the review
and approval officer and the executive directors
depending on the transaction size.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Credit risk arising from loan business (Continued)

During the post-transaction monitoring process, the
Group performs credit evaluations on each and
every major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 (2018: incurred loss model) on loan
business individually or based on provision matrix. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers.

At the end of reporting period, 49%, 79%, 78%
and 60% (2018: 52%, 63%, 56% and 70%) of the
total accounts receivable, loans receivable, finance
lease receivables and factoring receivables were due
from the Group’s five largest debtors respectively
while 11%, 32%, 45% and 15% (2018: 13%,
17%, 18% and 19%) respectively were due from
the Group's largest debtor.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from loan business are
disclosed in notes 18, 20, 21 and 22 respectively, to
these financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEME

NT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)
(ii)

45 MERBEEEAFERBEE )

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

Credit risk (Continued) (b) = Eﬂf‘ﬁ (#&)
Credlit risk arising from guarantee business (i) EREBHEFNEERRE
The Group adopts the same pre-approval, review REEREREBELENGEE
and credit approval risk management system for EN7ET Wﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁgﬁt EER
credit risk arising from guarantee business. During FEEMERREERG X514
the post-transaction monitoring process, all ERBFP - REHAERNA
guarantees provided are backed by collateral (e.g. Hifm (- F)EERX
property, etc.) as security. The Group focuses on o AEBE TN ETIRERN
ascertaining legal ownership and the valuation of BIEEARENEE - AEERM
the collateral. A guarantee provided by the Group is WERERNEFROEE —8K
based on the value of the collateral and generally BEFLEETEENIT% (=
approximates 37% (2018: 44%) of the estimated T—\F:44% ) o NEE R E
value of the collateral. The Group monitors the e Z R B BE R K 1R mm 9 (B
value of the collateral throughout the guarantee Eo
period.
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 HE-_FT - NF-HA=-1+—H
March 2019 I FEERBESG B RE AL
FoE ZBIE
An analysis of changes in the provision for BEEBEERE2EZH DTN
impairment loss is as follows: N
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIPEER H2REER E3IMEER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT AT AB¥EFrT ABTrx
As at 31 March 2018 RZZE-NF=H
under HKAS 39 =t— EME%F
FR G ERIE395 5,464 - - 5,464
Adjustment upon & E/ﬁﬂﬁ%#&m—’iﬂll
application of HKFRS 9 FOTRIE R AR - - - -
As at 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FMHA—H 5,464 - - 5,464
Other remeasurement of ~ EIBEHMHEMEH
loss allowance FrE (2,580) - - (2,580)
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZT—NF
=A=+—H 2,884 - - 2,884
ECL rate BHEEEEEX 1% N/A N/A 1%
38 A TiE A
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45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)
(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk arising from guarantee business
(Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in note 38.

Other credit risk

In respect of other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all debtors requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the debtor’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
debtors as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. Further
quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from other receivables
are set out in note 19.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances and
restricted bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks and other financial
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Impairment assessment

Accounts receivable from margin clients

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk of accounts
receivable from margin clients based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on LTV unless
other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31
March 2019. The amounts presented are carrying
amounts for accounts receivable from margin
clients.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z L —NF=H=+1—HIF)E

45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)

(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued)

Accounts receivable from margin clients (Continued)

FERRE

45 MERBEEEAFERBEE )

D)
(A& )

(iv) JREFF (&)

R FREFER (&)

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
FEHIEE
EiE GEIEBHEEESE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
EIREER E2MEER E3MEER HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BETT B¥TIT  BETR
Margin clients FREP
— LTV at 80% or above* —EFHEEELEA
80% 3k A £ * 4,814 - - 4,814
- LTV between 70% —EREBELER
and 79% 70% £79% 515 - - 515
— LTV between 60% —EREEBELERA
and 69% 60%£69% 150 - - 150
— LTV less than 60% —EREEELEER
60% 20,374 - - 20,374
25,853 - - 25,853
* The directors of the Company considered all * AAFEECERETAE

available material information without undue cost or
effort and determined these exposures to be
classified as stage 1.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% —

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. MRS EHE Etaﬁin‘ti%
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) &R (&)
(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued|) (iv) JHEFFL (&)
Other financial assets, which are subject to ECL HitveogEE (BETEBEE
assessment E 18T {E)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REBEBRNEEERR D KT
comprises the following categories: BIEA TR

Accounts receivable and

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating  Description finance lease receivables other items
JE W5 B R % e W i B
MEB1E MR AR ot MHERIEA HthemEE HMIER
Low risk The counterparty has a Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
low risk of default and — not credit impaired
does not have any past
due amounts
15 2 Bz HFHFHRAORRK FEHAHEHREEESE 12@AEHEEEE
B I A fa) e HA 5R0R —EEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays  Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
after due dates but — not credit impaired
usually settles after due
date
BRRE BERAKERIHERE FEPHREHEESEE 12EARBEERE
FOE-—RRIEEBBERE —BEERE
18
Doubtful There have been Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
significant increases in — not credit impaired - not credit impaired
credit risk since initial
recognition through
information developed
internally or external
resources
AR BEBANIAEERNSIN FERREHREEEE FEPBHEBBEEEE
BERNTHERUAK 5 —BEERE —EEERE

EIEL RPN il
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45.

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued)

Other financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment (Continued)

MERBREEBEEFEEBEK 2

(b) FERM (&)

(iv) JREFF (&)

Hiv SR EE

(BETHEBEE
EiERFE) (&)

Accounts receivable and Other financial assets/
Internal credit rating  Description finance lease receivables other items

& s B R I e Mt B

W ER = AR AR i HEFIE Hth & g&EE " HMmER
Loss There is evidence Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
indicating the asset is — credit impaired — credit impaired
credit impaired
&8 EREBERPEECEER CEEMEREEDE GGEUHBHERESE
(=] -BEERE -BEERE
Write-off There is evidence Amount is written off Amount is written off

indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect
of recovery

1 55 BEBRAGBHARRE KIEDMH IR 8

EMBRE BAREEL
BEE A AL E 5R0R
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 =F—F +—HIFFE
45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. R EH Etaiﬁin'&%
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) &R (&)
(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued) (iv) JREEF1E (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFAMIRAEEEETIE
the Group's financial assets and financial guarantee ﬁﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬁ’]%ﬁﬂé?&
contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment: BEERGANEERER
Gross
External Internal carrying
credit credit 12-month or  amounts
2019 Notes rating rating lifetime ECL HK$'000
FhEB AE 1A RFEMSE  RKREE
—E-hF M =E FEAFAHR FERFR FEEEERE BYTrx
Financial assets at
amortised cost
REBEANIRZERMERE
Finance lease receivables 18 N/A note 1 Lifetime ECL 955,272
FEW R E M EKIE AN iE A B 51 GEAMESREE
Eia
Accounts receivable —
margin clients 20 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 25,983
ERESR-—FHEEP N iE A KRR 12E ABEEEEE
Lifetime ECL-
20 N/A Loss credit impaired 157,701
i A E1E GEAMEREER
&8
—B2EERE
Accounts receivable — clearing
houses, insurance brokerage,
futures brokerage and
ﬂnandalguarantee 20 N/A note 1 Lifetime ECL 48,056
FEW IR — & EFT - Rig e i A B 51 GEHMBEHREER
e k& ER &8
Loans receivable 21 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 108,015
JE W& 3R T8 A KRR 128 BHEEEE
Lifetime ECL-
21 N/A Doubtful not credit impaired 222,091
i A PN GEHMBEHREER
&8
—EEERE
Lifetime ECL-
21 N/A Loss credit impaired 1,811,509
NEA 8 GEAMEREER
E18
—-BEERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

Zl £

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

45 MERBEEEAFERBEE )

(b)

EERME (&)

(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued) (iv) JB1EFFE (&)
Gross
External Internal carrying
credit credit 12-month or  amounts
2019 Notes rating rating lifetime ECL ~ HK$'000
ShEp A =B NREASFEHRE HLEREE
—2-nf i EARR SRR BMEEER AMTR
Factoring receivables 22 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 310,075
JE Y AR IR 3R IR i A KR 12ME A EEEEEE
Other receivables 19 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 120,561
H fth & UL FRIE i A KRR 1288 BEHBEEEE
Restricted bank deposits 25 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 157,312
PR I ERTTF 5K AA+ TEA 12 ABEEEEE
Cash and bank balances 26 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 222,143
Re RIRITHEER AA+ TERA 12BRBEBEEEE
Financial guarantee contracts
38 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 296,054
BMEERELD (MF2) NE A KRR 12@A8BEHEERBIE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — —HIFF)E

45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

45%%&?”&5%@&% &)

Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERMRE (4
(iv)  Impairment assessment (Continued) (iv)  JR1EFFE (
Notes: P 5T

1. For accounts receivable (excluding accounts 1. BERER(TEeIEREIKAT
receivable from margin clients) and finance lease IE%\JEEE KO REKRERE
receivables, the Group has applied the simplified HEMES  AEEREAEE
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance BT S AE R 95k R YRS (b
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant AR ETERMEEREEES
outstanding balances or credit impaired, the Group B EBREE - BRBEERRK
determines the expected credit losses on these items Bl B EERENES
by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due ASN RNEE F AR EE -
status. (RBEBRANE)EEZE

HE®OEHREERE-
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the ERAEEEERREREN
Group uses debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment — & - AR E G R ESRER
for its customers in relation to its insurance ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁd‘ﬁﬁwiﬂ HRE &
brokerage, futures brokerage, financial guarantee CHEERRBERS %i‘“

and finance lease operations because these E’J%}Enﬂﬁﬂfﬁ RERZ
customers consist of a large number of small EPBEREN }E'Efﬁ_/ﬁ\
customers with common risk characteristics that are FERREERER (EREEP
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all ?ﬁﬂﬂ # 15 Aﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
amounts due in accordance with the contractual HIEREEN) - TRIEBHERZ
terms. The following table provides information E-hF=ZR=+—AFE
about the exposure to credit risk for accounts MEEREEER (ERFE
receivable and finance lease receivables which are B ) R E R BE BT (4 8y
assessed based on provision matrix as at 31 March JRE 5 B R B JE et B T B R
2019 within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired). EMEERBHER - AFE
Debtors with significant outstanding balances or AR E S BEERE

credit impaired were assessed individually. 15 7% A8 BT A o

Finance
Average Accounts lease
loss rate receivable  receivables
Gross carrying amount EWEE
BEREE FigEEE FE U BR X HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current (not past due) BVER (AR H7) 0.5% 47,857 848,916
1-30 days past due #HA1-30H 1% - 1,050
31-60 days past due #1H331-60H 3% - -
61-90 days past due #H161-90H 5% 189 -
More than 90 days past due i HAER #90 H 83% 10 105,306
48,056 955,272

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

{1 1855 T B0 75 0 AT
FHNERBRIMEOE
ikt A RBBBE AR
7 B T2 15 80 A1 1 5 4
A -

RBREMMRERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—hWF=H=+—HIFFE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. MERIEEEEEHEE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERR (&)
(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued) (iv) JREFF (&)

Notes: (Continued) BisE: (48)

2. For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying 2. ’%E‘f;ﬁjﬂ%ﬁé\'ﬁ"’gﬁ%\' R
amount represents the maximum amount the Group E*E'f%m%% & RER
has guaranteed under the respective contracts. MERE®R-

(c) Liquidity risk (0 RBELEAR
The Group’s liquidity risk is minimal in the current year KEBRFAZRDESRREK
and is managed by matching the raising of loans or WiRBERIRARE ENERRE S
equity funding to cover expected cash demands. The BRMBER -AEEBCBERTHE
Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and RMBREMRSESHT R REREA
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with B2 NEREFEHR S HE
lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient ENEHERRBAzRBEST R

reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the REHR ¢REBEIKREOKRE
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual N B HEROT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2019 Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ZE-NF ARARERRERE
Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years  five years Total at 31 March
jiS
A =A=+-H
BRER —21%F RENME B NEREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BETr  B®TR  BBTR  BETR  B%TR

Non-derivative financial FTEERER:
liabilities:
Accounts payable JE 1 R 5%

Financial liabilities included in B3 1 E th JE < 2008 Jo B =1

other payables and accruals BRzEMARE
Convertible instruments BRI A
Interest-bearing borrowings B &

Financial guarantees issued: EEHBEER:
Maximum amount guaranteed ~FM T & BEENEEER
arising from: kA k
- Loan guarantee business* -ERERER
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &2 —=F—/1F =) —H I FEJE

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. MRS EHE Etaiﬁil'&% ()
AND POLICIES (continued)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued) () REBELRER (&)
2018 Contractual undiscounted cash flow
“E-N\F ANABRERCRE
Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years five years Total  at 31 March
—FERF =A=+—-H
REX —E0f AENUE @ #EREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ABTL  AETT BBTR BRI ABTR

Non-derivative financial FiTEeBAE:
liabilities:
Accounts payable JERTBR R 97,220 - - 97,220 97,220
Financial liabilities included in B HE R £ fth & 4 8 |2
other payables and accruals EFBERz2RERE 329,046 - - 329,046 329,046
Convertible bonds AR ES 55,166 1,233,388 - 1288554 1,025,423
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 750,037 1,508,525 - 2,258,562 2,080,823
1,231,469 2,741,913 - 3,973,382 3,532,512
Financial guarantees issued: CEHBEER:
Maximum amount guaranteed B A TS IEE £ &)
arising from: BRERSE:
- Loan guarantee business* -ERERER 546,419 - - 546,419 5,464
* The maximum amount guaranteed represents the total * BEEREEEMEREPEARD
amount of liability should all customers default. Since a BEHTE AREL 8RR
significant portion of guarantees issued is expected to TERRIE W - TEHERER Btk
expire without being called upon the maximum liabilities SEETRBEBARFBERL -

do not represent expected future cash outflows.
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B R R M &

For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z=-F—hF=H —HILFE

45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(d)

45. BERRERERREER &)

Equity price risk (d) BEEEKRR
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity S e (B 48 L e 46 BB S AR M 48 BUK T 2
and investment fund decrease as a result of changes in EREAFEEESH SRR AR ER
the levels of equity indices and the value of individual BRTERD ZERE - REE 2 RE
securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk {EWH =R ERI SN
arising from individual equity investment. The Group's 2 LTI B AT AT BT A RS R
listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange and RAMSHREFE - EERHEHFN
are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the RTETER B B EERER B HME LA
reporting period. Decisions to buy or sell trading MITEBEENRRAAEERHES
securities are based on daily monitoring of the ZEH -
performance of individual securities compared with the
relevant industry indicators, as well as the Group’s
liquidity needs.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the TRINRA G B E 0 s AR
Group's results to every 5% change in the fair values of XERNARBRERERNTEGED
the equity investments to which the Group has significant 5% BRRE - ERREMAHME
exposure at the end of the reporting period, with all %&Z’H—#T\Z IR &1 M AR A B 7% 2
other variables held constant and before any impact on CBRADHNME HWEATFEER
tax. For the purpose of this analysis, for certain other ﬁﬁﬁi@ﬂ&)\ﬂ RETEME THMS
financial assets measured at fair value through other MEEZZEWRASEREBNFHE
comprehensive income, the impact was deemed to be on (PEW) 28 WET KA ETE
the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) and no meEBmk AR
account was given for factors which might impact the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Carrying Change in
amount of profit/loss Change
investments before tax in equity*
BRBLRTR R
REREE EiEEE ERgE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
2019 —E-AEF
Other financial assets Hth 2 EE 29,454 - 1,473
Investments at fair value through #EiBEzm U A FE
profit or loss PR ZIRE 23,531 1,177 -
2018 —T-N\F
Available-for-sale financial assets f LEERMEE 35,765 - 1,788
Investments at fair value through & BB A A F(E
profit or loss TR 2R E 408,497 20,425 -
* Excluding retained profits/accumulated losses * TEERE R REEE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z =% — HIFFJE

45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Currency risk

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2019, the Group is exposed to currency risk,
primarily with respect to interest-bearing borrowings with
aggregate principal amount of US$166,173,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,295,443,000) (2018:
UsS$190,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,485,291,000)) and the First Convertible Bonds with
outstanding principal amount of US$99,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$772,200,000) (2018:
US$99,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$772,200,000)) which are denominated in US$. As
HK$ is pegged to US$, the foreign exchange risk
exposures are considered limited. The Group did not have
any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

=

45%&&?”35%@&%

(e)

(f)

B E R

AREBE W EINELP R - AT &
BEERINERR XHEETER
ZREHERINERR

—hF=ZA=Z=+—8 K&H
mEEEERR  EBHEKAETFE
N4 4 %8 /3166,173,000FE 7T (&
R4 78 #1,295,443,000T) (=&
— J\4E : 190,000,000 7T (HHE ALY
75 #51,485,291,0007T) ) Z 5T BB
B UARNETHEZAEERASS
£99,000,000% 7T (A& R KB K&
772,200,0000) (=& — [\ F:
99,000,000k 7T (A& K # B
772,200,0007T) )z B H#t A | E
Fom MBI EETLEN  INERK
WA BB R - AN B I & T A AR E
RS R T A

EXERE
AEEEAEEZTEZRBERRER
SEZBBRERNNERRITZE
AT UXFHHEEB R RRRGE
mAEE

RBEMBRERERAA 243



244

Notes to the Financial Statements

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for certain subsidiaries engaged in
the securities and futures broking businesses and the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, which are
regulated entities under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and a subsidiary, which
is registered under the Hong Kong Insurance Companies
Ordinance (the “ICQ"), are required to comply with the
respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC and
the 1CO. During the financial year, all the licensed
subsidiaries complied with the minimum capital
requirements of the SFC and the ICO respectively. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2019 and 2018.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible instruments
divided by the equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

45. ¥R EE R RBREE o)

(f)

EXRERE (&)
AEBARKERR BIERBHEE
EZRBRFEEEEENGEBALIED
HE - RERIFEERER A&
BAlRERA BRI TR ZBE - M
RIREBRA KBTI - BRIt ER
FRBER L EHRRECERER
RIRB2ETHEBAR (BAXEE
ERMHEEGEREREe ([
EDREZER) UL—FBRES
BRI A ED (TR 2 BRG]
AfMzHBAR ANAREES MR
B R ARG 2 &IREARRES A
B SRR INERIE N BEANIRE ©
KA BEER  FIAFFEWNE QR
ENRIETEEE KRR QRGN
REERRE-RBE_T-LEFR
—E-N\F=ZR=+—RHIEFERN"

KRR -

AEERAERELEEEER R
e RZEt BEE R AR T ARIAR
REEE AR GRS E - RREH
R AEBEZEELEET:

2019 2018

—E-REF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 1,398,756 2,080,823

Convertible instruments AR T A 1,347,922 1,025,423

Net debt (ER e 2,746,678 3,106,246
Equity attributable to owners of the PAN/NSIE RS NS

Company 2,456,710 4,303,741

Gearing ratio BELE 111.8% 72.2%

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

46. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 46. Bt I ERSMAR
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The following tables represent details of financial instruments
subject to offsetting:

TRENATHEEZEMTAFE:

2019
ZE-NE
Gross Net
amountsof  amounts of Related amounts
recognised financial not set off in the
financial assets  consolidated statement
liabilities presented of finandial position
Gross  set off in the in the ERRGRIERRER
amounts of  consolidated  consolidated fHzRBLH
recognised  statement of statement Cash
finandial financial  of finandial Finandial collateral
Asset Bz assets position position instruments pledged Total
RESHBRR RESHERR
BEASR HREBCCR  BREZ BER
EEBE DCRERELE SREZESE $RIE  REEMM 78
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BB BB BB BB
Gross Net
amountsof  amounts of Related amounts
recognised financial not set off in the
finandial liabilities consolidated statement
assets presented of financial position
Gross  set off in the in the ERRGRIBRRER
amounts of  consolidated  consolidated fHzRBLE
recognised  statement of statement Cash
finandial financial  of finandial Finandial collateral
Liability 2f liabilities position position instruments pledged Total
RESHBRR RESHERR
BEASR HREBCCR  BREZ EER
BELT ALHEELE SHEERE $RIE  REEAY 8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BB BB BB BB
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 =—F—NF=H=+—HIFFE

46. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

46. B M I EREMER »)

2018
Z5-\E
Gross Net
amountsof ~ amounts of Related amounts
recognised financial not set off n the
financial ascets consolidated statement
liabilites presented of financial position
Gross  setoff in the nte  TEREREBRRER
amounts of  consolidated  consolidated B R
recognised  statement of statement Cash
financial financial of financial Financial collateral
Asset BE assets position position instruments pledged Total
ReEaMBl RERHHBRR
BEASR AREE/ER  BREIL BER
BEGE NoRAERE REAERE SREIE  ReEAY e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Accounts receivable W 546,305 - 546,305 - - 546,305
Gross Net
amountsof ~ amounts of Related amounts
recognised financial not set off n the
financial liabilities consolidated statement
assels presented of financial position
Gross  setoffin the nte  LRREAHBRAER
amounts of  consolidated  consolidated B AR
recognised  statement of statement Cash
financial financial of financial Financial collateral
Liability g liabilties position position instruments pledged Total
ReEaBl RERHBRR
BEASR AREH/ER  BREIL BER
BREE AeRERLE SRAERE SRIE  ReEAM e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Accounts payable ERTER 97,220 - 97,220 - - 97,20

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—NF=H=+—HIFFE
47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 47. F AFIM B A B E
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RMERRBERR AT BRAREZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2019 2018
—ZET-hEF —ET—-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZEE -
Prepayments TE RIAE -
Total non-current assets ETBEEMRE -
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTFRIE - =& & H e W R IE 2,442
Note receivable B E® 600,000
Due from subsidiaries NG S 5,038,260
Cash and bank balances e RiR1THER 798,055
Total current assets REBEERE 6,438,757
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBERE
Other payables and accruals HtENRIBRIEER 10,771
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 456,987
Convertible instruments AlMlR T A -
Total current liabilities RBEERE 467,758
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 5,970,999
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRRBES 5,970,999
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 1,358,303
Convertible instruments AR T A 1,025,423
Total non-current liabilities FERBEERE 2,383,726
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,587,273
EQUITY B
Issued capital BEITRA 15,663
Reserves e 3,571,610
Total equity EwmiE 3,587,273
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of KARRIESEERN _ZE—NFSAZTAN
the Company on 28 June 2019 and were signed on its behalf B RZETE WEATALTRER
by: NEEEEEE:
Ye Ye Wong Xiang Hong
I 2> N
Director Director
Ea 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—hWF=H=+—HIFFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

47. X LFIMBRAEE 2)

B

EX

ARAREEBALT

Convertible
Share Capital instruments
premium  redemption  Contributed equity Distributable Shareholder's  Share option Warrant  Accumulated
account reserve - surplust reserve reserve contribution** reserve reserve losses Total
TRKRIA ARER
REEEE EAEERE  HAR%  EREE THOREE RRLE- BRERS R EiER 4%
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
AT AMTn BETn RBTn A%Tr EETrn BMTn BETn BgTr B%Tr
1 April 2017 Z3-+EMA-A 2,222,353 485 39,521 - 874,114 15,000 23,082 20,648 (214467) 2,980,736
Issue of convertible bonds HITaRES - - -84 - - - - -4
Lapse of warrants DRERER - - - - - - - (6,883) 6,883 -
Issue of shares upon exercise MIFAREERETRE
of warrants 538,232 - - - - - - (13,765) - 524,467
Shares repurchased and cancelled BB ki B 7 (26,359) - - - - - - - - (26,359)
Issue of shares upon comversion of  HERT AREAEZIRNA
convertiole bonds 8,484 - - (1.842) - - - - - 6,642
Share issue expenses RETER (15,775) - - - - - - - - (15,775)
Loss and total comprehensiveloss ~ AEEEER2EERLEE
for the year - - - - - - - - (1815400 (181,540)

At31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 H=F—/\E=A=1-B}
Z3-)\fRA-R

Issue of convertible notes BURREE

Issue of equity-settled share options 1T M B EERRE

Issue of shares upon conversion of ~ RERTAREFRETRG

convertible bonds

Loss and total comprehensive loss  AEEEBR2AEREE
for the year

At 31 March 2019 RZE-NEZE=1-A

* Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the underlying net tangible assets value
of subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company

pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

**  Shareholder’s contribution

This reserve represented capital contribution from the
then shareholders upon the acquisition of subsidiaries in

prior years.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

* %

BARS

BABRBIEARRBTHRAEER
ARBR—NN_FREEESHK
BOMBARNMERELEEFELZ

BHERE -

ZHEBHEATFERENBRARRE
B RCRE) &



For the year ended 31 March 2019 &%

48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 23 April 2019, the Company received a notice of
event of default (the “First EOD Notice from the Lender”)
from Shinny Solar Limited (the “Lender”) regarding a
facility agreement dated 14 March 2017 (the "Facility
Agreement”) entered into between, inter alia, the
Company as the borrower and the Lender in relation to a
UsS$90,000,000 (equivalent to HK$705,978,000) term
loan facility (the “Facility”). Pursuant to the First EOD
Notice from the Lender, the Lender alleged, inter alia, (i) a
breach of change of control clause under the Facility
Agreement has occurred whereby Mr. Zhang ceased to
beneficially hold at least 20% of the issued voting share
capital of the Company; (ii) the cross-default event and
therefore constituted an event of default under the
Facility Agreement; and (iii) an event of default has
occurred whereby the consolidated total net debt
exceeded 60% of the consolidated tangible net worth of
the Company with reference to the Company’s most
recently published interim financial statements for the six
months ended 30 September 2018.

On 10 June 2019, the Company received a notice of event
of default and repayment (the “Second EOD Notice from
the Lender”) from the Lender regarding the Facility.
Pursuant to the Second EOD Notice from the Lender, the
Lender declared that all of the loan, together with
accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued or
outstanding under the Facility shall be immediately due
and payable.

As of the date of the Second EOD Notice from the Lender,
the outstanding amount payable in relation to the Facility
is US$91,640,000 (equivalent to HK$718,842,000),
including US$90,000,000 (equivalent to HK$705,978,000)
as principal and US$1,640,000 (equivalent to
HK$12,864,000) as accrued interest up to the date of the
Second EOD Notice from the Lender.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)

On 20 May 2019, taking into consideration the recent
financial situation of the Company, the Board adopted
the restructuring strategies (the "Restructuring
Strategies”) with a view to facilitating a settlement with
its creditors and promoting the growth and development
of the Group's businesses. The Restructuring Strategies
are subject to negotiations with the creditors of the
Company and other relevant stakeholders. As at the date
of this report, save for the MOU (as defined below), the
Company has not entered into any agreement or
arrangement with any party with respect to the
restructuring of the debts of the Company.

On 20 May 2019, the Company and an independent third
party (“Individual A") entered into a memorandum of
understanding (the "MOU"), pursuant to which, subject
to entering into a formal agreement, the Company will
allot and issue and Individual A and/or his designees will
subscribe for the subscription shares at a consideration of
not more than HK$300,000,000, subject to the terms and
conditions of the formal agreement (the “Possible
Subscription”). Upon completion of the Possible
Subscription, Individual A and/or his designees will hold
not more than 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the subscription shares. As at
the date of this report, the Company has not entered into
any formal agreement with Individual A in relation to the
Possible Subscription.

On 9 June 2019, the Company and another independent
third party (“Individual B") entered into an agreement
(the "Agreement”), pursuant to which, subject to the
fulfillment of certain conditions, the Company agreed to
allot and issue and Individual B agreed to subscribe
300,000,000 new shares of the Company at the
subscription Price of HK$0.145 per share of the Company
under general mandate (the “Subscription”). The
300,000,000 new shares of the Company represent
19.13% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of the Agreement and 16.06% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the subscription shares. As at the
date of this report, the conditions precedent set out in
the Agreement have not been fulfilled.

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group had no
other significant events after the reporting period.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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49. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 49. LE B F
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under REFEER_ZE—N\FNHA—HBEHXER
the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not BEEVBHRELEAER - BB ETFTBE
restated. Further details of the changes in accounting policies VE REYILLERE R c FRTHER E B —
are disclosed in note 2.2. R BRM 2 2% 55 -
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IFEMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEBFOABETBFECEEUREE  BF
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as  NMIFIFEREzE 2 B2 (FskE B IS E&XIE
extracted from the published audited financial statements and HERIWEEY " EFHE  SHF2H(RERM
restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below. E)EFIUR o

RESULTS KR
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+T—HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NF T )N\F ZE—+F —ZT—RF —ZT—HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BETx ABETT ABETT

REVENUE W &= (74,633) 500,469 108,285 (143,952) (14,976)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREAEF(BE) | (2,149,801) 324,384 408,195 (404,625) 462,387
Income tax credit/(expense) FTisgiE e (Fx) (3,394) (21,362) 10,013 27,159 (42,816)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEW&F (F#HE)  (2,153,195) 303,022 418,208 (377,466) 419,571

Attributable to: THA TR
Owners of the Company RARER A (2,160,250) 269,894 418,208  (620,996) 533,025
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A 7,055 33,128 - 243,530 (113,454)

(2,153,195) 303,022 418,208 (377,466) 419,571

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE - ARLURIEERKRESR
INTERESTS
As at 31 March
MR=B=+—8
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NF ZEZ-N\F ZFT—+tF ZT—RF ZT—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTT BETT BETT  BETFIT  ABEBT

TOTAL ASSETS BEMAA 6,079,314 8,591,122 4,435,749 3,333,902 5,429,365
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHEE (2,953,023) (3,579,767)  (969,987)  (268,988)  (368,289)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ZJE#% R #E 25 (669,581) (707,614) - - (1,606,550)

2,456,710 4,303,741 3,465,762 3,064,914 3,454,526

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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